
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Regulatory Board 
(Planning)

Members of the Regulatory Board (Planning) of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend, Kent on 
Wednesday, 24 July 2019 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is 
proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;



A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20190503 - Amenity Space, St Patrick's Gardens, Gravesend DA12 
4AN - report herewith

(Pages 11 - 42)

b) 20190252 - Land behind Tesco Express, Whitehill Parade, Whitehill 
Lane, Gravesend DA12 5LS - report herewith

(Pages 43 - 
106)

c) 20190451 - 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF - report 
herewith

(Pages 107 - 
124)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Housing & Regeneration) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Public

None

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Brian Sangha

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ


1

Regulatory Board (Planning)

Wednesday, 12 June 2019 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Burden
Brian Francis
Gary Harding
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Brian Sangha

Note: Councillor:  Sarah Gow was also in attendance

Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services (Medway Council)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Christopher Butler Planning Manager (Development Management)
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Peter Price Principal Planner
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

61. Apologies for absence 

No apologies for absence were received.

62. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

Further to the Declaration of Interest in relation to application 20190155 made at the meeting 
of the Board held on 22 May 2019 by Cllr John Burden, Cllr Burden drew attention to the fact 
that whilst he was the Leader of the Council and that this was an a Borough Council 
application, he had not spoken or voted upon the item and therefore the minute should be 
amended to reflect this error. 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 May 2019, as amended, were signed by the Chair.

63. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Bob Lane declared an other interest in application 20190169 - Cobham Lodge, Valley 
Drive in that the application was immediately adjacent his ward and he had submitted an 
objection to the application as a private individual before his election to the Borough Council. 
He therefore considered his view to be predetermined and he advised of his intention not to 
take part in the discussion or voting on this application. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Regulatory Board (Planning) 12.06.2019

2

Cllr Jordan Meade declared an other interest in application 20190169 - Cobham Lodge, 
Valley Drive in he knew the speaker speaking in objection to the application when they had 
both been governors on the school board for Thamesview Secondary School. 

Cllr John Burden declared a significant interest in application 20190265 – The Barn, East 
Court Farm, Church Lane, Chalk as the applicant was a personal friend and that he would 
leave the meeting during the discussion and voting on this application. 

64. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be considered in 
private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

None.

65. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

65.1 20190169 - Demolition of existing house and outbuildings and erection of a 
part four storey and part three storey building for the residential development 
of 20 no. one bedroom, 41 no. two bedroom and 3 no. three bedroom 
apartments with associated car parking - Cobham Lodge, Valley Drive - report 
herewith 

Cllr Bob Lane remained in the Council Chamber but took no part in the discussions or voting 
on this application.

The Board considered an application reference 20190169 which proposed the demolition of 
the existing house and all outbuildings on the site and the construction of a part four storey 
and part three storey building for the residential development of 20 one bedroom, 41 two 
bedroom and 3 three bedroom apartments and associated car parking. The Principal 
Planner (Major Sites) set out the significant objections to the application relating to the siting, 
size, bulk, massing, design, impact on the street scene, adverse impact on the amenity of 
surrounding properties and the poor amenity for future occupiers. In addition, the proposal 
was failing to provide affordable housing or any S.106 contributions. As such the officer’s 
report recommended that permission be refused and the report listed five grounds for refusal 
for Members’ consideration. The application was before the Board as it was a major 
development proposal.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Members noted that the reference to the overlooking of rear gardens at the rear, 
north side of the site was referring to a garden with no building within 5 metres of the 
boundary of the site which was in excess of the requirements of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy. However, residential gardens would be overlooked by the 
proposal including a four storey flank wall and Council policy required that amenity 
space be protected.

 The Board was advised that the apartments met the minimum size space standards. 
However, storage provision depended on the layout of the apartment. As the agent 
advised they wished the proposal to be considered as submitted negotiations had not 
taken place on the internal layout of the flats. 

 Concern was raised that the proposal failed to provide affordable housing or any 
S.106 contributions. The Board was advised that the applicants had considered the 

Page 4



Regulatory Board (Planning) 12.06.2019

3

profit margin to be too low to include affordable housing or S.106 contributions and to 
do so would render the development unviable. Members considered that there 
should be affordable housing provided, if not on this development, then on another 
within the Borough.

 The Principal Planner (Major Sites) advised that the applicant had refused to 
negotiate with regard to concerns raised by officers and had asked that the 
application be considered by the Regulatory Board (Planning) as submitted.

 Following a question about whether the development had been designed with 
numbers of units in mind or for the people that might live there, Members were 
advised that a balcony had been included on every unit as amenity space together 
with the inclusion of appropriate play spaces rather than open grass areas. It had 
been proven that appropriate play spaces were used more regularly than open grass 
spaces. Careful planting had also been designed to improve amenity spaces and 
green roofs and walls had also been included in the design.

 Members noted that the elevations of the buildings shown in the PowerPoint 
presentation appeared squashed and would, in reality, appear taller and more 
vertical.

 Members were advised by the agent that this development would set a precedent for 
the Borough as a consequence of the Government’s housing targets. This view was 
based on other available sites for development nearby including the lorry park and 
the Nell’s café site. The construction of the Lower Thames Crossing would create a 
market for these residential developments.

 The Board noted that the 20% profit from developments was used as aspirational 
guidance in London Boroughs and other neighbouring authorities. However this 
aspiration was subject to market price drops the causes of which might include Brexit 
or a rise in taxes or inflation.

 The vehicle access was considered to be an awkward right turn from a busy road. 
However, Members were advised that officers had raised concerns but had been 
informed that there would not be enough vehicles turning right into the development 
per hour to qualify for a right turning lane layout to be introduced.

 Comments were made on the bulk, massing and density of the development and the 
lack of sympathy with the surrounding locale which was described as a leafy suburb.

 The Board was advised that a mix of materials was suggested including red brick and 
white render which was similar to nearby residences. Green and brown roofs were 
proposed. The green roofs would be planted with sedum and the brown would be 
spread with soil, stones and small rocks to allow local species of plants and flowers 
to seed themselves. The water collected from the roofs would be used for irrigation of 
the roofs and the wall planting. The walls would be covered in a series of pockets 
forming a vertical sheet. Hadlow College had undertaken research into this type of 
planting and flowering plants and higher density foliage would be used. This type of 
planting was able to remove particulates from the air. It was confirmed that the 
planting would need bi-annual maintenance.

 It was noted that some aspects of the design, the green/brown roofs and walls would 
be a good idea for use by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation in the Garden City.

 Members were informed that the perimeter trees of the site would be retained and 
additional trees would be planted in the open spaces.

 A Ward Member highlighted residents’ concerns regarding the density of the 
development, the overlooking and loss of amenity, the proximity of the development 
to the road, the possible underestimation of the number of car owners that might 
reside in the development. It was considered that a smaller development would be 
more in keeping with the area.

Page 5



Regulatory Board (Planning) 12.06.2019

4

 Members were advised that Government guidelines stated that local authorities 
required a 5 year housing supply. As GBC does not have one concern was raised by 
Members that GBC would lose planning appeals for proposals of this nature and 
would therefore lose the ability to apply planning conditions or influence the design of 
this type of development in the future.

 The Board noted that the proposed development did not lie within an Air Quality 
Management Area.

Resolved:

(a) that application 20190169 be DEFERRED to enable negotiations with the 
applicant and/or the applicant’s agent to address the Board’s concerns in regard 
to all five grounds of refusal, as the Board considered a residential reuse of this 
site to be justifiable subject to revisions/amendments and additional information 
being agreed with officers and being formally submitted, with the instruction that 
the application be reported back to the Regulatory Board (Planning) on 4 
September 2019 for Members to consider the revisions/amendments and 
additional information submitted, at that time. The concerns of the Regulatory 
Board (Planning) included that the proposed development fails to make any 
provision for affordable housing, or any other developer contributions and as 
such the proposal is contrary to Policy CS10 and CS16 of the Borough Council's 
adopted Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) and National 
Planning Policy Framework; and

(b) that should the applicant and/or applicant’s agent decline to enter meaningful 
negotiations then the application be reported back to the Regulatory Board 
(Planning) on 4 September 2019 for Members to determine the application in line 
with the officer’s original recommendation. 

Note: (a) Mr Darren Bland (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Board.
(b) Mr David Gingell (an objector) addressed the Board.
(c) Cllr Sarah Gow spoke with the leave of the Chair.

65.2 20190265 - Removal of stable building and out building and replacement with 
an 8 bay domestic garage building with lift facility for the double stacking of 
vehicles at The Barn, East Court Farm, Church Lane, Gravesend - report 
herewith 

Cllr John Burden left the Council Chamber during discussion and voting on this application.

The Board considered an application reference 20190265 which sought the removal of the 
stable building and an outbuilding and the replacement with an 8 bay domestic garage 
building with lift facility for the double stacking of vehicles. The Principal Planner described 
the application in detail and showed photographs and plans of the site. Members were also 
apprised of previous changes to the layout of the site which was a former farmstead, 
including the conversion of a brick barn and stable building into a dwelling (The Coach 
House), the demolition of a Dutch barn to create a garden, the conversion of a threshing 
barn into two dwellings (The Barn and The Granary) and the conversion of a side barn/cart 
lodge into a further dwelling (Meadow Lodge). The officer noted that the previous 
conversions had been undertaken using sympathetic designs. The site also has a new 
access to serve the four dwellings on the site. Permitted Development Rights had been 
removed on the conversion of the farm buildings to dwellings. However, the proposed 

Page 6



Regulatory Board (Planning) 12.06.2019

5

garage was much bigger than the building it replaced and had a larger footprint than the 
dwelling it would serve although its design was similar to that of the dwellings. The proposed 
garaging would be used to house the applicant’s collection of cars which were currently 
stored around the site. The key issues were the whether the proposal was inappropriate 
development contrary to national policy set out in Section 13 (Protecting Green Belt Land) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Policy CS02 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy (September 2014), saved policy C13 (vii) of the Gravesham Local Plan 
First Review and emerging Policy DM6 – Extensions, Replacement Buildings and Ancillary 
Development in the Green belt on the Gravesham Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies DPD (Regulation 18, Stage 1, Part 2 consultation draft – April 2018.

The Board was advised that garages did not fall within the exceptions to inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt in the NPPF. However there was some flexibility in local 
policies and the proposal should be considered on its merits, be reasonably required, be well 
designed, should not be overbearing and should be subservient to the main building, and not 
cause harm to the openness of the Green Belt and there should be no other outbuildings 
that could be used. No objections had been received for neighbouring properties and no 
objections had been received on highways grounds.

The application had been referred for consideration at the request of Cllr Brian Sangha.

The following points were made during discussion on this application:

 Following a question on whether to building to be removed was of historic interest, 
the officer advised that the stable building would be removed together with a green 
shipping container and had only been on the site since 2006. The two mobile homes 
being used by construction staff would also be removed. None of these could be 
considered as curtilage listed buildings.

 The Board was informed that the height of the tree line situated on Eastcourt Manor 
(not the application site) and located to the rear of the proposed garaging was 
currently approximately 7 to 8 metres and the garaging roofline would be 6.9 metres. 
The tree line behind the proposed building would screen the garage building from the 
neighbouring Eastcourt Manor.

 The site was located in the Chalk Ward of the Borough and was not within the parish 
area of Shorne which was 400 metres to the east.

 The proposal fell within the defined curtilage of the site.
 It was noted that the new access was built in 2013 and now blended into its 

surroundings as the planting had grown in.
 A comment was made that the Conservation Officer should have addressed the 

possible historic nature of the building to be removed and those within the curtilage. 
 It was noted that there had been 4 garage spaces on site which in 2018 had been 

converted to residential properties and concern was expressed that this might 
happen again. The Board was advised that there was no intention for conversion into 
dwellings and the opinion was expressed that any permission should be strictly 
conditioned to prevent this from happening and that the limit for buildings within the 
curtilage of this site has been reached.

 It was considered that the proposal did not detract from the openness of the Green 
Belt. However, it was suggested that the meadow behind the dwellings should be 
protected and enhanced. 

 Officers advised the Board that Very Special Circumstances needed to be 
demonstrated if an exception was to be made to inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt. 

Page 7



Regulatory Board (Planning) 12.06.2019

6

Following the Officer presentation to Members, the Board considered the submitted 
planning application and all other material planning considerations and information 
available to them. Members judged that the Very Special Circumstances were as 
follows:

 That the proposal was within the residential curtilage of the property and did not 
encroach onto the Green Belt;

 That the design and external treatment of the proposal reflected the existing 
buildings on the site;

 There were no usable buildings on the site for vehicle storage including the 
original open sided shed;

 The design of the proposal was considered to be subservient to the dwelling it was 
related to; and

 The proposal had a limited impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

Therefore the Board considered that the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason 
of inappropriateness, and any other harm, was clearly outweighed by the Very 
Special Circumstances listed above. In the light of these considerations, Members 
resolved that application 20190265 be PERMITTED subject to the conditions 
regarding the implementation of development listing drawing numbers, a condition 
limiting the use of the building to garaging ancillary to the main dwelling and for no 
other purpose and the use of appropriate materials; together with the reasons for 
imposing such conditions and informatives that will be described in full in the decision 
notice issued by the Planning Department and available on the following link: 
www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning-search.

Note: Mr Philip Graham (Agent)(a supporter) addressed the Board.

66. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Housing & Regeneration) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Housing & Regeneration 
(under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

67. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is of 
the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

Mr Christopher Butler

It was noted that this was the last meeting of the Board that would be attended by Mr 
Christopher Butler – Planning Manager (Development Management) who would be leaving 
the Council to take up a post with the Planning Inspectorate. The Board thanked Mr Butler 
for all his hard work, help and excellent planning advice given throughout his time with the 
Council and wished him luck in his new role.

Mr Butler acknowledged the thanks of the Board.

Page 8

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning-search


Regulatory Board (Planning) 12.06.2019

7

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.16 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT
Application Ref: 20190503

Site Address: Amenity GreenSpace, St Patricks Gardens, Gravesend, Kent, 
DA12 4AN

Application 
Description:

Erection of one, four-storey flat block with ancillary spaces, 
associated car parking, landscaping and improvements to existing 
children's playground. The flat block will contain a total of 23 
affordable units including 7 no. x 1 bedroom rented flats and 16 no. 
x 2 bedroom rented flats.

Applicant: Mrs Sharon Donald, Gravesham Borough Council

Agent: Bptw Partnership

Ward: Singlewell

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision Due Date: 16th August 2019

Publicity Expiry Date: 5th July 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board – 24 July 2019

Reason for referral: Major development proposal and the Local Planning Authority is 
the applicant

Recommendation:

DELEGATED to the Assistant Director (Planning) and/or the 
Interim Planning Manager (Development Management) to grant 
Planning Permission, subject to:

A) Securing appropriate contributions in regard to requests 
from KCC 

B) The imposition of appropriate planning conditions as to be 
detailed in appendix 1.  

Summary of Reasons for Recommendation

This is a major planning application for 100% affordable housing consisting of 23 units (7 one 
bedroom units and 16 two bedroom units) which are served by 25 car parking spaces to the rear 
of the development. The building is 4 storeys in height and is considered to be in keeping with the 
character and appearance of the area.

No objections to this proposal have been received from consultees and the 4 letters of objection 
have been received from neighbouring properties  which have been carefully considered and 
none of the issues raised in the objection letters raise any issues which have not been already 
been considered during the planning application.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



The proposal will result in development on 46% of the amenity greenspace of St. Patrick’s 
Gardens but the improvements to the remaining 54% of the remaining amenity greenspace 
(planting, improved child’s play area and tree planting) offset the loss of part of the amenity 
greenspace including the loss of the mature trees.

Subject to the conditions set out in appendix1 (It should be noted the applicant has agreed all pre-
commencement conditions) the application should be delegated to the Assistant Director 
(Planning) and/or the Interim Planning Manager (Development Management) for permission 
subject to the unilateral agreement being signed for KCC developer contributions. 

1. Proposal 

1.1 The proposal is to construct a four storey building on part of the amenity Greenspace 
which serves the existing development known as St. Patrick’s Gardens. The proposed 
development will provide 23 affordable units consisting of 7 one bedroom rented unit and 
16 two bedroom rented units.

1.2 In order to facilitate this development 6 mature trees at the western edge of the site will 
be lost and the applicant is seeking to address the loss of these trees through the 
planting of semi-mature trees on the remainder of the existing amenity Greenspace.

1.3 With the topography of the site increasing in height from east to west a retaining wall is 
proposed with a set of steps in the middle to provide access from the car park to the 
amenity greenspace.

1.4 A total of 25 car parking spaces are proposed for the development which equates to 1 
space per unit with 2 visitor spaces. At the eastern end of the site an additional 10 spaces 
are proposed which will provide additional parking for the wider residents of the area.

1.5 The proposal also seeks up upgrade an existing refuse storage area which serves the 
existing residents of St. Patrick’s Gardens.

1.6 Overall layout of the scheme is a building measuring 15.48m deep with a width of 39.5m 
with a slab to ridge height of 15.7m with the accommodation spread out over 4 floors. The 
building has a hipped roof and uses a brick finish. At ground level within the building a 
communal bin store and cycle store will be provided. Access to the building is either from 
Valley Drive frontage or from the rear car park.

1.7 In order to address the reduction of the amenity greenspace within the locality and 
enhance its value in terms of its present primary purpose, the proposed development 
includes the relocation and enhancement of the existing play area and planting of 
additional trees/shrubs etc. Currently the amenity greenspace just contains dated play 
equipment and grass.

1.8 The overall schedule of accommodation for the proposed development is as follows:
 1 Bedroom 2 person units – 7
 2 bedroom 4 person units - 16 

2. Relevant Planning History

2.1 Since the construction of the bedsit flats in the 1950’s there is no relevant planning 
history. 

Page 12



3. Planning Policies

Development Plan

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
• CS01 – Sustainable Development
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
• CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure
• CS11 – Transport
• CS12 - Green Infrastructure
• CS13 – Green Space, Sport and Recreation
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size
• CS15 - Housing Density
• CS16 - Affordable Housing
• CS18 - Climate Change
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network
• T5 – New Access onto Highway Network

Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
• Section 4 – Decision-making
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
• Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities 
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015; and
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards.

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Consultees 

Internal 

Leisure Services 
The main issue from a leisure perspective relates to the actual loss of amenity 
greenspace. Paragraph 97 of the NPPF states that existing open space, sports and 
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

Page 13



a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or, 

b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

The 2016 Open Space Assessment, undertaken by consultants Knight, Kavanagh & 
Page (KKP), does not highlight that the site or part of the site is surplus to requirements.  
Although St Patrick Gardens as an amenity grassed area is labelled as low quality (due 
to the quality of amenities and actual topography) it was noted as having some value to 
the local area. These types of sites can still recognised as providing some visual amenity 
to their locality and it is important to note that the main role of certain sites is to simply 
provide natural breaks in the urban form. The preferred policy approach to a space in this 
category should generally be to enhance its value in terms of its present primary 
purpose. 

The new landscaping, replacement trees, and new play area, in principle, will help to 
mitigate the loss of amenity greenspace at site. However, as expressed by the 
Horticultural Services Manager, there is concern that the level and variety of provision 
and play value looks significantly below what is currently on offer and so should be 
revised and agreed with the Environment and Operations Directorate as a condition, if 
planning consent is given to the overall development. 

Horticultural Services 
No objection subject to the following being taken into account 
 Play area should be suitably fenced to keep dogs separated.
 Proposed replacement tree planting is deemed acceptable in principle.
 Whilst wildflower area is good but needs to ensure it doesn’t become a long term dog 

toilet. An increase is short cut grass may overcome the dog issues.
 Hedging against the retaining wall needs to be redesigned in order to ensure 

maintenance is possible.

Waste Management 
I have reviewed this planning application and I can confirm that I am happy with the 
refuse strategy as detailed in the Design and Access Statement.

The Council’s collection vehicles already service the site and have to park in the road 
when emptying the bins however as the road is a horseshoe shape car owners can 
access/exit the site from another entrance.

To confirm the current requirements for the number of bins is as shown below.
The following provision is required
 Refuse - 1 x 1100ltr bin per 6 flats
 Recycling – 1 x 1100ltr bin per 6 flats with special recycling lid

The immediate area outside the bin store should be level with the road, should not 
include an incline and the installation of a drop kerb where necessary is mandatory.  Car 
parking spaces should not be allocated immediately in front of the access to the bin 
store.

The redesigned bin store needs to ensure that recycling bins are able to be incorporated.

Page 14



It is recommended that bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via a key or a 
key code pad.

Highway Development Management Officer
These proposals reflect what have been discussed and agreed at pre-application 
meetings. I have no objections

External

Kent Fire & Rescue Service 
No objection; means of access is satisfactory

Natural England
No objection subject to securing appropriate mitigation 

Kent Police
Having reviewed the on line plans and documents, Section 3.4 on page 18 of the 
Design and Access Statement (DAS) states: 

Secured by design: The development has been designed following the Secured by 
Design attributes: 

1. Access and Movement 
2. Structure 
3. Surveillance 
4. Ownership 
5. Physical protection 
6. Activity 
7. Management and maintenance 

A set of drawings was tabled with the Crime Prevention Design Advisor at Kent Police 
and the proposals were amended to reflect the comments received from them.” 

I can confirm that I met with the applicant agent on 22nd March 2019 in regard to SBD 
and CPTED for the proposed development. 

With the above in mind, we look forward to working with the applicant/agent in regard 
to achieving SBD accreditation for the development, should it receive planning 
consent. 

Natural England
No objection subject to securing appropriate mitigation.

Kent County Council (KCC) Economic Development
KCC have requested the following financial contributions

Page 15



Publicity

4.1 This application was advertised as a major development proposal by publication of a 
press notice, display of site notice and by neighbour notification letters sent to 68 
addresses in the vicinity of the site with an overall expiry date of 5 July 2019. The 
publication generated a total of 4 comments raising a number of issues some of 
which were not material planning considerations. The issues raised which are 
material planning considerations are listed below:
 Brownfield land should be developed and this greenspace should not be 

developed.
 Represents overdevelopment for the site.
 Increase in car parking demand in the area.
 Loss of play area for the children.
 The proposed block will pen in the current development creating an enclosed 

space which will lead to antisocial behaviour
 Design out of keeping with the character of the area.
 Overshadowing & loss of light to surrounding properties.
 Objections to the loss of mature trees with the replacement of token small trees.
 Overlooking into surrounding properties.
 Noise pollution will be generated by the development from future occupiers of the 

development. 
 4 storey developments are out of keeping with the surrounding 3 storey buildings.
 The existing buildings should be improved instead of building a new building.

5. Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments

Site History and Context

5.1 The application consists of amenity greenspace within the estate known as St. Patrick’s 
Gardens which has a no through road that forms a loop from Valley Drive. Valley Drive 
is one of the primary traffic arteries connecting Gravesend to the A2.

5.2 The design of the estate is a central green area (subject to this application) surrounded 
by either two or three storey blocks arranged in courtyard form. The site slopes down 
towards Valley Drive.

5.3 The estate is around 3.3ha in size with some 138 dwellings.

5.4 The Borough has a significant need for affordable housing and Policy CS16 Local Plan 
Core Strategy (LPCS) seeks to meet this need in the main as a proportion of new 
private housing development sites.  This application will deliver 23 new affordable 
residential units for general needs rent.

5.5 The proposal forms the next phase of the Council’s wider regeneration strategy to 
redevelop existing Council owned substandard accommodation and other 

Page 16



brownfield/underused sites and deliver new “energy efficient and fit for purpose” 
Council owned affordable homes for social rent in their place.

5.6 To enable the delivery of this strategy, additional housing needs to be brought forward 
first to create extra capacity in the existing housing stock and provide the opportunity 
for those residents who will be displaced from their accommodation in later phases of 
the regeneration programme to find new accommodation.  The redevelopment of the 
application site and the recently approved development at St. Hilda’s Depot (20170737) 
and the former community Hall (20171385) and Valley Drive Bedsits (2090155) will 
help achieve this.

5.7 The application site emerged following a search for potential redevelopment sites within 
the Valley Drive area.  A key factor in the site search was to identify local sites to give 
those residents displaced by the regeneration programme the opportunity to stay in 
their local area and maintain their local connections.  

Housing Need and Principle of Development

5.8 In regard to housing need, Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively 
assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that 
there is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now 
available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. 
This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF and this means for decision-taking   
that planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should 
granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF Para 11(d) unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets 
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed. 

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

5.9 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘23’ dwellings would offer a modest 
contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers considers that 
this should be accorded moderate weight in support of the application. However, this 
has to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF which requires 
development to be add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, 
sympathetic to local character and create acceptable amenity for future occupiers.

5.10 In regard to the principles of development more generally, Policy CS02 (LPCS) 
prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for development. 
Policy CS02 (LPCS) seeks to achieve this by:  

Promoting regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment and recycling of underused, 
derelict and previously developed land in the urban area.

5.11 The 2019 NPPF is explicit that planning policies and decisions should promote an 
effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses. Paragraph 119 
advises that local planning authorities should take a proactive role in identifying and 
helping to bring forward land that may be suitable for meeting development needs, 
including suitable sites on brownfield registers or held in public ownership, using the full 
range of powers available to them. Where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of 
land for meeting identified housing needs, as is currently the case in Gravesham, 

Page 17



paragraph 123 of the NPPF advises that it is especially important that planning policies 
ensure that developments make optimal use of the potential of each site.

5.12 The application site whilst within the urban area is classified as amenity greenspace 
and the 2016 Open Space Assessment, undertaken by consultants Knight, Kavanagh 
& Page (KKP), does not highlight that the site or part of the site is surplus to 
requirements.

5.13  Although St Patricks Gardens as an amenity grassed area is labelled as low quality 
(due to the quality of amenities and actual topography) it was noted as having some 
value to the local area.

5.14 These types of sites can still be recognised as providing some visual amenity to their 
locality and it is important to note that the main role of certain sites is to simply provide 
natural breaks in the urban form.

5.15 Paragraph 97 of the NPPF states existing open space, sports and recreational 
buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

5.16 The national approach is reflect in Policy CS13 (LPCS) which states the Council will 
seek to make adequate provision for and to protect and enhance the quantity, quality 
and accessibility of green space, playing pitches and other sports facilities, in 
accordance with an adequate, up to date and relevant evidence base.

5.17 It is considered that under this proposal (explored further in paragraph 5.51 - 5.61) 
whilst there is a reduction on the low quality amenity greenspace by some 46% the 
enhancements to the remaining amenity green pace result in bullet point B of 
paragraph 97 of the NPPF being met which requires proposed development would be 
replaced by equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality and Policy 
CS13 (LCPS) which requires an enhancement to existing open space.

5.18 In conclusion it is considered that the principle of residential development here is 
acceptable subject to residential redevelopment of the site complying with the relevant 
policies relating to design, amenity, parking provision and any other material planning 
considerations.

5.19 The key issues to be considered are as follows:

• Design, Character and Appearance
• Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 
• Amenity for future residents
• Drainage
• Contaminated Land
• Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking
• Residential Amenity

Page 18



• Ecology and Biodiversity
• Planning Obligations/Affordable Housing

Design, Character and appearance 

5.20 When evaluating the design of this proposal it needs to be considered against the 
design principles of Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires development to conserve and 
enhance the character of the local built, historic and natural environment, integrate well 
with the surrounding local area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is reflected 
in chapter 12 (Achieving well-designed places) of the NPPF.

5.21 It is worth noting that the scheme that is before Members has been the subject to 
extensive pre-application discussion dating back to June 2018 and the applicant has 
had discussions with Kent Police in regard to ensuring the development meets the 
requirements of secure by design principles.

5.22 Policy CS15 (LPCS) seeks to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare 
for residential development in the urban area, subject to the overriding consideration 
that the scheme is well designed and does not compromise the distinctive character of 
the area. The site measures 0.64 hectares and the density of the development equates 
to 75.14 dwellings per hectare (Excluding the amenity greenspace to the rear of the car 
park but within the redline boundary). This complies with minimum density as out in 
Policy CS15 (LPCS), and is considered in keeping with the density and character of 
development in the surrounding area.

House size and type 

5.23 Policy CS14 (LPCS) seeks to ensure that new housing development provides a range 
of dwelling types and sizes. The proposed scheme will deliver 23 additional dwellings 
consisting of the following:
     7 one bedroom 2 person properties
 16 two bedroom 4 person properties

5.24 The accommodation is spread out over 4 floors.

5.25 The provision of the above units will address locally identified affordable housing need 
and enable people to either downsize or upsize depending on their accommodation 
need, thus releasing other properties onto the social housing market.

Character, appearance, scale and massing 

5.26 The proposed development essentially consists of one block fronting onto Valley Drive 
with the second element of the proposal being improvements to the amenity 
greenspace at the eastern end of the site and additional parking spaces for the existing 
residents and upgrading a refuse storage area for existing residents. 

5.27 When designing the development the architects have noted that local setting contains a 
wide range of features and details that could inform the design of the proposal.

5.28 The architects have reviewed the design of the area and note that the character of the 
area is predominately suburban with stylistic motifs taken from the ‘Arts & Crafts’ 
movement. 

Page 19



5.29 With regard to the surrounding St. Patrick’s Gardens estate there is a wide array of 
entrance opening styles throughout the area, however there are following repeating 
styles within St. Patrick’s Gardens development and the wider area which are as 
follows:
 Private and communal entrances, often embellished with projected creased tiles or 

brick
 Low eaves levels resulting in cat slide dormers and windows up the soffit.
 Soldier course detailing above ground floor windows

5.30 When designing the scheme the constraints of the site such the potential overlooking 
from the existing surrounding flats within St. Patrick’s Gardens have been taken into 
account along with the topography of the site. 

5.31 As outlined in section 4.2 of the applicants Design & Access Statement, a number of 
design approaches were considered for the development and the chosen approach is 
for a 4 storey building with a hipped roof and two gables on the front and rear 
elevations with winter gardens between each gable. In order to match the surrounding 
buildings a hipped roof is proposed.

5.32 The scheme which has been submitted is a result of discussions between the architect 
and the local authority and the layout as proposed has an acceptable relationship with 
the surrounding built form and the constraints of the site. Concern has been raised from 
objectors that the building is too high. However with a distance of just over 19 metres 
from the properties to the north and south the additional 4th floor would not adversely 
harm the street scene or wider character of the area which are three storeys in height. 
This is demonstrated below.

5.33  In order to ensure the building is in keeping with the character of the area the following 
proposals are included with the design:

 Taller window openings on ground floor
 Smaller window openings on 4th floor
 Soldier course detailing to divide building proportion at first floor
 Ground floor to use grey-brown brick
 Red brick for the remainder of the building to match the surrounding dwellings
 3rd floor windows to have soldier course detailing at window heads 
 Clay roof tiles to match surrounding buildings
 AOV stack to match surrounding chimney stacks
 In the centre of the building on the front elevation completely glazed winter 

gardens are proposed.

5.34 The following extract shows the proposed front elevation when viewed from Valley 
Drive.

Page 20



5.35 The approach to the rear elevation is similar to the front elevation with the same 
fenestration detailing. The difference with the rear elevation is each side of the rear 
gables winter gardens are proposed which provides private amenity space for future 
occupiers and a view of the open space to east.

5.36 The following image shows the proposed rear elevation.

5.37 Careful consideration has been taken to ensure that the flank elevations of the building 
have interest.  This has been achieved through similar fenestration detailing as per the 
front and rear elevations. To add further interest the building it is stepped in from both 
the front and rear. This is demonstrated on the below image.

Page 21



    

5.38 A neighbour concern that this building will essentially enclose the remaining amenity 
green space is noted but with a distance of some 19 metres to the nearest buildings to 
the north and south it is not considered to detrimentally enclose the estate or 
undermine the character of the area.

5.39 To the rear of the building 25 car parking spaces are proposed. Beyond the spaces a 
series of steps are proposed which will provide access into the enhanced amenity 
greenspace. A retaining wall is proposed between the car park and the remaining 
amenity greenspace due to the land level differences.  The finish to this retaining wall 
will be conditioned.

5.40 The retaining wall is required as the topography of the site has some 7m of difference 
from front to rear.

5.41 The plans show an improvement to the amenity greenspace which is welcome 
improvement over the existing play equipment which is somewhat dated (see below 
image).

5.42 Under this scheme various proposals for improving the remaining amenity greenspace 
are suggested. The supporting Design & Access Statement, along with the plans 
indicate existing children’s play area is located further to the east along with a large 
area of open green space and a significant amount of tree planting is proposed.

5.43 The below image shows the architects proposed view of the amenity greenspace.

Page 22



5.44 Notwithstanding the details submitted with the proposal and to ensure that the amenity 
greenspace is fit for purpose and to ensure the best possible outcomes for existing and 
future occupiers of the area the details of the amenity greenspace layout will be a 
conditioned. This will include details of all planting, fencing play equipment etc.

5.45 In summary the overall design of the scheme is acceptable and its felt that the design 
which has been the subject of negotiations complies with local and national planning 
policy in relation to design and no further amendments are required to the design.

 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

5.46 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate appropriate facilities for 
the storage and recycling of waste. 

5.47 Within this proposal the communal refuse store for the development is located at the 
ground floor at the rear and has access from both inside the building and directly from 
the rear. Gravesham Waste Management has been consulted and states the bin stores 
appear to be in suitable locations with minimal drag distances and easy access for the 
collection vehicle. 

5.48 In order to ensure the bin stores are secured this would be achieved through ensuring 
all bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via key or key code. To ensure 
this happens details of securing refuse stores will be conditioned. 

5.49 The additional improvements to the refuse storage area for the existing residents in the 
south east corner are welcomed and these details will be conditioned. 

5.50 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements the development complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS).

Amenity for future residents 

5.51 A number of flats proposed could be occupied by families’ and significant weight is 
attached to the need to provide amenity space to meet the needs of future residents as 
required through Policy CS13 (LPCS). The NPPF recognises that access to high 
quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities.

5.52 As the proposed development is being constructed on amenity greenspace as 
identified on the Open Spaces Study and the associated Standard Paper 2016, 

Page 23



produced by Knight, Kavanagh & Page this issue needs careful consideration. These 
spaces fulfil a multi-functional role that make a positive contribution to the area that 
they are located within, as well as enhancing the overall visual aesthetics for 
communities. Furthermore, the standards paper states that all amenity greenspace 
should be protected as a starting point, due in part to current deficiencies and identified 
additional future needs within the borough for this type of open space typology.

5.53 To address the above concerns the applicant has included within the redline boundary 
of this application all of the existing amenity greenspace to the rear of this 
development. As part of this application they are proposing significant improvements to 
the existing open space through the relocation further east of the play area and 
landscaped open space surrounding the children’s play equipment. As the proposal will 
result in a loss of 6 mature trees from the frontage part of the site the proposed plans 
show a number of trees planting on the rear section of the site.

5.54 Gravesham Horticultural Services who have reviewed the proposal are supportive the 
improvements of the amenity greenspace subject to the following being taken into 
account:

 Play area should be suitably fenced to keep dogs separated.
 Proposed replacement tree planting is deemed acceptable in principle.
 Whilst wildflower area is good but needs to ensure it doesn’t become a long term dog 

toilet. An increase is short cut grass may overcome the dog issues.
 Hedging against the retaining wall needs to be redesigned in order to ensure 

maintenance is possible.

5.55 As the above comments show some concern is raised on the fine details of the 
landscaping scheme around maintenance and ensuring the long-term design is 
acceptable for the area. 

5.56 In order to address these issues the landscaping details will be subject to a condition 
for both the details of the play requirement, fencing, soft landscaping, paving, size of 
replacement trees etc and long term management plan for the amenity greenspace.

5.57 Each flat has their own private amenity space measuring in size from 4.67m2 to 
6.09m² and what makes this application unique is that instead of balconies for each flat 
they have a winter garden. A winter garden essentially allows the private amenity 
space to be fully enclosed in winter (providing heat) and in summer the glass can be 
retracted provide future occupiers for direct access to the outside space.

5.58 The applicant has provided a noise report which provides recommendation that the 
glazing for units fronting Valley Drive should be enhanced to reduce the impact of 
traffic noise from Valley Drive. This will be dealt with through the appropriate planning 
condition.

5.59 By including the winter gardens a further benefit that for the properties fronting onto 
Valley Drive which is a busy road into Gravesend when the winter gardens are closed 
they will reduce the traffic noise into the flats.

5.60 For the ground floor flats a defensible barrier of soft landscaping is proposed. The 
details of this soft landscaping will be the subject of part of the wider soft landscaping 
scheme for future occupiers.   

Page 24



5.61 It is concluded that the overall development will provide acceptable living conditions for 
future occupiers and complies with Policies CS13 and CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 97 
of the NPPF due to the enhancements of the remaining amenity greenspace. 

Drainage 

5.62 The application site lies within Ground Source Protection Zone 2 and is not within a 
flood zone. The Environment Agency advice for development in the nature of these 
sites is that no infiltration of surface water drainage shall not be permitted without the 
LPA consent. This will be achieved through a planning condition.

5.63 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water run-off. KCC is the Lead Local Flood Authority and have been 
consulted on the application and their comments are outstanding. As KCC have 
provided comments on similar size developments within the borough it is proposed to 
provide the standard KCC condition on sustainable surface water drainage which 
requires the following:

1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council.

2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme.

3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system.
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water.

5.64 In summary subject to the suitable conditions there is no conflict with Policy CS18 
(LPCS).

Contaminated Land

5.65 Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF requires new development to 
avoid adverse environmental impacts of land contamination and remediating 
contaminated land. 

5.66 The applicant has submitted the following:
 Preliminary Investigation Report (Soils Limited, March 2019)

5.67 Having reviewed the above report it is concluded that 

Based on the information obtained during the compilation of this Preliminary 
Investigation, no potential contamination sources have been identified and therefore 
the preliminary conceptual site model, has identified no potential risk from soil 
contamination.

5.68 In order to ensure any unexpected contamination issues are fully addressed a 
watching brief condition for contamination will be included. 

5.69 Subject to the recommended condition no conflict with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and 
Paragraph 170 of the NPPF.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

5.70 The proposed development needs to be considered against Policy CS11 (LPCS) which 
states that new development should mitigate their impact on the public highway and 

Page 25



that transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure delivery of 
travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that 
sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted 
standards which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport 
accessibility to services and facilities. This stance is reflected in the NPPF which states 
at paragraph 109 development should only be prevented or refused on transport 
grounds where the cumulative impact of development are severe. In this instance the 
nature and scale of the development does not require a transport statement or 
transport assessment.

5.71 A total of 25 spaces are being provided for the occupiers of the dwelling and an 
additional 10 spaces being provided as visitor spaces at the south east and north east 
corner of these site. These spaces would remain unallocated and could be used for 
either visitors or occupiers St. Patrick’s Gardens wider estate.

5.72 Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer has reviewed the parking 
arrangements for the scheme and raises no objection to the proposal. In addition KCC 
raise no objection to the parking provision for the development.

5.73 Concern from objectors that the development would have an adverse impact on the 
parking situation within the area are noted but the proposal provides sufficient parking 
provision 1 space per flat and 12 additional visitor/communal spaces. It is not 
considered this development would be detrimental to the surrounding highway 
network.

5.74 It is therefore considered that that the parking arrangements for the development 
comply with local and national planning policy and can be supported. 

5.75 To ensure that the scheme is future proofed and sustainable a condition will require all 
parking spaces should have passive provision for electric vehicle charging. 

5.76 There is sufficient pedestrian access to and from the site and no highway danger 
arises to pedestrians from this development. 

5.77 Subject to the above issues being resolved by planning condition it is considered that 
the proposal complies with local and national planning policy.

Residential Amenity

5.78 In considering any proposals for development it is important to ensure that it does not 
cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing residents or property such 
that it will materially harm their living conditions.  It is also important to assess the 
quality of any residential environments that are proposed as part of the scheme.  
Policies seeking to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living conditions are 
included in the LPCS.  The NPPF also assists and seeks to ensure developments will 
function well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive and comfortable 
places to live, work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design and a good 
standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”.

Privacy and Overlooking

5.79 To ensure that the privacy and amenity of existing and future residents is protected, 
the distance between facing habitable rooms both within the scheme and in those 

Page 26



residential properties surrounding the site have been assessed in line with the 
Residential Layout Guidelines.  Habitable rooms include bedrooms and living areas.

5.80 To the east the development is the amenity greenspace and the development will 
overlook this space providing additional natural surveillance to the area. There will be 
no adverse impact on any existing properties to the east of the proposed block of flats.

5.81 To the west is Valley Drive and beyond that two storey dwellings with a window to 
window distance of around 29 metres which does not result in any compromise of 
privacy for existing dwellings or occupiers of the proposed development. This window 
to window distance complies with the Council’s residential layout guidelines

5.82 To the north and south at a distance of some 19m is the flank elevation of the three 
storey block of flats which contains windows that serve communal staircase and non-
habitable rooms. The flank elevations of the proposed development contain habitable 
windows on the flank elevation. The minimum distance required between a habitable 
and non-habitable room window is 11 metre as set out in the Council’s residential 
layout guidelines; this development exceeds this distance

5.83 In addition there will be no harm to the sunlight or overshadowing for existing 
surrounding properties or the potential future occupiers of the development.

5.84 It is therefore concluded that privacy and overlooking for both the existing residents 
and living conditions are protected and the proposal complies with Policy CS19 
(LPCS).

Size of units 

5.85 To ensure that adequate living space is provided for future residents, the units have all 
been assessed to confirm that they do meet the national technical standards. These 
are prescribed standards, which set an overall unit area (which includes built in 
storage) and bedroom size and supersede the room sizes set out in Council’s 
Residential Layout Guidelines and referred to in Policy CS19 (LPCS).  All the proposed 
units either meet or exceed the technical standards.

Amenity Space and Gardens

5.86 Each flat has private amenity space in the form of winter gardens providing private 
amenity space for future occupiers. 

5.87 In addition all residents will have direct access to the enhanced amenity green space 
to the rear of the site.

5.88 It is therefore concluded that the proposed flats with a combination of their own private 
amenity space and the enhanced amenity greenspace will provide future occupiers 
with acceptable living conditions and provide families with a safe and secure living 
environment.

5.89 Subject to the fine details on the garden landscaping being agreed by condition it is 
considered that overall the proposal provides acceptable amenity space for future 
occupiers. 

Page 27



Ecology and Biodiversity

5.90 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive 
which requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed 
on Annex 1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European 
context, and also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It 
is also listed as a Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention 
(Ramsar Site).  Studies have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in 
areas that are busiest with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found 
that additional dwellings were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing 
disturbance to protected bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and 
Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent 
coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts 
of recreational disturbance can be such that they affect the status and distribution of 
key bird species and therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the 
European Sites.  

5.91 The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring 
Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £245.56 per dwelling).  This approach is 
approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.

5.92 For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or 
unilateral undertaking the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.

5.93 Irrespective of the above, a Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means a 
screening assessment as to whether the development either alone or in combination, 
is likely to have significant effects on a designated site is required.  The CJEU sees a 
distinction between “the plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or 
reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project on a European site”. This means that 
mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be 
assessed within the framework of an AA and cannot be taken into account at the 
screening stage.  

5.94 In this case a contribution has been provided by the applicants and a screening for 
Appropriate Assessment (AA) has been undertaken.

5.95 The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the proposal would put in place adequate 
measures to mitigate potential significant adverse effects on the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes SPA/Ramsar site.

5.96 In order to ascertain if there would be any impact on building on the amenity 
greenspace a preliminary ecological appraisal has been undertaken which concluded:

Overall, there are no known overriding ecological constraints that would prevent the 
proposed works going ahead.

5.97 The report does recommend that any soft landscaping should seek to provide habitat 
improvements for wildlife. This will be achieved through the proposed soft landscaping 
condition.

Page 28



5.98 In order to facilitate this proposal all of the mature trees will be lost on the site which is 
an unfortunate loss but in order to offset the loss of these trees the applicant has 
indicated on the indicative landscaping scheme semi-mature trees will be planted on 
the remaining enhanced amenity space. This will be sufficient to offset the loss of the 
mature trees. To ensure this occurs the soft landscaping scheme will require detailed 
information on the replacement trees.

5.99 It should be noted that Gravesham Horticultural Services raise no objection to the loss 
of these trees as the applicant is proposing sufficient new planting to offset the loss. 
Prior to the application being submitted options were explored to see if the trees could 
be retained but it was not deemed possible.   

5.100 The following image from 2018 shows the trees in question which will be lost

5.101 Therefore the proposal complies with Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF and 
Policy CS12 (LPCS).

Planning Obligations/Affordable Housing

Procedural issue

5.102 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism that we as 
a Council, often use to secure financial contributions or other forms of mitigation 
such as affordable housing from developers, make a development proposal 
acceptable in planning terms.  As the Council is the applicant in this case, the use of 
s106 Agreement to secure financial contributions from ourselves towards Strategic 
Access and Mitigation Measures Strategy (SAMMS), Kent County Council 
contributions, and to secure affordable housing is not an appropriate way forward 
and alternative legal mechanisms need to be used.

5.103 Officers consider that the same outcomes can be achieved via alternative 
appropriate mechanisms, as follows:
1. Gravesham Council would enter into a unilateral undertaking (under s106) 

with KCC agreeing to pay the financial contributions. 
2. GBC would sign a SAMMS Contribution Agreement letter agreeing to the 

above financial contributions towards the cost of measures to mitigate the 

Page 29



impact of the development on the over-wintering bird interest on the North 
Kent Marshes.

3. It is proposed to include a recital to ensure that the proposed housing 
remained affordable for both first and subsequent occupants.  Given the need 
to move away from a s106 Agreement, it is considered that this can now be 
secured via a planning condition.  

Affordable Housing

5.104 The Borough Council’s position on affordable housing, as set out in LPCS Policy 
CS16, is that it will be required at a provision of 30% on sites in the urban area 
proposing 15 or more dwellings.  The Council seeks a broad mix of 70% rented 
and 30% shared ownership, although the tenure mix should meet local needs 
and achieve a socially inclusive development.

5.105 Under this proposal the applicant would need to provide 7 affordable dwellings 
based on the split as set out in Policy CS16 (LPCS). However, the applicant has 
applied for a 100% affordable scheme and to achieve this the following condition will 
be included:

The residential units hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a scheme for the 
provision of affordable housing has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The affordable housing shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme and the provision shall meet the definition of 
affordable housing set out in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2012 or any future guidance that replaces it.  The scheme shall include: 

(i) the numbers, type and tenure of the affordable housing provision to be made, 
(ii) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 

affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be 
enforced. 

Reason: In the interests of securing affordable housing in accordance with policy 
CS16 (Affordable Housing) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

5.106 With the scheme being 100% affordable housing this will help local people on the 
housing list awaiting a social housing to meet their needs. For example Quarter 4 of 
2018/2019 shows there are 572 people requiring 1 bed; 537 with a 2 bedroom need 
and 232 households requiring 3 bedroom properties. In Quarter 1 of 2019/2020 
shows there are 624 people requiring 1 bed; 577 with a 2 bedroom need and 251 
households requiring 3 bedroom properties

5.107 This proposed development will provide 23 properties for general needs 
accommodation which will help reduce the waiting list. As the above figures 
highlight the waiting list is currently growing. In addition a further benefit is that the 
smaller properties may help people who wish to downsize, thus freeing up larger 
properties for other people on the housing register.

Developer Contributions 

5.108 It is important to ensure that sufficient infrastructure is provided to meet the needs of 
new residents, employees and businesses in the Borough.  As recognised in the 
NPPF, the provision of new infrastructure is an important part of new development 

Page 30



and the Council has worked with local service providers to identify their 
infrastructure needs over the plan period.  Policy CS10 (LPCS) states that where 
new development generates a need for new infrastructure, developers will have to 
provide or contribute towards such provision, subject to viability consideration.

5.109 KCC have requested a contribution of £16,464.00 towards phase 1 expansion of 
Gravesend Grammar School and £1104.36 towards library bookstock at Riverview 
Park Library. 

5.110 In order for the Local Planning Authority to request financial contributions on behalf 
of KCC contributions will need to meet all of the tests relating to paragraph 56 of the 
NPPF which are as follows:

(A)    necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

(B)    directly related to the development;

(C)    fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development; and 

(D)    that: (i) the obligation (obligation A) provides for the funding or provision of an 
infrastructure project or type of infrastructure; and (ii) five or more separate 
planning obligations that: (a) relate to planning permissions granted for 
development within the area of the charging authority; and (b) which provide for 
the funding or provision of that project, or type of infrastructure, have been 
entered into before the date that obligation A was entered into.

5.111 It is considered that KCC planning obligations meet the statutory tests of paragraph 
56 of the NPPF that requires planning obligations to be necessary to make the 
development acceptable, directly related to the development and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

5.112 The applicant has agreed to the KCC contributions. The following table summarises 
the planning obligations for this application.

Obligation Sum Trigger
KCC 17568.36 Prior to commencement.
Financial contribution 
towards SAMMS

£5647.88 Paid via SAMMS Contribution 
Agreement letter

6. Financial Considerations

6.1 In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as 
and when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the 
decision making process for planning applications is a transparent as possible, so 
that local communities are more aware of the financial benefits that development 
can bring to their area. In this instance the proposed new residential units would 
generate the New Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts. It is anticipated that 
Business Rate may be accrued form the commercial units. 

Page 31



7. Conclusion 

7.1 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with national and local 
policy planning policy and will provide a 100% affordable scheme for within the urban 
area of Gravesend.

7.2 The concerns from neighbours have been carefully considered and it is not considered 
that any further amendments to the scheme is required and the proposal complies with 
local and national planning policy.

7.3 The agent has agreed to all the pre-commencement conditions as set out in appendix 
1.

_________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is for the application to be DELEGATED to the Assistant Director 
(Planning) and/or the Interim Planning Manager (Development Management) to grant 
Planning Permission, subject to:

A) Securing appropriate contributions in regard to requests from KCC.

B) The imposition of appropriate planning conditions as to be detailed in appendix 1.

Page 32



Suggested conditions for 20190503

Time Limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with 
the following schedule of approved plans:
Drawing No.18-026 D 001 – Site Location Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 002 – Existing Site Plan
Drawing No.18-010 D 010 – Proposed Site Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 020 – Proposed Site Plan – Colourised 
Drawing No.18-026 D 0210 – Proposed Site Elevations AA, BB & CC
Drawing No.18-026 D 0211- Proposed Site Elevations DD-EE-FF
Drawing No.18-026 D 100 Rev A – Proposed Ground Floor Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 101 Rev A – Proposed First Floor Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 102 Rev A – Proposed Second Floor Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 103 Rev A – Proposed Third Floor Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 104 Rev A – Proposed Fourth Floor Plan
Drawing No.18-026 D 105 Rev A – Proposed Roof Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Pre-commencement Conditions 

Code of Construction Practice

3. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 
Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority.  
The approved scheme shall include details of hours of work during the construction 
period, delivery times for materials, parking of vehicles of site personnel and visitors, 
loading and unloading of plant and materials, storage of materials and wheel washing 
proposals; the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Code of Construction Practice.

Reason: To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to minimise the impact on 
residential amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).

Sustainable Surface Water Drainage

4. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 
sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall 

Page 33



(i) demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm)

(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from 
flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100yr storm,

(iii) demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present 

(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and

(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime. 

The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 
proposal; to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, 
or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014).

Prior to above ground works

Materials

5. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form before  
any above ground works commence, additional details (and samples where requested by 
the Local Planning Authority) of all the external facing materials to be used in the 
construction of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a 
satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance 
with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Materials

6. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form before 
any above ground works commence the applicant shall provide in writing to the Local 
Planning Authority that the recommendations within noise report )2931GB by Nova 
Acoustics) shall be incorporated into the development. The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To protect the amenity of future occupiers and in accordance with adopted 
Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Page 34



Prior to occupation

Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping works shall be 
completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the completion of the 
development or the first occupation of any of the residential units whichever is sooner.  
The scheme shall include: 

 proposed boundary treatments, 
 proposed finished levels and contours, 
 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas, pedestrian accesses, private 

gardens and amenity areas; 
 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other 

supporting structures
 details of the pedestrian access and circulation areas 
 minor structures such as  play equipment, log piles, and any proposed seating.

Reason: To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and to 
ensure a satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Soft Landscaping Scheme 

8. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping 
shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include the type and species of planting to be carried out, to include their 
quantity and size as well as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft 
landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available planting season 
following first occupation of the development. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, 
removed or become diseased within five years from the date that the development is first 
brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size and species during the 
next available planting season. For the avoidance of doubt this shall include the open 
space to the rear of the proposed car park and includes details of the semi-mature trees 
to be planted.

Reason: To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests of 
the visual amenity of the development, in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Parking Spaces

9. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved the vehicle parking 
areas shown on Drawing No.18-010 D 010 have been formed, surfaced, drained and 
marked out in accordance with a scheme first to be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town 
and Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or 
any provision equivalent to it in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that 
Order, with or without modification, no development shall be carried out on the site in 

Page 35



such a manner or in such a position as to preclude the use of or access to the reserved 
vehicle parking and turning areas.

Reason: To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision is available to serve the 
development, in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
(1994).

Allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces

10. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved the development shall 
not be occupied until a strategy for the allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces for 
the occupiers of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved strategy and measures to safeguard the use of 
the spaces shall be implemented and maintained thereafter. For the avoidance of doubt 
this should include disabled parking spaces.

Reason: In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion, in 
accordance with adopted Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

External Lighting

11. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all proposed 
external lighting shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these 
approved details and no additional external lighting shall be provided on the site. For the 
avoidance of doubt this shall include details of the pedestrian route from Nansen Road to 
Whitehill Road.

Reason: In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity 
by reason of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 
Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Cycle Storage

12. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details of the cycle 
storage facilities indicated on Drawing No.18-026 D 100 Rev shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved cycle store shall be 
provided prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter be retained for such 
purposes at all times.

Reason: In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Policy 
CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Refuse arrangements

13. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details of the refuse 
arrangements indicated on Drawing No.18-026 D 100 Rev A shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall ensure 
adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste and 
security arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements shall be 
provided prior to first occupation of the development and thereafter be retained for such 

Page 36



purposes at all times. For the avoidance of doubt this includes the refuse area to serve 
the existing estate.

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area 
in the interest of amenity and in accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Play Area

14. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details of the new play 
area (including details of all equipment, seating, bins, fencing and surface treatment etc) 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the 
residential units hereby permitted. For the avoidance of doubt this condition shall also 
include details of the long term management plan of the play area.

Reason: In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site in accordance with adopted 
Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Affordable Housing

15. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved a scheme for the 
provision of affordable housing has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with 
the approved scheme and the provision shall meet the definition of affordable housing 
set out in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 or any future 
guidance that replaces it.  The scheme shall include: 

(i) the numbers, type and tenure of the affordable housing provision to be made, 
(ii) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 

affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be 
enforced. 

Reason: In the interests of securing affordable housing in accordance with policy CS16 
(Affordable Housing) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

Details of Winter Gardens 

16. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and notwithstanding the 
details shown on the approved plans details of the Winter Gardens for proposed flats 
shall submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details of 
the winter gardens shall include information on how future occupiers will have sufficient 
privacy when using the Winter Gardens. The approved details shall be provided prior to 
first occupation of the development and thereafter be retained for such purposes at all 
times.

Reason: In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion, in 
accordance with adopted Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Electric Charging Points

Page 37



17. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved details for provision of 
cabling to enable charging facilities to be installed for electric vehicles for the future 
occupants of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of any of the residential units hereby 
approved to which the cabling applies. For the avoidance of doubt the Local Planning 
Authority would expect at least 20% of the development to have electric charging points.

Reason
To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 
transport, and in accordance with Policy CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).

Gates

18. No gates shall be installed across the vehicular access driveway to the development site 
at any time. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to avoid vehicles waiting in the road while 
gates are opened or closed.

Infiltration of surface water drainage

19. No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.. 

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Watching Brief

20. No If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 
at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this 
contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
unacceptable risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

INFORMATIVES:-

1 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
TAKING

3 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION

Page 38



4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

5 SOUTHERN WATER

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



20190503
Open Space St Patricks Gardens, DA12 4AN

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20190252

Site Address: Land Behind Tesco Express  Whitehill Parade Whitehill Lane 
Gravesend DA12 5LS and Whitehill amenity open space 

Application 
Description:

Erection of 3 storey building to the rear and side of existing Tesco 
Express (formerly Whitehill Tavern PH) to provide 12 flats comprising 10 
x two bedroom and 2 x three bedroom units; provision of play/amenity 
areas and private amenity space; provision of bin store/bike store 
including replacement bin store for Tesco Express and relocation of 
retail store plant to the rear flat roof of store; change of use of part of 
Whitehill Open Space to a car park for commercial and residential 
purposes involving the construction of 27 car parking spaces with 
vehicle turning area and with vehicular access from Whitehill Parade 
and including removal of existing layby parking

Applicant: Mr Ravi Shetra

Agent: Mrs Rebecca Pallett, db Architects

Ward: Whitehill

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 2nd July 2019; Extension of time agreed until 26th July 2019

Publicity expiry date: 3rd May 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board - 24 July 2019 

Reasons for referral:

At the request of Cllr Brian Sangha (i) to allow Members to assess the 
scale and nature of the development and whether or not it is consistent 
with the character and appearance of the area; (ii) to allow Members to 
consider whether or not on balance the loss of amenity space is 
acceptable; and (iii) to consider the acceptability and layout of the 
design, including the adequacy of living and storage space standards for 
future occupants; and noting that the development scheme is finely 
balanced and somewhat complex
 

Recommendation:

REFUSED on grounds of loss of amenity greenspace contrary to local 
and national planning policy,  harm to the character of the area, 
overdevelopment and the height, mass and form of the development 
being inappropriate and due to the unneighbourly impact and potential 
overlooking particularly of/to properties adjoining the site at the rear in 
Ivy Close.
 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Page 43 Agenda Item 5b



Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

This application is for the erection of a 3 storey building to the rear and side of the existing 
Tesco Express (formerly Whitehill Tavern PH) to provide 12 flats and for the change of use of 
part of the Whitehill amenity open space to a car park for commercial and residential purposes 
involving the construction of 27 car parking spaces.

The application site comprises two separate areas - the customer car park and servicing area 
on the west side of the existing Tesco Express supermarket (formerly the Whitehill Tavern 
Public House) and a grassed garden area at the rear; and the southern part of the existing 
Whitehill Lane open space, a grassed amenity space.

Planning permission was refused on 06 November 2018 under officer delegated powers
for an application (ref 20180867) submitted by the same applicants but just for the change of 
use of part of Whitehill Lane Open Space to a car park involving the construction of 27 car 
parking spaces with vehicle turning area and with vehicular access from Whitehill Parade and 
including removal of the existing lay by parking.  It did not include any associated residential 
development as part of the application. 

The current planning application for both a 3 storey building for 12 flats and for ‘off-site’ car 
parking was submitted in early April 2019 prior to the outcome of a planning appeal that had 
been lodged by the applicants against the decision by the Borough Council to refuse planning 
permission for the proposed car park on the Whitehill Open space.  

That appeal against the refusal of the car parking on the open space was DISMISSED by the 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS) on 22 May 2019, the appointed Planning Inspector agreeing with 
the Borough Council that the proposed loss of designated amenity greenspace would have a 
materially harmful impact on the supply and provision of greenspace in the locality in conflict 
with local planning policies CS12 & CS13 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (CS), 
policy DM21 of the Emerging Development Management Policies Document April 2018 (DMP) 
and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), that the proposal would unacceptably 
harm the character and appearance of the locality, contrary to policy and that the proposal 
would likely have an adverse impact of pedestrian highway safety and was not justified having 
regard to the accessibility of the locality.

Part of the current planning application is effectively for the same proposal being for a car park 
on the same area of the Whitehill open space that has been turned down on appeal albeit that it 
is now clear that the intention of the proposed car park is not just for the commercial uses at the 
shopping parade (Tesco Express and the other retail units) but also for future occupants of the 
second element of the development, namely the three storey building cloaking the rear of the 
Tesco Express for 12 new flats.  The fact that such a development has been rejected by PINS 
as an independent adjudicator just two months ago is a very material consideration in the 
assessment and determination of this current planning application.

There is therefore a clear planning policy objection to the loss of open space at this site and 
refusal is also supported by the Council’s Leisure Manager and Horticultural Services Manager. 
Although this part of the Whitehill open space is private land and apparently no longer 
accessible to the public this does not affect its status as amenity greenspace, which does not 
need to be accessible to the public for it to provide visual amenity for local residents.  It is not 
surplus to requirements and performs a function of providing a visual break to the urban form.

It is considered that the residential proposal is overdevelopment of the site out of character with 
the local area and will result in an over-dominant mass and built form contrary to local and 
national policy and notably policy CS19 of the Core Strategy and section 12 of the NPPF.

Page 44



Although the applicants have included design features such as angled windows and screening 
to balconies the height of the development and the proximity to the rear gardens of existing 
dwellings in Ivy Close are such that the proposal will be an unneighbourly development and 
contrary to policy CS19 of the Core Strategy. 

In response to the publicity given to the application there have been a considerable number of 
neighbour objections from local residents principally from properties at the rear on the south 
side of the site in Ivy Close and which are clearly the most affected by the development.  The 
objections are to impact on local amenity, significant traffic generation and congestion and 
inadequacy of parking, impact on the character of the area, the scale and design being 
inappropriate and to the loss of open space and ecology on the site.

There are also a significant number of letters of support for the development although it has to 
be recognised that these have been received from residents within the Borough that are not 
directly affected by the development proposals and thus carry very limited weight. 

Although the development would make a small contribution to the overall housing need for the 
Borough the positive aspects of the development in this case are outweighed by the various 
negative aspects.  It is therefore recommended to the Board that the application be REFUSED

____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The site to which this planning application relates comprises two separate areas as shown 
in the red line plan below.  

Page 45



1.2 Firstly the customer car park and servicing area on the west side of the existing Tesco 
Express supermarket (formerly the Whitehill Tavern Public House) and a grassed garden 
area at the rear at the western end of Whitehill Parade Gravesend, a parade of local 
shops.  The customer car park includes a total of 5 parking spaces including one space for 
the mobility impaired.  There is some plant and equipment for the retail store within a 
timber enclosure to the south of the customer car park.  The servicing area is also used for 
crate storage. The Tesco Express building is also included within the red line application 
site.

1.3 The red line site area to which this part of the application relates comprises an area of 
0.169 hectares, but if the area of the Tesco Express building is excluded the actual site 
area is 0.127 hectares.

1.4 The Tesco Express was granted planning permission in 2010, following the closure of the 
public house.  It is located within a two storey detached brick and tiled building in Mock 
Tudor style and with the retail supermarket on the ground floor and with a residential flat 
above.  The premises were extended at the same time as the change of use to a 
supermarket by a large single storey flat roofed rear extension.  

1.5 Secondly, and to the north of the Tesco Express and the other retail shops within Whitehill 
Parade, the southern part of the existing Whitehill Lane open space, a grassed amenity 
space that is overall a roughly triangular area of play space which is generally flat with a 
few trees but contains no play equipment.  

1.6 The site area to which this part of the application relates comprises an area of 0.081 
hectares.

1.7 The southern part was fenced off by a low timber picket fence over a year ago and is 
grassed but with no other vegetation.  Timber bollards that used to exist around the 
southern edge appear to have been removed.

1.8 A small part of the southern section of the open space was surfaced some years ago and 
is used as layby car parking for approx. 5-6 cars although there is no record of planning 
permission for this.  

1.9 Around the perimeter of the open space are some lighting and street signage and 
telecommunication equipment.  There is a kerb and concrete apron on the southern edge 
between the grassed open space and the carriageway and layby parking in Whitehill 
Parade but this is not a footway as such.   More recently and following a decision of the 
Borough Council to refuse an application for use of this part of the site for a car park 
(20180867) in November 2018 the applicants have placed a series of concrete barrier 
blocks all around the edge of the site to prevent any access including using them to cordon 
off the use of the lay by on the north side of the access road serving the Whitehill Parade 
shops.

1.10 Whitehill Parade is a one way road connecting Whitehill Lane to the east with Jellicoe 
Avenue to the west.  It is subject to a traffic regulation order (TRO).

1.11 Whitehill Parade comprises a terrace of 5no two storey buildings with ground floor local 
retail and with residential above and with forecourt parking at the front.  The shops 
comprise Costcutter (local supermarket) which occupies a double unit, Le Spice (Indian 
takeaway), Lucky Jade (Chinese takeaway) and Potters (Kitchens and Bathrooms).

1.12 To the south of the Tesco Express are two storey semi-detached dwellings of more 
modern age (1970’s) in Ivy Close.  To the west the Tesco Express adjoins the rear gardens 

Page 46



of dwellings in Princes Road.  Opposite the Whitehill open space on the east side are 
1930’s two storey terraced dwellings in Whitehill Lane.

2. Planning History

2.1 The planning history relating to the application site is as follows:

Planning Applications 

Whitehill Open Space 

19850681: Use of land as a car park for 16 cars.  Withdrawn 18.03.1988

19880885: Formation of car park with 18 no spaces. Withdrawn 19.03.1990

20180867: Change of use of part of Whitehill Open Space to a car park involving the 
construction of 27 car parking spaces with vehicle turning area and with vehicular access 
from Whitehill Parade and including removal of existing lay by parking.  Refused 06 
November 2018; 

The reasons for the refusal were: 

 Loss of open space contrary to Policy CS13 (Green Space, Sport and Recreation) of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014, Policy CS12 (Green 
Infrastructure), emerging Policy DM 21 (Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports 
Facilities Retention) of the Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation 
Part 2: Development Management Policies Document April 2018 and paragraph 97 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

 Material harm to the character and appearance of the locality resulting not just in the 
loss of the green space which clearly is a local amenity and asset to this part of the 
urban area but it would also add a greater urban appearance to the area with a 
significant increase in hard surfacing to the detriment of local amenity and contrary to 
policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy September 2014 and section 127 of the NPPF 

 The proposal fails to justify the need for and impact of the additional car parking spaces 
on the surrounding local area and also fails to consider the impacts of the proposal on 
the local highway network and sustainability, thus the proposal also fails to comply with 
policies CS11 (Transport) and CS19 (Development and Design Principles) of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014

 The proposals provide inadequate or no information in relation to the fencing of the 
site, details of any lighting to the proposed car park, how an existing lighting column 
and street sign will be addressed, any surface drainage details and full details of 
proposed landscaping to the site; the design and layout of the car parking and vehicle 
turning area does not fully conform to the design requirements of the adopted Kent 
Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG 4)

Appeal Dismissed 22 May 2019. (Appeal ref: APP/K2330/W/19/3221819; GBC appeal ref: 
2019/00007/REF)

See Appendix 1: Appeal Decision 

Page 47



Note: There are no planning records relating to the formation of the layby parking area to 
the north side of the access road serving the Whitehill Parade shops, the date of its 
construction is not known but based on Google earth images it would be sometime 
between 1990 and 2003.  It is considered that this was development for which planning 
permission would have been required.

Whitehall Tavern - Tesco Express

19490674: Extension to Whitehill Tavern.  Permitted 07.11.1949

19850612: Alterations to the front elevation.  Permitted 18.09.1985

20090985: Erection of single storey rear extension to provide retail floorspace within Use 
Class A1 (Shops) in connection with the use of the existing vacant public house for retail 
purposes; formation of car parking area on west side of the site and highway 
improvements to Whitehill Parade.  Permitted 11.05.2010

20100702: Application for non-material amendment to planning permission reference 
number 20090985 to move the cycle racks from eastern side of store entrance to western 
side of store entrance.  Approved 21.10.2010

20100703: Application for approval of conditions 3, 9, 10, 11 and 15 attached to planning 
permission reference number 20090985 relating to the materials, boundary treatments, 
external lighting, landscaping scheme and access ramp.  Approved 04.11.2010

20100729: Application for variation of condition 6 attached to planning permission 
reference number 20090985 to increase the on-site car parking provision to make full use 
of site including a disabled car parking space.  Permitted 21.10.2010

20101037: Installation of plant equipment enclosed by a timber fence. Permitted 
18.02.2011

20101040: Installation of new shopfront and window. Permitted 20.01.2011

20101041: Installation of ATM on front elevation. Permitted 25.01.2011

2011064: Application for approval of condition 14 attached to planning permission 
reference number 20090985 relating to the access to the first floor flat. Approved 
20.01.2011

20110183: Installation of automatic telling machine (ATM) on front elevation incorporating 
permission to vary conditions 3 and 4 of planning permission reference number 20101041. 
Approved 15.04.2011

20110478: Application for approval of condition 7 attached to planning permission 
reference number 20090985 relating to the Traffic Regulation Order. Approved 03.11.2011

Whitehill Open Space and Whitehall Tavern - Tesco Express

20190252: This Application 

Page 48



Pre-Application Enquiries

PRE20180175: Residential development at side and rear of Tesco Express (formerly 
Whitehill Tavern) and construction of car parking on part of Whitehill open space opposite 
Whitehill Parade.  

The conclusions in the officer response to the pre-application enquiry dated 17 May 2018 
were:

It is however clear from the above analysis that there are overriding issues of principle at 
the impact of the development on the integrity of the neighbourhood shopping centre and 
the loss of a valued green space that would weigh against the proposals and any planning 
merit that they may have. There are issues relating to the design, bulk and form of the 
development and the development to the scale proposed is likely to have a material impact 
on local privacy and amenity which would conflict with adopted policy and guidance. 

There are numerous other issues that need to be addressed particularly in relation to the 
consultation responses. 

As it stands therefore if an application were to be submitted as currently proposed it is not 
likely to receive favourable officer support notwithstanding the contribution that the 
development might make to meeting housing need requirements but that would not in itself 
be a sufficient reason to set aside the considerable planning constraints and planning 
concerns that have been identified in this assessment.

3. Proposal

The Description of the Proposal 

3.1 This planning application was described by the applicants as being for: 

Residential development of 12 units at side and rear of Tesco Express (formerly Whitehill 
Tavern) and construction of 27 bay car park on private land (formerly part of the Whitehill 
Lane open space) opposite Whitehill Parade.  

3.2 This has been correctly re-described by the Borough Council as:

Erection of 3 storey building to the rear and side of existing Tesco Express (formerly 
Whitehill Tavern PH) to provide 12 flats comprising 10 x two bedroom and 2 x three 
bedroom units; provision of play/amenity areas and private amenity space; provision of bin 
store/bike store including replacement bin store for Tesco Express and relocation of retail 
store plant to the rear flat roof of store; change of use of part of Whitehill Open Space to a 
car park for commercial and residential purposes involving the construction of 27 car 
parking spaces with vehicle turning area and with vehicular access from Whitehill Parade 
and including removal of existing layby parking.

Submitted Plans and Documents

3.3 The following documents, as revised, have been submitted to accompany the application: 

Planning Application Form, including certificates;
Design and Access Statement (ref SHE-0381 Rev 3 dated 20th March 2019);

Page 49



Drawing No SHE-0381-1 Rev P1: Site Location Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-2 Rev P: Existing Site Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-4 Rev P: Existing North and West Elevations; 
Drawing No SHE-0381-10 Rev P1: Site Plan - Roof Level;
Drawing No SHE-0381-11 Rev P1: Proposed Ground Floor and Landscaping Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-12 Rev P1: Proposed Ground Floor Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-13 Rev P1: Upper Floors and Roof Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-14 Rev P1: Proposed North and East Elevations (including Colour 
Version);
Drawing No SHE-0381-15 Rev P: Proposed South and West Elevations (including Colour 
Version);
Drawing No SHE-0381-16 Rev P: Proposed North Elevation with Existing Context 
(including Colour Version);
Drawing No SHE-0381-17 Rev P1: Car Park Plan - Proposed;

Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Assessment by Herington Consulting dated March 
2019; 
Noise Impact Assessment by Eden Green Environmental (Report EGE238 Rev C dated 
26.02.2019;
Analysis of Open Space Provision within the vicinity of Tesco Express prepared by LUC, 
March 2019;
Phase 1 Environmental Report by Contaminated Land Solutions (Report ref: 1540-P1E-1, 
dated 14 February 2018);
Whitehill Parade Lighting (ref 14391-1-A) by DW Windsor);
Transport and Servicing Statement by Eden Green Environmental (ref EGE-238 Rev B, 
dated 11.03.2019 
Existing Plant Photographs;
Air Conditioning Product Information Sheets;
 
Details of the Proposals

3.4 In respect of the site behind the Tesco Express the development would provide 12 flats 
in a three storey building each flat having private amenity space either through the use 
of balconies or private gardens.  The accommodation will be 10 no. 2 bed/4 person flats 
and 2 no. 3 bed/5 person flats.   

3.5 The density of the proposed development is stated to be 96 dwellings per hectare (12 
units in 0.125ha).  None of the units will be affordable as the number of units to be 
provided falls below the threshold in Policy CS16 (Affordable Housing) of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy which requires that for developments of 15 or 
more units in the urban area 30% of the units should be affordable housing.

3.6 In respect of the 27 car parking spaces which will be allocated for both residential and 
commercial use, 10 are for the Tesco Express customers/staff, 5 spaces for customers 
to the Whitehill Parade of shops and 12 are for future residents of the new flats.   In 
terms of the commercial spaces it is stated that these will replace the circa 6 parking 
spaces lost from the side of the Tesco Express and the 4-5 spaces from the lay-by to 
the green.  12no allocated cycle spaces for the residential units (1 per unit) will be 
provided using a Josta Vertical System in a building in front of the block of flats.

3.7 The proposed 3 storey building will have a red brick base with render upper floors and 
plain red tiled twin pitched roof with a small flat roofed central section. 

3.8 There will be communal amenity space for the flats being a communal courtyard, of 
circa 160m² that forms the entrance to the development on its north side and which will 

Page 50



be formed by a mix of hard and soft landscaping and a second shared amenity space to 
be accessed from the entrance courtyard and secured with walls, railings and fencing 
providing amenity space with a mix of hard and soft landscaping, planted areas and 
integrated seating on the west side of the proposed flats. The area is circa 235m² and 
provides a children’s play area, benches for sitting out and for general leisure use.

3.9 The existing plant serving Tesco Express which is located beyond the rear car park 
within a timber enclosure of approx. 4m x 4m size is proposed to be relocated to the top 
of the flat roofed rear extension to the Tesco Express.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Borough 
Council to determine planning applications in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are other material 
considerations, the development plan should be the starting point, and other material 
considerations should be taken into account in reaching a decision.  One such 
consideration will be whether the plan policies are relevant and up to date.  

4.2 The Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises:

 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy and Policies Map, September 2014; 
 Saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review, November1994;  and
 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (July 2016)

4.3 There are a number of other planning policy documents which are of some relevance to 
the consideration of planning applications and are material considerations, including 
national planning advice and guidance in the revised National Planning Policy Framework 
2019 (NPPF), the National Planning Practice Guidance 2014 (NPPG), and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance and other Documents adopted by the Council and, where they exist, 
relevant neighbourhood plans.  There are currently no relevant neighbourhood plans.

4.4 Previous decisions on planning applications and appeals relating to the site and relevant 
case law etc. are also capable of being material considerations.

4.5 In addition, the Council has recently published a Regulation 18 (stage 1) consultation on its 
proposed Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD, which will in due 
course form part of and update the Gravesham local plan.  Under paragraph 216 of the 
NPPF, policies in this document may be accorded weight in the decision making process 
with this varying according to its stage of preparation; the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections; and the degree of consistency of policy with those in the 
Framework.

4.6 As the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD is at a very early 
stage the policies therein can only be given very limited weight.  It should be noted, in any 
event, that many of the relevant policies reflect those set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF).

Local Planning Guidance

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014

4.7 The Core Strategy sets out the Council's spatial vision and strategic objectives for the 
Borough to 2028 and the policies which will deliver them. It identifies the main areas where 

Page 51



major change is likely to take place and allocates sites which are key to achieving the 
strategy.

4.8 The application site is shown as being within an urban area and Whitehill Parade itself is a 
local centre in the Gravesham Local Plan Policies Map.  Whitehill Lane is a local distributor 
route on the highway network. 

4.9 The following development plan policies in the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy are of 
relevance to the consideration of this planning application:

Core Strategy Policy CS01: Sustainable Development
Core Strategy Policy CS02: Scale and Distribution of Development
Core Strategy Policy CS08: Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres
Core Strategy Policy CS10: Physical and Social Infrastructure
Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport
Core Strategy Policy CS12: Green Infrastructure
Core Strategy Policy CS13: Green Space, Sport and Recreation
Core Strategy Policy CS14: Housing Type and Size
Core Strategy Policy CS15: Housing Density 
Core Strategy Policy CS18: Climate Change
Core Strategy Policy CS19: Development and Design Principles

Policy CS01 (Sustainable Development) states that planning applications that accord with 
the policies in the development plan will be approved without delay unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise and embeds the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development contained in section 2 of the NPPF in the Local Plan.  

Policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of Development) makes a commitment to meeting the 
Borough’s objectively assessed need for 6,170 new dwellings over the plan period and 
outlines where new development will take place prioritising development in the urban area 
at suitable locations and promoting regeneration by prioritising the redevelopment and 
recycling of previously developed land.

Policy CS08 (Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres) seeks to protect and enhance 
local centres. In support of this the Council will: support development of a scale and type 
appropriate to the position of the centres in the hierarchy and their character; and 
safeguard the retail character and function of existing centres by resisting development 
that would adversely affect their vitality and viability.

Policy CS10 (Physical and Social Infrastructure) supports proposals and activities that 
protect, retain or enhance existing social infrastructure.  Where there is the threat of loss of 
existing infrastructure, consideration will be given to viability and whether sufficient 
alternative provision is available.

Policy CS11 (Transport) sets out that new development should mitigate their impact on the 
highway and public transport networks as required and seeks to ensure sufficient car 
parking is provided in accordance with adopted car parking standards. 

 
Policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) indicates that all green spaces contribute to the green 
infrastructure network and that the multifunctional network of green spaces will be created, 
protected, enhanced and maintained. 

Policy CS13 (Green Space, Sport and Recreation) indicates that the Council will seek to 
make adequate provision for and protect and enhance the quantity, quality and 

Page 52



accessibility of green space in accordance with an adequate up to date and relevant 
evidence base.

Policy CS14 (Housing Type and Size) expects new housing development to provide a 
range of dwelling types and sizes, taking into account the existing character of the area 
and evidence of local need to create sustainable and balanced communities.

Policy CS15: (Housing Density) states that sites will be delivered at a variety of densities, 
depending on their location and accessibility to public transport. It states that all new 
housing will be developed at a density that is consistent with achieving good design and 
does not compromise the distinctive character of the area in which it is situated. Subject to 
this overriding consideration, within the urban area, new residential development will be 
expected to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare.

Policy CS18 (Climate Change) requires new development to reduce the causes and 
impacts of flooding, minimise impacts on waste water systems, reduce impact on the 
supply of potable water and reduce the overall carbon footprint of the Borough.

Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) sets out detailed criteria against which 
the acceptability or otherwise of proposed development will be evaluated.  In particular it 
requires new development to be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive.  It 
should conserve and enhance the character of the local built, historic and natural 
environment, integrate well with the surrounding local area and meet anti-crime standards. 
The design, layout and form of new development will be derived from a robust analysis of 
local context and character and make a positive contribution to the street scene and to the 
character of the area.

It requires account to be taken of the scale, height, building lines, layout, materials and 
other architectural features of adjoining buildings and of the wider context including 
features of townscape and landscape value, which contribute to local character and sense 
of place.

It requires new development to be located, designed and constructed to safeguard the 
amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land and avoid adverse environmental impacts from pollution. 

New residential development is required to accord with the adopted Residential Layout 
Guidelines and will be required to provide appropriate levels of private and public amenity 
space.

Proposals should include details of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, protect and 
where opportunities arise enhance biodiversity and provide appropriate facilities for the 
storage and disposal of waste. 

Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994

4.10 The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was originally adopted in November 1994.

4.11 A substantial number of policies of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review were saved by 
a Direction dated 25 September 2007 of the Secretary of State under paragraph 1 (3) of 
Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as transitional 
arrangements pending adoption of the Core Strategy.

4.12 Those Local Plan First Review policies that remain in force are listed in Appendix 1 of the 
Local Plan Core Strategy.  The remaining saved policies will be replaced following the 

Page 53



adoption of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document.

4.13 The following remaining saved policies are relevant to the consideration of this proposal:

Policy T1: Impact of Development on the Highway Network
Policy T5: New Accesses onto Highway Network
Policy P3: Vehicle Parking Standards
Policy LT6: Additional Open Space in New Housing Development 

Saved Policy T1 requires that all proposed developments are adequately served by the 
highway network identified on the Proposals Map.

Saved Policy T5 requires that the formation of new accesses or the intensification of use of 
existing accesses to the roads forming the highway network shown on the Proposals Map, 
will not normally be permitted, except where no danger would arise and where a properly 
formed access can be created in a location and to a standard acceptable to the Local 
Planning and Highway Authorities.

Saved Policy P3 requires development to make provision for vehicle parking, in 
accordance with the Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards, as interpreted by 
Gravesham Borough Council, unless justified as an exception. All vehicle parking provision 
should normally be made on the development site.

Saved Policy LT6 requires new housing development to make provision for open space 
and play space, having regard to the proximity of the development to open space in the 
vicinity.

Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation Part 2: Development 
Management Policies Document April 2018

4.15 The following draft policies are relevant to the consideration of this application: 

Proposed Policy DM 21: Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Retention
Proposed Policy DM 26: Residential Space Standards
Proposed Policy DM 34: Contaminated Land
Proposed Policy DM 35: Light Pollution
Proposed Policy DM 37: Noise and Vibration

Policy DM 21: Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Retention states:

Change of use or redevelopment of existing open spaces, indoor sports facilities or playing 
pitches and disused/lapsed school or college playing fields will only be allowed if the 
applicant demonstrates that:

a. the loss will be mitigated by equivalent replacement provision (in terms of quality, 
quantity and accessibility); or

b.  the development is for alternative sports/recreational use for which there is a greater 
need; or

c. the current use will be retained and enhanced through the provision of limited enabling 
development.

In addition to the above, the redevelopment of private or public open space will not be 
permitted where there would be a significant individual or cumulative loss of open space or 

Page 54



where there would be a negative impact on amenity, character and appearance, ecological 
connectivity or biodiversity of an area.

Other Material Considerations

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.16 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) March 2012, and revised July 2018 and 
February 2019, has replaced all the national planning policy guidance (PPG’s) and 
statements (PPS’s) and is a material consideration.

4.17 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (NPPF 
2018 -  paragraph 11) which means approving development proposals that accord with the 
development plan without delay and where there are no relevant development plan policies 
or where the policies are out of date planning permission should be granted unless policies 
of the Framework provide a clear reason for refusing the development such as where land 
is designated as Green Belt or any adverse impacts would so significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits or specific policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

4.18 The NPPF includes (in paragraph 8) three overarching objectives to achieving sustainable 
development:

 an economic objective; 
 a social objective; and
 an environmental objective. 

4.19 Numerous sections of the NPPF are directly relevant to the consideration of this 
development.  The following paragraphs are specifically highlighted as being of importance 
to the consideration of the proposals, but it should not be taken that these are the only 
parts of the NPPF that need to be considered.

Section 2, Paragraphs 7 - 14: Achieving sustainable development

Paragraph 8, advises that achieving sustainable development means that the planning   
system has three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be 
pursued in mutually supportive ways. The social objective is to support strong, vibrant and 
healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be 
provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect 
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being.

Section 4, Paragraphs 38 - 58: Decision Making 

Paragraph 47 indicates that applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraphs 54-57 of the NPPF contain advice on planning conditions and obligations. 
Paragraph 55 indicates that conditions should be kept to a minimum and only be imposed 
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.

Section 5, Paragraphs 59 - 79: Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Paragraph 59 indicates that to support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting 
the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come 

Page 55



forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements 
are addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay.

Paragraph 68 (c) requires local planning authorities to support the development of windfall 
sites.

Section 8, Paragraphs 91 - 101: Promoting healthy and safe communities

Paragraph 91 advises that planning decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and 
safe places which:

(a) promote social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people who 
might not otherwise come into contact with each other – for example through mixed-use 
developments, strong neighbourhood centres, street layouts that allow for easy pedestrian 
and cycle connections within and between neighbourhoods, and active street frontages;

(b) are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion – for example through the use of clear 
and legible pedestrian routes, and high quality public space, which encourage the active 
and continual use of public areas; and

(c) enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address identified 
local health and well-being needs – for example through the provision of safe and 
accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access to healthier food, 
allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling.

Paragraph 92, requires planning decisions to plan positively for the provision and use of 
community facilities such as open space, to enhance the sustainability of communities and 
residential environments.  The policy also seeks to: ensure that established shops are able 
to develop and modernise and are retained for the benefit of the community; and to ensure 
an integrated approach to considering the location of houses, economic uses and 
community facilities and services.

Paragraph 96 recognises the importance of high quality open space for the health and 
well-being of communities and requires planning policies to be based on robust and up-to-
date assessments of the need for open space. Information gained from the assessments 
should be used to determine which open space is needed, which plans should then seek to 
accommodate.

Paragraph 97 advises that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

(a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

(b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or

(c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

Section 9, Paragraphs 102-111: Promoting Sustainable Transport

Paragraph 108 indicates that in assessing specific applications for development, it should 
be ensured that:

Page 56



a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or have 
been – taken up, given the type of development and its location;
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and
c) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 
capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an 
acceptable degree.

Paragraph 109 advises that development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.

Paragraph 110, requires applications to be designed to enable charging of plug-in and 
other ultra-low emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations.

Section 11, Paragraphs 117 - 123: Making effective use of land

Paragraph 117, requires planning decisions to promote an effective use of land in meeting 
the need for homes and other uses, whilst safeguarding and approving the environment 
and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions.

Paragraph 122, requires planning decisions to support development that makes efficient 
use of land, taking into account the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing 
character and setting, or of promoting regeneration and change.

Paragraph 123, requires applications to make efficient use of land. In this context, a flexible 
approach is required in applying policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight as 
long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards.

Section 12, Paragraphs 124 - 132: Achieving well-designed places

Paragraph 124 advises that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities.  It regards the effective engagement between applicants, communities, local 
planning authorities and other interested parties as essential for achieving good design and 
the creation of high quality buildings and places.

Paragraph 127 indicates that, amongst other things, planning policies and decisions should 
ensure that developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and 
appropriate and effective landscaping, and are sympathetic to local character and history, 
including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation or change

Paragraph 128, requires applicants to work closely with those affected by their proposals to 
evolve designs that take account of the views of the community. It states that applications 
that can demonstrate early, proactive and effective engagement with the community should 
be looked on more favourably than those that cannot.

Paragraph 129, requires local authorities to ensure that they have access to and make 
appropriate use of tools and processes for assessing and approving the design of 
development. They should have regard to the outcome of these processes, including any 
recommendations made by design review panels.

Page 57



Paragraph 130, states that permission should be refused for development of poor design 
that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an 
area

Section 14, Paragraphs 148 - 169: Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding 
and Coastal Change 

This sets out (amongst other things) national policy in relation to flood risk.  This should be 
read in conjunction with the relevant sections of National Planning Practice Guidance 
(NPPG 2014) and the Environment Agency Flood Risk Standing Advice available on line 
via https://www.gov.uk/flood-risk-standing-advice-frsa-for-local-planning-authorities

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.20 On the 6th of March 2014 a new web-based resource for Planning Practice Guidance was 
launched (http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/). It supports and clarifies areas in 
the NPPF and replaces a substantial list of guidance documents published from 1978-
2013.

4.21 It contains guidance on assessing housing need; design; public consultation; open space 
provision in new development; travel plans, transport assessments and statements in 
decision-taking; health and wellbeing; water supply, wastewater and water quality; light 
pollution; determining a planning application; the use of planning conditions and viability, 
amongst other things.

4.22 The NPPG gives guidance on what is a material planning consideration in determining a 
planning application indicating that the impact of a development on the value of a 
neighbouring property or loss of private rights to light could not be material considerations.

4.23 The NPPG includes more detailed advice on the use of planning conditions (replacing the 
cancelled Circular 11/95).  

Supplementary Planning Guidance and other Documents
     
4.24 The Council has adopted a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance documents, 

Development Briefs and Conservation Area Appraisals.  These elaborate on saved policies 
in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review and policies in the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy and are material considerations in determining planning applications.  

4.25 In addition the Council has adopted a number of documents that have been produced by 
Kent County Council also as Supplementary Guidance.

4.26 The following documents are relevant to the consideration of this application:

 Kent Design Guide published as SPG5 and adopted in July, 2006;
 Kent Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG 4 published in 2003 and adopted in 2006);
 GBC Residential Layout Guidelines, SPG2, February 1996;
 Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015;
 Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards.

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/flood-risk-standing-advice-frsa-for-local-planning-authorities
http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/


Other Relevant Council Documents

4.27 Also of relevance are the published Gravesham Open Space, Sport & Recreation 
Assessment, Strategy & Action Plan which has two components being the technical based 
assessments and the Strategy/Standards.  

Of particular relevance are:

 Knight, Kavanagh & Page GBC Open Space Assessment Report, April 2016
 Knight, Kavanagh & Page GBC Open Space Standards Paper, August 2016

The above documents provide strategic evidence on what open space, sports and 
recreational provision is needed within Gravesham and will be used to inform the 
development of planning policies, including the need for supplementary planning 
documents. This is carried out in order to inform future planning application decisions and 
future corporate/strategic development opportunities as and when they arise.

5. Consultations Publicity and Representations 

Consultations 

GBC Planning Policy

5.1 The three principal issues (from a planning policy viewpoint) to be considered in the 
determination of this planning application are:

 Principle of the Development;
 Design; and
 Open Space.

Principle of the Development
 
5.2 The application site lies within the urban area, within a local retail centre and in a wider 

residential area. Policy CS02 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, 2014, 
prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for development. It 
seeks to achieve this by promoting regeneration by prioritising redevelopment and 
recycling of previously developed land. The Tesco site is previously developed land and 
the principle of residential development thus conforms with policy CS02 in relation to 
that part of the application. The open space site is not previously developed land and 
the proposed car park therefore fails to conform with policy CS02 of the Core Strategy.

 
5.3 Paragraph 85 of the NPPF allows for a suitable mix of uses in centres and for 

residential development on appropriate sites. Paragraph 92, seeks an integrated 
approach to the location of housing, economic uses and community facilities and 
services in support of the promotion of healthy and safe communities. Again, the 
principle of locating housing development in a local retail centre is in conformity with 
paragraphs 85 and 92 of the NPPF.

 
5.4 However, it should be noted that paragraph 85 is qualified by requiring residential 

development to be located on appropriate sites. Whilst some form of residential 
development may be appropriate on this site, is this particular proposal appropriate?

 

Page 59



5.5 The answer to this question will depend on the scale of development, its impact on the 
vitality and viability of the retail units, particularly Tesco Express, its impact on the 
amenity of surrounding residents, its impact on the character of the surrounding area 
and its impact on existing open space. All these issues are addressed in the following 
paragraphs.

Design
 
5.6 Paragraph 129 of the NPPF, requires local authorities to ensure that they have regard 

to the processes for assessing the design of development. In Gravesham, the 
appropriate process is undertaken by the Design South East Design Surgery. A pre-
application scheme was considered by the Design Surgery and its views can be 
regarded as applicable to the current proposal. The comments can be summarised as 
follows:
 Some efforts have been made to mitigate the impact on neighbouring homes  but 

we are not convinced by them;
 We support the Council’s view that the area proposed for car parking should remain 

as open space and public access should be restored. The triangular space provides 
a “village green” for the neighbourhood and for the shops and houses surrounding it. 
Its partial loss for a car park would undermine this quality;

 The layby parking spaces opposite the shop should be sufficient to meet the parking 
needs of the shop;

 Unusually shaped east-facing balconies which are “fenced” where they face 
neighbouring properties is not the best solution to the privacy/overlooking problem. 
More generous balconies, facing west to catch the evening sun would be better;

 The arrival into the communal garden is good but the journey to the front door for 
the ground floor flats is poor;

 The constrained site means that some ground floor flats have a view of a slope and 
fencing;

 Fewer flats (say 6 or 7) and one less storey, would make delivery of a quality 
scheme much easier and could accommodate all of its parking on site.

 
5.7 Consideration will need to be given to determine whether the problems of overlooking 

and overshadowing have been overcome by the introduction of angled windows and 
balconies and balcony screening and whether the resulting design changes are 
acceptable. Likewise, a Servicing and Delivery Report has been submitted with the 
application and it will need to be determined whether this will help to offset the loss of 
the servicing area for the supermarket.

5.8 In the light of the design objections of Design South East, it is considered that the 
proposal fails to meet the requirements of policy CS19 of the Core Strategy for 
development:
 to be visually attractive;
 to make a positive contribution to the street scene;
 to conserve and enhance the character of the area;
 to integrate well with the surrounding local area;
 to take into account the design characteristics of adjoining buildings ;
 to avoid adverse environmental impacts from pollution, including noise, air and 

odour and light pollution
 to provide the appropriate levels of private and public amenity space; and
 to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its  occupants 

and those of neighbouring properties.

Page 60



5.9 Furthermore, the bulk and massing of the proposed development and its overall design 
conflict with policy CS19, insofar as it is not apparent how the design, layout and form 
has been derived from a robust analysis of local context and character.

 
5.10 At the national level, the Design Panel comments suggest that the proposal does not 

meet the requirements of paragraphs 92, 97, 117, 122 and 127 of the NPPF insofar as 
it;
 fails to plan positively for the provision and use of community facilities such as open 

space;
 proposes to build on existing open space; fails to safeguard and improve the 

environment;
 fails to maintain the area’s prevailing character and setting; and
 is not sympathetic to local character, fails to maintain a strong sense of place and 

does not optimise the potential to accommodate an appropriate amount and mix of 
development including green spaces.

 
5.11 No evidence has been put forward in the submitted Design Statement that the applicant 

has engaged the local community at the pre-application stage or taken into account 
their views in the evolution of the design, contrary to the requirements of paragraph 128 
of the NPPF.

Open Space
 
5.12 Both national and local policies recognise the value of open space for the contribution it 

makes towards the amenity and health of the population. Consequently, planning 
policies and decisions are required to make provision for open space and to protect 
existing open space.

 
5.13 The application proposes to develop on the existing open space at Whitehill Lane in 

order to provide a car park to meet the needs of the proposed housing, replace lost 
parking and to serve the local shops. Any decision regarding this proposal will need to 
be made in the context of policy CS13 of the Core Strategy, paragraphs 96 and 97 of 
the NPPF and the findings of the Gravesham Open Space, Sport and Recreation Study, 
2016.

 
5.14 Policy CS13, seeks to protect and enhance the quantity, quality and accessibility of 

open space in accordance with an adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence base. 
The 2016 Study provides that evidence.

 
5.15 Paragraph 96 of the NPPF requires planning policies to be based on robust and up-to-

date assessments of the need for open space. Again, the 2016 Study provides that 
assessment.

 
5.16 Paragraph 97 sets out the circumstances in which development of open space may be 

permitted, namely that:
 an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space to be 

surplus to requirements; or
 the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 

or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or
 the development is for alternative sports and recreation provision, the benefits of 

which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.
 

Page 61



5.17 Given that the proposal is not for alternative sports and recreation provision and no 
replacement open space is proposed, the main issue, in relation to paragraph 97, is 
whether the open space is surplus to requirements.

 
5.18 The Council’s Open Space Assessment Report, 2016, identified Whitehill Lane as an 

amenity greenspace. It identified the primary purpose of amenity greenspaces as 
providing opportunities for informal activities close to home or work or enhancement of 
the appearance of residential or other areas.

 
5.19 Although Whitehill Lane was categorised as good quality amenity open space but of 

poor value, the Council’s Open Space Standards Paper recommended that all open 
space should be protected as a starting point due to current deficiencies and the 
identification of additional future needs. It did not identify the Whitehill Lane site as 
being surplus to requirements.

 
5.20 The submitted Design and Access Statement states that there is an existing restriction 

on the land proposed for the car park for it to be used only for open space or car 
parking. This may be a legal restriction imposed by the land owner, but it is not a result 
of a planning policy or a condition attached to a planning permission. It should be 
disregarded in the consideration of the current planning application.

 
5.21 The Design Statement claims that the open space was designated as public amenity 

greenspace in the Open Space Standards Paper. The site was not identified as “public 
amenity greenspace”, simply “amenity greenspace” in the Assessment Report. No 
distinction between public and private open space was made in the documents.

 
5.22 The Design Statement points out that the land for the proposed car park is now private 

land and no longer accessible to the public. This does not affect its status as amenity 
greenspace, which does not need to be accessible to the public for it to provide visual 
amenity for local residents. It should be pointed out that neither the NPPF nor the Core 
Strategy refer to “public” open space. No distinction is drawn between the two. The 
glossary to the NPPF defines open space as all open space of public value. Open 
space can be valued by the public without public ownership.

 
5.23 The applicant has commissioned consultants, LUC, to provide evidence that the site is 

surplus to requirements. LUC concluded that the loss of the open space will not result in 
the amount of amenity greenspace in the Wards of Whitehill and Singlewell falling below 
the standard set out in the Open Space Assessment and will not have any detrimental 
impact on local residents’ accessibility to amenity greenspace.

 
5.24 As pointed out above, accessibility is not a factor when the open space provides a 

visual amenity. Furthermore, the Council’s Open Space documents make no 
recommendations for the disposal of amenity greenspace in areas where the provision 
is above the standards set out. Their studies are based on two large study areas, urban 
and rural, rather than on a much smaller ward basis.

 
5.25 The LUC report draws attention to the fact that the Open Space Assessment Report 

found that the open space had a lower than the average value threshold. The 
Assessment Report states that amenity greenspaces have a slightly higher proportion of 
low value provision. It found that this reflects a lack of ancillary features at some sites, 
leading to a comparative lack of recreational use. However, the value that these open 
spaces provides in offering a visual and recreational amenity, as well as a break in the 
built form, can still be important. It should be concluded that such importance should be 
attributed to the Whitehill Lane amenity greenspace.

 

Page 62



5.26 Taking both the housing and car parking sites together, the proposed development 
would result in a net deficit of open space on the application site, contrary to policy 
CS13, which seeks to enhance the quantity of green space, policy CS19, which requires 
the provision of the appropriate levels of private and public amenity space, and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF, which requires development to optimise the potential to 
accommodate an appropriate amount and mix of development, including green and 
other public space.

Additional Comments
 
5.27 The proposal fails to meet the requirements of paragraph 110 of the NPPF because no 

provision has been made to enable charging of plug-in vehicles in safe, accessible and 
convenient locations.

 
5.28 Paragraph 12 of the NPPF, states that where a planning application conflicts with an up-

to-date development plan, permission should not usually be granted. The development 
plan is up-to-date and evidence shows that the proposal conflicts with its policies.

 
5.29 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF states that permission should be refused for development 

of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character 
and quality of an area and the way it functions. In the light of the foregoing paragraphs 
and other evidence, consideration will need to be given as to whether there are any 
opportunities available to improve the character and quality of the area and if so, 
whether those opportunities have been taken.

GBC Leisure Manager

5.30 The main issue from a leisure perspective relates to the actual loss of amenity 
greenspace. Paragraph 97 of the NPPF states that existing open space, sports and 
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

(a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or, 
(b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent 
or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or 
(c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

5.31 The 2016 Open Space Assessment, undertaken by consultants Knight, Kavanagh & 
Page (KKP), does not highlight that the site or part of the site is surplus to requirements.  
Although labelled as high quality, these types of open spaces are generally highway 
verge style sites which are small in size but lacking noticeable features thus their low 
value rating. These types of site are still recognised as providing some visual amenity to 
their locality and it is important to note that the main role of certain sites is to simply act 
as a grassed area, providing breaks in the urban form. The preferred policy approach to 
a space in this category should be to enhance its value in terms of its present primary 
purpose. 

5.32 It is noted that the applicant has provided an open space assessment with the 
application produced by LUC. However, this document makes reference to sites that it 
believes should have been included within the original 2016 KKP Open Space 
Assessment. These sites were originally calculated to have been under the threshold of 
0.20 HA as individual parcels of land and so were not included in the calculations of 
amenity greenspace provision e.g. Christian Fields Avenue and Mungo Park.  The LUC 

Page 63



assessment also highlights Truro Road Amenity Greenspace as not being included 
within the original Open Space Assessment, of which we believe it is. Therefore, there 
is little evidence to suggest that this particular site at Whitehill Lane is surplus to 
requirements when set against the overall availability of green space within the area. It 
is also this team’s view that by locating a car park on part of the grassed site for 
residential and commercial parking will not improve the primary purpose, or improve the 
quality or value of the open space, no matter whether it is privately or publicly owned.

GBC - Horticultural Services Manager

5.33 I have reviewed the application and have the following comments:

 With regards to the suitability of the application I agree with the comments made by 
the Leisure Team - Communities Directorate; I don’t believe that the site is surplus 
to requirements when set against the overall availability of green space within the 
area.

 However and with regards to the landscape plan submitted, the trees chosen for the 
scheme; Prunus fruticosa Globosa and Corylus colurna are an excellent choice 
based on their shape, form and ultimate size.  They will soften the scheme whilst not 
impacting the new buildings / parking area.

 Whilst there will be a loss of amenity grass to accommodate the parking area, the 
scheme does introduce 5 new trees and a small yew hedge to this area which will 
be beneficial to wildlife.

 Ideally, it would have been nice to see some native planting as part of the scheme.

Sport England (SE Region)

5.34 The proposed development does not fall within either our statutory remit (Statutory 
Instrument 2015/595), or non-statutory remit (National Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) 
Par. 003 Ref. ID: 37-003-20140306), therefore Sport England has not provided a 
detailed response in this case, but would wish to give the following advice to aid the 
assessment of this application. General guidance and advice can however be found on 
our website: www.sportengland.org/planningapplications 

5.35 If the proposal involves the loss of any sports facility then full consideration should be 
given to whether the proposal meets Par. 97 of National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), link below, is in accordance with local policies to protect social infrastructure 
and any approved Playing Pitch Strategy or Built Sports Facility Strategy that the local 
authority has in place.

5.36 If the proposal involves the provision of a new sports facility, then consideration should 
be given to the recommendations and priorities set out in any approved Playing Pitch 
Strategy or Built Sports Facility Strategy that the local authority may have in place. In 
addition, to ensure they are fit for purpose, such facilities should be designed in 
accordance with Sport England, or the relevant National Governing Body, design 
guidance notes:
http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/ 

5.37 If the proposal involves the provision of additional housing (then it will generate 
additional demand for sport. If existing sports facilities do not have the capacity to 

Page 64

http://www.sportengland.org/planningapplications
http://sportengland.org/facilities-planning/tools-guidance/design-and-cost-guidance/


absorb the additional demand, then new and/or improved sports facilities should be 
secured and delivered in accordance with any approved local policy for social 
infrastructure, and priorities set out in any Playing Pitch Strategy or Built Sports Facility 
Strategy that the local authority has in place.

5.38 In line with the Government’s NPPF (including Section 8) and PPG (Health and 
wellbeing section), consideration should also be given to how any new development, 
especially for new housing, will provide opportunities for people to lead healthy lifestyles 
and create healthy communities. Sport England’s Active Design guidance can be used 
to help with this when developing or assessing a proposal. Active Design provides ten 
principles to help ensure the design and layout of development encourages and 
promotes participation in sport and physical activity.

NPPF Section 8: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/8-
promoting-healthy-communities 
PPG Health and wellbeing section: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/health-and-wellbeing
Sport England’s Active Design Guidance: https://www.sportengland.org/activedesign

Kent Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor

5.39 We have considered this application in regard to Crime Prevention Through 
Environmental Design (CPTED) in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). Design and Access Statements should demonstrate the design 
helps create an accessible and safe environment while minimising crime and disorder 
and fear of crime. The Kent Design for Crime Prevention, CPTED and Secured by 
Design (SBD) - www.kent.police.uk/advice/businesses/planners-and-developers/ are all 
available on line. SBD is the official UK Police flagship initiative combining the principles 
of designing out crime with physical security. 

5.40 Applicants/agents should consult a local Designing out Crime Officer (DOCO) or 
suitably qualified security specialist to help design out the opportunity for crime, fear of 
crime, Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), nuisance and conflict.  

5.41 Having reviewed the on line plans and documents for this revised scheme, previously 
under planning application number 20180175, we note the applicant/agent has 
addressed many of our previous concerns detailed in my letter dated 13th April 2018 
under planning application number 20180175, within section 8.0 Security and Crime 
prevention included within the Design and Access Statement (DAS) for this application 
20190252.  

5.42 The Physical Protection section states: 

“All accessible windows to be certified to BS 7950 or PAS 24 (2012) – all including 
window restrictors. The double glazed units will have the outer 6.4mm pane laminated.” 

5.43 The applicant/agent may wish to note that these specifications have been superseded 
and all main entrance/exit doorsets and vulnerable windows should be certified to 
PAS24:2016 as detailed in the newly released Secured By Design (SBD) Homes 2019.  
The Surveillance section states:  

“Communal entrances will incorporate audio entry panels as an additional layer of 
security.” 

Page 65

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/8-promoting-healthy-communities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/8-promoting-healthy-communities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/health-and-wellbeing
https://www.sportengland.org/activedesign
http://www.kent.police.uk/advice/businesses/planners-and-developers/


5.44 A full audio visual access control system will be required, as detailed in SBD Homes 
2019. 

5.45 It is also important that postal delivery is carefully considered. As per my previous 
response: 

“Mail delivery: A through the wall mail system into the lobby is strongly recommended if 
space allows, as they do not require access for anyone delivering mail. If there is 
insufficient space and mailboxes are to be installed inside the lobby area, then an 
access controlled air lock should be incorporated in to the design, to prevent non-
residents from accessing the stair core. External mailboxes are discouraged as they are 
more vulnerable, however if they are to be specified, they should ideally be TS009 
security rated as an additional layer of security.” 

5.46 We welcome a meeting or discussion with the applicant/agent about site specific 
designing out crime.  If this application is to be approved we request that a Condition or 
Informative be included to show a clear audit trail for Design for Crime Prevention and 
Community Safety and meet our and Local Authority statutory duties under Section 17 
of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

5.47 A development that achieves SBD accreditation, demonstrates that security has been 
addressed. If the applicant/agent intends to apply for SBD they are strongly advised to 
contact us before completing the application form.  

5.48 To meet SBD requirements, doorsets and windows must be tested and certified by an 
SBD recognised third party certification authority. Approved Document Q building 
regulations for doorset and window specifications only require testing to PAS 24 2016.  

Kent Fire and Rescue Service

5.49 The means of access is considered satisfactory 

KCC - Sustainable Drainage Engineer

5.50 In principle, we have no objection to the proposed drainage design. However, in order to 
confirm the viability of permeable surfacing, we would emphasize that ground 
investigation will be required to support the use of infiltration.  It is recommended that 
soakage tests be compliant with BRE 365, notably the requirement to fill the test pit 
several times.  Detailed design should utilise a modified infiltrate rate and demonstrate 
that any permeable surfacing will have an appropriate half drain time.

5.51 Drainage calculations show minimal flooding at the 100 year critical event +40% climate 
change. Where there is any exceedance of the drainage network above the 30 year 
event, an exceedance plan should be provided illustrating where exceedance occurs 
and the extent and depth of flooding. Exceedance must be controlled within the site 
boundary.

5.52 At detailed design, we would request details and drawings regarding the pond design, 
including cross sections and freeboard.

5.53 Should your local authority be minded to grant permission for this development, we 
would recommend the following conditions:

Page 66



Condition:

Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the 
local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the Flood
Risk Assessment, (Herrington Consulting Ltd, March 2019) and shall demonstrate that 
the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities 
up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can be 
accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of the site without increase to flood 
risk on or off-site.

The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published guidance):
• That silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to 
ensure there is no pollution risk to receiving waters.
• Appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage 
feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed 
arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker.

The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the 
disposal of surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the 
risk of on/off site flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required 
prior to the commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the 
proposal, the approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the 
rest of the development.

Condition:

No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the 
development hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report pertaining to 
the surface water drainage system, carried out by a suitably qualified professional, has 
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority which demonstrates the suitable 
modelled operation of the drainage system such that flood risk is appropriately 
managed, as approved by the Lead Local Flood Authority. The Report shall contain 
information and evidence (including photographs) of earthworks; details and locations of 
inlets, outlets and control structures; extent of planting; details of materials utilised in 
construction including subsoil, topsoil, aggregate and membrane liners; full as built 
drawings; topographical survey of ‘as constructed’ features; and an operation and 
maintenance manual for the sustainable drainage scheme as constructed.

Reason: To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant 
with and subsequently maintained pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Southern Water

5.54 The exact position of the public sewers must be determined on site by the applicant 
before the layout of the proposed development is finalised. No development or new tree 
planting should be located within 3 metres either side of the external edge of the public 
sewer and all existing infrastructure should be protected during the course of 

Page 67



construction works.  No new soakaways should be located within 5 metres of a public 
sewer. 

5.55 Furthermore, due to changes in legislation that came in to force on 1st October 2011 
regarding the future ownership of sewers it is possible that a sewer now deemed to be  
public could be crossing the above property. Therefore, should any sewer be found 
during construction works, an investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its 
condition, the number of properties served, and potential means of access before any 
further works commence on site. The applicant is advised to discuss the matter further 
with Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire 
SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk”

 
5.56 Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public foul sewer to 

be made by the applicant or developer. We request that should this application receive 
planning approval, the following informative is attached to the consent: 

A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order to 
service this development, please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, 
Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or 
www.southernwater.co.uk.  Please read our New Connections Services Charging 
Arrangements documents which has now been published and is available to read on 
our website via the following link https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges

 
5.57 The planning application form makes reference to drainage using Sustainable Urban 

Drainage Systems (SUDS).   Under current legislation and guidance SUDS rely upon 
facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers. Therefore, the applicant will 
need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long term maintenance of the SUDS 
facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in perpetuity. 
Good management will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water system, which 
may result in the inundation of the foul sewerage system.  

5.58 Thus, where a SUDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage details submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority should: 
- Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SUDS scheme 
- Specify a timetable for implementation 
- Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.  

5.59 This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme 
throughout its lifetime.

5.60 It is the responsibility of the developer to make suitable provision for the disposal of 
surface water. Part H3 of the Building Regulations prioritises the means of surface 
water disposal in the order 
a       Adequate soakaway or infiltration system 
b       Water course 
c        Where neither of the above is practicable sewer 

5.61 Southern Water supports this stance and seeks through appropriate Planning 
Conditions to ensure that appropriate means of surface water disposal are proposed for 
each development. It is important that discharge to sewer occurs only where this is 
necessary and where adequate capacity exists to serve the development. When it is 
proposed to connect to a public sewer the prior approval of Southern Water is required. 

Page 68

http://www.southernwater.co.uk/
http://www.southernwater.co.uk/
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges


5.62 The proposed development would lie within a Source Protection Zone around one of 
Southern Water's public water supply sources as defined under the Environment 
Agency’s Groundwater Protection Policy. Southern Water will rely on your consultations 
with the Environment Agency to ensure the protection of the public water supply source.

GBC - Waste & Recycling Manager

5.63 I can confirm that I cannot see any problems with accessing the bin store as it is located 
close to the public highway.

 
5.64 The following provision is required for the domestic properties

• Refuse - 1 x 1100ltr bin per 6 flats
• Recycling – 1 x 1100ltr bin per 6 flats with special recycling lid
• Food Waste – 1 x 140ltr bin per 10 flats with an individual 5ltr caddy per flat

5.65 The immediate area outside the bin store should be level with the road, should not 
include an incline and the installation of a drop kerb where necessary is mandatory.  
Car parking spaces should not be allocated immediately in front of the access to the bin 
store.  It is recommended that bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via a 
key or a key code pad.

5.66 Developers are welcome to purchase their own 1100ltr bins however the bins must be 
metal and comply with European Standard EN840.

5.67 Collections from sites will not occur until containers are in place.  It is the responsibility 
of the developer to collect and remove any waste at their cost until the Council is 
satisfied that all waste requirements have been met.  All complaints in regard to non-
collection due to the fault of the developer will be passed onto to the developer for 
response.

5.68 The Council should be informed at least two weeks prior to collections taking place.

Kent County Council Highways and Transportation Services 

5.69 The site is located on Whitehill Parade which is a one way road connecting Whitehill 
Lane to Jellicoe Avenue. The Parade comprises a terrace of two storey buildings of 
ground floor retail with residential units above. Parking is available at the front of the 
properties and a layby for approximately 6 cars is available opposite the Parade on the 
southern side of the open space. Tesco Express has customer parking to the west of 
the site.

5.70 The proposal seeks residential development to the side and rear of Tesco Express, and 
the construction of a car park on part of Whitehill open space.  I note that the car park 
area was subject to a planning application (reference 20180867) in September 2018, 
which was refused due to four reasons which included failure to justify the need for the 
additional car parking spaces, the impact on the local highway network, and lack of 
information relating to details of design and layout failing to comply with Supplementary 
Planning Guidance 4 (SPG4) parking standards.

5.71 The proposal involves the provision of 12 (10 x 2 bed and 2 x 3 bed) residential units to 
the west and rear of the Tesco Express resulting in the removal of the parking area. 
Therefore, 27 parking spaces are proposed on the southern part of Whitehill open 

Page 69



space (15 retail unallocated and 12 residential allocated).  Access to the parking area is 
approximately 25 metres from Whitehill Lane. Visibility splays of 2.4 metres x 18 metres 
will need to be illustrated at the access.  It appears that parking spaces encroach on the 
splays.

5.72 The highway boundary will need to be checked to ascertain whether the parking area to 
the east encroaches on public highway. In addition, the status of the existing layby will 
need to be established. This will need to be ascertained from KCC Highway Definitions 
Team.

5.73 Entry and egress of parking space 1 (residential) and 15 (retail) would be hindered by 
the curvature of the site boundary. Vehicle tracking indicates that vehicles would be 
able to enter the spaces, but there is not sufficient space to be able to perform a 
manoeuvre to turn within the site. Parking space 9 (residential) has limited 
manoeuvrability, and I am unsure how vehicles would be able to access the space.

5.74 An electric charging point is proposed for space 9 (residential), but again, I am unsure 
how this would be sufficiently accessed.  An electric charging point is proposed adjacent 
to space 1 (residential). I question the merit of providing electric charging points for the 
retail parking element, as these are likely to be utilised for a short duration. 
Consideration should be given to providing accessible provision for the residential 
parking spaces.

5.75 The main access barriers are approximately 3 metres from the highway. This would not 
be sufficient space for a vehicle to exit the highway while the barriers open. The 
southern boundary of the car park fronting Whitehill Lane contains a streetlight that 
appears to have been replaced by a tree.  A distance of 4 metres is usually required 
between a column and a new tree.

5.76 A pedestrian gate is proposed on the western side of the car park, to provide access to 
the residential units.  There is no footway in this location, meaning that pedestrians 
would step directly into the highway.  When entering the gate, pedestrians would have 
to operate the gate from the highway.  As this is located on a bend, I am concerned 
about the safety of pedestrians in this location.

5.77 In line with the above, I require further details and amendments to be made to the layout 
of the parking before I can deem it to be acceptable.  Further details / amendments are 
required as follows:

 Disabled space 9 encroaches on the visibility splay;
 Clarification of the Highway boundary required
 Insufficient manoeuvrability for space 1, 9 (residential) and 15 (retail)
 Electric charging points should be reconsidered
 Distance between access barriers and highway is not sufficient
 Streetlight column has not been identified on the southern boundary
 Pedestrian footway should be considered at the gates

GBC Highways Development Management Officer 

5.78 The pre-application and application car park layouts are different and raise some issues 
that have not previously been considered: 

Page 70



1. The parking aisle extends further towards Whitehill Lane and now encroaches on 
what appears to be public footway, which forms part of the public highway.  
2. The revised cul-de-sac ends of the parking layout would make access/egress spaces 
1 (residential), 14 and 15 (Tesco) difficult if not impossible without a lengthy reverse and 
then there is no turning area for the Tesco element of the car parking except an empty 
space. 
3. Residential spaces 9 to 11 may encroach on highway margin. 
4. Parking space 9 has limited manoeuvring space and no turning space 
5. The parking spaces closest to Whitehill Parade appear to have moved slightly and 
now encroach in the visibility splay for the access. 
6. The pedestrian gate to the car park would benefit from a footway being provided so 
pedestrians do not step out directly onto the carriageway and this would also improve 
visibility of approach vehicles. 
7. The car park must be adequately drained so no surface water discharges onto the 
highway. 
8. The status of the existing layby needs to be established and if it is highway, it will 
need to be stopped up; this would also apply to any other areas of highway.     

                           
 
                     Pre-app Layout                                                                 Application Layout

9. Consideration should be given to the passive provision of electrical charging for the 
resident’s vehicles. (Provision of ducts and cable, but not actual charging points).  It is 
accepted that given the short stay nature of parking for the visitors to the retail element 

Page 71



of the parking, electrical charging points would have minimal benefit, unless they were 
capable of rapid charging.

GBC - Head of Regulatory Services

5.79 Based on the review of:
 Phase 1 Environmental Report (Go Contaminated Land Solutions, 14 February 

2018)

5.80 The report presents the findings of a desk study and site walkover.  It adequately 
reviews the history and environmental setting of the site.  No significant sources of 
contamination have been identified, however it is recommended a watching brief is 
maintained during groundworks.  I therefore recommend the following condition:

5.81 The applicant shall undertake a watching brief during construction in case any 
contamination issue is encountered.  If during development any contamination is found, 
the local planning authority should be informed as soon as practical and the work shall 
not continue until written agreement is provided by the LPA as to the appropriate 
measures to be taken to resolve the matter and they are satisfied that those measures 
have been carried out. 

Natural England

5.82 Since this application will result in a net increase in residential accommodation, impacts 
to the coastal Special Protection Area(s) and Ramsar Site(s) may result from increased 
recreational disturbance.   Your authority has measures in place to manage these 
potential impacts through the agreed strategic solution which we consider to be 
ecologically sound.  Subject to the appropriate financial contribution being secured, 
Natural England is satisfied that the proposal will mitigate against the potential 
recreational impacts of the development on the site(s). 

5.83 Notwithstanding this, Natural England’s advice is that this proposed development, and 
the application of these measures to avoid or reduce the likely harmful effects from it, 
may need to be formally checked and confirmed by your Authority, as the competent 
authority, via an appropriate assessment in view of the European Site’s conservation 
objectives and in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended).  This is because Natural England notes that the recent People 
Over Wind Ruling by the Court of Justice of the European Union concluded that, when 
interpreting article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive, it is not appropriate when determining 
whether or not a plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a site and 
requires an appropriate assessment, to take account of measures intended to avoid or 
reduce the harmful effects of the plan or project on that site. The ruling also concluded 
that such measures can, however, be considered during an appropriate assessment to 
determine whether a plan or project will have an adverse effect on the integrity of the 
European site.  Your Authority should have regard to this and may wish to seek its own 
legal advice to fully understand the implications of this ruling in this context. 

5.84 Natural England advises that it is a matter for your Authority to decide whether an 
appropriate assessment of this proposal is necessary in light of this ruling. In 
accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended), Natural England must be consulted on any appropriate assessment your 
Authority may decide to make.

Page 72



Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones 

5.85 The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 
2015 requires local planning authorities to consult Natural England on “Development in or 
likely to affect a Site of Special Scientific Interest” (Schedule 4, w).  Our SSSI Impact Risk 
Zones are a GIS dataset designed to be used during the planning application validation 
process to help local planning authorities decide when to consult Natural England on 
developments likely to affect a SSSI.  The dataset and user guidance can be accessed 
from the data.gov.uk website

 
Dartford Gravesham and Swanley NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)

5.86 The CCG area is subject to high levels of growth and our local health services especially 
GP services are already at capacity.  This new development will place additional pressure 
on those services.  We are therefore flagging up to you that in relation to this development 
we would require a S.106 financial contribution towards expanding existing facilities within 
the vicinity of the development.  The CCG has developed a model for calculating 
Developer’s Contributions with the Health Urban Development Unit (HUDU).  We calculate 
that a financial contribution of £10,368 is applicable.

5.87 The CCG has reviewed the ability of GP Practices within a mile of the proposed 
development and can advise that the current capacity in terms of space is as set out 
below:

Practice Address List 
Size¹

GIA (m²)² Size (GIA m²) 
Required for List³

Oakfield 
Health 
Centre, 
Practice 2

Off Windsor Road 
Gravesend Kent 
DA12 5BW

8,801 612m² 733m²
(Requires additional 
121m² space than 
existing)

Dr Moran 
S G & 
Partners

116 St Gregory’s 
Crescent 
Gravesend
Kent DA12 4JW

13,208 Branch 172m² 
+ 434m² = 
606m²

1101m²
(Requires additional 
495m² space than 
existing)

Riverview 
Park 
Surgery

1 Whinfell Way 
Gravesend
Kent da12 4RX

15,660 Branch N/A + 
204m²

1305m²

Old Road 
West 
Surgery

30 Old Road West 
Gravesend
Kent DA11 0LL

9,538 307m² branch 
74m² = 381m²

745m²
(Requires additional 
413m² space than 
existing)

Rochester 
Road 
Surgery

115 Rochester 
Road Gravesend
Kent DA12 2HU

3,539m² 93m² + 
branch 136m² 
=229m²

295m² (Requires 
additional 66m² space 
than existing)

Old Road 
West 
Surgery – 
Mackenzie 
Way

264 Mackenzie Way 
Gravesend Kent 
DA12 5TY

N/A Branch 74m² 
+ 307m² = 
381m²

N/A

Lower 
Higham 
Road 
Surgery

48 Lower Higham 
Road Gravesend 
Kent DA12 2NG

3,272m² 101m² 273m² (Requires 
additional 172m² 
space than existing)

Page 73



Notes:

1. From NHS Choices November 2017.  Note practices with more than 1 site operate a 
combined list across all sites.

2. Gross Internal Area (GIA) taken from SHAPE (Strategic Health Asset Planning and 
Evaluation) tool.

3. Calculation based on 1,800 patients per WTE GP and 150 m2 per WTE GP.  Taken 
from NHS England business case requirements and based on Health Building Note 
(HBN) 11-01 Facilities for Primary and Community Services.  Note Practices with more 
than 1 site will require additional space overall.

5.88 This development will impact on these practices by requiring additional GP and other staff 
which will need to be accommodated in the current facilities.  We calculate the impact of 
the development as:

Practice Additional GPs 
Required

Additional Space 
Required

Comments

Oakfield Health 
Centre, Practice 2

0.016 2.4

5.89 It is important to recognise the issue of revenue funding (funding to pay for services and 
staff rather than infrastructure) and that this is equally very important due to the way 
healthcare is funded.  CCGs receive funding to commission local health services from the 
department of health.  This crudely equates to circa £1,700 per head of population, 
excluding GP funding.  CCG funding is based on registered GP population which is a 
pressure in itself.  Funding for any (non-demographic) increase in population usually takes 
two to three years (and can take up to five years) to filter through and is not retrospectively 
funded.  As such, for every increase in 1,000 people, the CCG is currently likely to lose 
between £2.2million and £3.3million in additional income.

5.90 The DGS potential growth is likely to be 57,000 people over 15 years equating to a 
revenue funding gap of between £50million and £150million because of the delay. 
(£30million to £100million of this is linked to Ebbsfleet growth).

5.91 The impact of this is that with no additional funding, already stretched services are unlikely 
to be able to cope, as there will be no funding for additional staff, community services, 
health transport, etc.  We acknowledge that the council has no responsibility or significant 
influence over this, apart from lobbying.  However it does need to be understood when 
planning increases in populations over a long period of time, because it will have a major 
impact on existing and future health services.

5.92 Health inequalities issues are attached.  Obesity is one of the critical health issues for our 
population and we would strongly recommend that as part of the development that 
sufficient green space and access to community facilities such as leisure 
facilities/swimming pool etc., are provided to support the tackling of obesity and making the 
new environment suitable for physical and mental well-being.

5.93 Considering existing capacity limitations, the CCG has no objection in principle to the 
development proposal subject to an appropriate level of S106 monies being awarded.  This 
is in recognition of the need to develop existing infrastructure as a direct consequence of 
the development proposal.  However, if the CCG is not successful in accessing S106 
contributions, we would object to this development proposal.  For the avoidance of doubt 
our acceptance of this development proposal is contingent on being able to access S106 
funding at the level requested, to deliver the health facilities required for the new additional 

Page 74



population because of this development proposal.

Publicity and Representations

5.94 The application was advertised on site and in a local newspaper as a major 
development proposal, and under Article 15.  In addition the owners/occupiers of 117 
dwellings and premises were notified of the proposal.  The expiry date for comments 
was 3 May 2019.

5.95 A total of 44 representations have been received in response to the publicity of which 19 
are objections to the development and 25 are in support.

Objections 

5.96 The objections may be summarised as follows:

Impact on local amenity 

 Significant loss of light & overshadowing to the rear of property in Ivy Close;
 Loss of privacy & overlooking;
 Loss of privacy from balconies despite being angled;
 Overall quality of life will be affected significantly;
 Visual amenity affected;
 Additional noise levels from balconies and from traffic; 
 Additional light pollution;
 Planting of trees would take time to mature and are not suitable as privacy screens;

Traffic and Parking

 Significant traffic generation and congestion; 
 Impact on Highway safety;
 Adequacy of parking/loading/turning – only 14 space for the proposed residents, 

thus only one space per flats with two for visitors;
 Area is congested already and new buildings would only add to already mounting 

problems in that area;

Character of the Area

 Density of development is out of character for the area;
 Overdevelopment;

Scale and Design

 Buildings are too high and unneighbourly;
 Visually an eyesore; 
 It will tower over the Tesco Express and look ridiculous; it looks like a block of flats 

that should be built by the River not here

Loss of Open Space/Ecology 

 Existing open space is beneficial to the environment;
 Green Space is important for surrounding houses;
 Impact on ecology from loss of green area at the rear of the Tesco Express;

Page 75



 Need to protect the small amount of grass in the area and not make it unsafe for 
young children;

Other Issues 

 Anti-Social Behaviour 
 Local Authority objections made for a previous & recent planning application made 

for part of this site
 Smells
 Potential impact on local businesses
 Hazardous materials

Non Material planning issues 

 Impact from Building Works
 Devaluation of Property
 No indication as to whether the flats are for sale or rent
 The applicant may have rallied a few friends/acquaintances to support this 

application.

5.98 The letters of support may be summarised as follows:

 This will be a great boost to local economy and ensure that we have residents who 
are able to invest in local services;

 Great addition to the local area;
 Gravesham needs more properties;
 The extra parking is needed;
 This project would breathe new life into this area;
 Will attract young professionals; 
 The plans look attractive and it will be good to have two/three bedroom flats in this 

local area with parking for residents and shoppers which is often overlooked;
 Given the shortage of housing around Gravesham this will put less pressure on the 

council to provide this and this will make perfect use of unused space;

Note: The letters of support are all from residents that are not directly affected by or 
adjoining the application site

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

Introduction 

6.1 This current planning application is for the erection of a 3 storey building to the rear and 
side of the existing Tesco Express (formerly Whitehill Tavern PH) to provide 12 flats 
comprising 10 x two bedroom and 2 x three bedroom units; provision of play/amenity areas 
and private amenity space; provision of bin store/bike store including replacement bin store 
for Tesco Express and relocation of retail store plant to the rear flat roof of the store; and 
for change of use of part of Whitehill Open Space to a car park for commercial and 
residential purposes involving the construction of 27 car parking spaces with vehicle 
turning area and with vehicular access from Whitehill Parade and including removal of 
existing layby parking.

6.2 This latest application was submitted in March 2019 following an earlier application made 
to the Borough Council in September 2018 (20180867) and submitted by the same 

Page 76



applicant and which was refused planning permission in November 2018 but which was 
just for the change of use of part of Whitehill Open Space to a car park involving the 
construction of 27 car parking space with vehicle turning area and with vehicular access 
from Whitehill Parade and including removal of existing lay by parking.  That earlier 
application did not include the proposals for residential development associated with it 
although it was clear that the applicant’s intention was that the car park proposed on part of 
the Whitehill Open Space should be in part provided in connection with other development 
proposals and bearing in mind that that that the applicants agents had submitted a pre-
application enquiry for residential development at the rear of the Tesco Express in March 
2018.

6.3 The current application was submitted prior to the outcome of a planning appeal lodged by 
the applicants against the decision to refuse planning permission for the car park on the 
Whitehill Open space.  The Planning Inspectorates decision was received on 22 May 2019 
and the appeal was DISMISSED the Inspector concluding that the: 

 Proposed loss of designated amenity greenspace would have a materially harmful 
impact on the supply and provision of greenspace in the locality.  It would directly 
conflict with policies CS12 & CS13 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (CS), 
policy DM21 of the Emerging DMP and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF);

 The proposal would unacceptably harm the character and appearance of the locality, 
contrary to policy CS19 of the CS;

 The proposal would likely have an adverse impact of pedestrian highway safety and is 
not justified having regard to the accessibility of the locality.  The scheme would be 
contrary to policies CS11 & CS19 of the CS and the SPD4.

6.4 It was only on the impact of living conditions of local residents that the Inspector did not 
consider that there would be a materially harmful impact from noise and disturbance.

6.5 A copy of the Inspectors decision (Appeal Ref: APP/K2230/W/19/32218190 is appended to 
this report (Appendix 1)

The Issues

6.6 The main planning issues to consider in the determination of this application are:

• The principle of residential development in this location and compliance with 
local and national policy;

• The loss of green open space and whether this is in conformity with local and 
national policy;

• The impact on the character and appearance of the locality and the 
appropriateness of the design and layout of the proposed development; 

• The impact on the living conditions for the future occupants of the flats; 
• The impact of the development on local residential amenity; 
• Highway and Parking Impacts including the appropriateness of the design and 

layout of the car parking; 
• Any Other Material Planning Issues; 

Principle of the Development 

6.7 In respect of the residential element of the development this would involve building next 
to the existing Tesco Express building which is in retail use on the ground floor with a 
residential flat on the first floor.  The site is not an allocated site for housing.

Page 77



6.8 The current Tesco Express site is within an urban area and a local retail neighbourhood 
centre.  The boundary of the neighbourhood centre is shown in the Town Centre Retail 
Frontages and Neighbourhood and Village Centres Retail Centres Background Paper 
April 2018, which has been the subject of a public consultation into the Local Plan 
Review including detailed policies in the Development Management Policies Document.  
The boundary is as shown below:

Plan of Proposed Centre Boundaries
Whitehill Parade, Gravesend

6.9 Fundamentally there would be a planning concern at development proposals that would 
not be consistent with or contrary to the role of Whitehill Parade as a Neighbourhood 
Centre. 

6.10 Policy CS08 (Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres) safeguards the retail character 
and function of existing and new centres by resisting development that would adversely 
affect their vitality and viability.

6.11 The proposed residential scheme as submitted does not result in the loss of existing retail 
floorspace within the local centre or result in the loss of any of the existing retail units.  
What the scheme does is remove some of the current servicing arrangements for the 
existing Tesco Express store and the re-location of the customer parking would potentially 
be less advantageous.  The provision of housing within local centres can be an appropriate 
use providing a mix of uses and can assist in supporting the retail function but this would 
not be the case if it impacted on the viability of the retail offer or led to the loss of retail 
floorspace.  Locating housing development in a local retail centre is in conformity with 
paragraphs 85 and 92 of the NPPF.  Paragraph 85 of the NPPF allows for a suitable mix of 
uses in centres and for residential development although this is qualified by requiring 
residential development to be located on appropriate sites. Paragraph 92, seeks an 

Page 78



integrated approach to the location of housing, economic uses and community facilities 
and services in support of the promotion of healthy and safe communities.

6.12 Overall it is not considered that the development is contrary to Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policy CS08 (Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy of Centres).

6.13 In respect of housing need Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively 
assessed need for housing over the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there 
is a need for at least 6,170 new dwellings during the period. Evidence now available shows 
that the Council is not able to currently demonstrate a five-year housing supply. This 
engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF and this means for decision-taking that 
planning permission for applications involving the provision of housing should be granted in 
line with the requirements of the NPPF Para 11(d) unless:

i. The application of policies in the Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or 
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the 
development proposed. 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

6.14 Policy CS02 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) prioritises development in 
the urban area as a sustainable location for development.  It seeks to achieve this by 
promoting regeneration by prioritising redevelopment and recycling of previously 
developed land. The site is within a highly sustainable location and on a direct bus route 
close to existing bus stops adjacent to local shops and close to a local primary school.

6.15 The residential development of the site also supports the Governments greater emphasis 
on delivering and prioritising housing land as set out in the current version of the NPPF 
(section 5 - delivering a sufficient supply of homes).

6.16 The redevelopment of sites within the urban area can help reduce the pressures for the 
release of fresh land in rural locations, which is of particular importance in a Local Authority 
constrained by Green Belt policy.  This would be in conformity with paragraphs 118 and 
137 of the NPPF.  Evidence of land scarcity can be found in paragraph 2.14 of the Site 
Allocations: Issues and Options consultation document, which identifies a shortfall in the 
supply of housing sites of 2,000 dwellings.

6.17 The proposed development for a net increase of 12 no. dwelling units would therefore offer 
a modest contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, gives some weight 
in support of the application.  

6.18 However, this has to be balanced against other requirements of the NPPF and in particular 
paragraphs 127 and 130 of the NPPF which requires, amongst other things, development 
to add to the overall quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local 
character and create an acceptable standard of amenity for future occupiers.

6.19 In addition while paragraph 122 of the NPPF supports development that makes an efficient 
use of land this has to be considered against the desirability of maintaining an area’s 
prevailing character and setting.

Page 79



Loss of Green Open Space

6.20 In terms of the proposed car parking element of this application this would be located on an 
existing green space, being part of the Whitehill Lane open space.

6.21 Although this part of the application site is also not specifically notated on the adopted 
Local Plan it is land currently designated as amenity greenspace within the Borough’s 
‘Open Space Assessment’, April 2016.

6.22 Both national and local policies recognise the value of open space for the contribution it 
makes towards the amenity and health of the population. Consequently, planning policies 
and decisions are required to make provision for open space and to protect existing open 
space.

6.23 At a local level Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy indicates that all 
green spaces contribute to the green infrastructure network and that the multifunctional 
network of green spaces will be created, protected, enhanced and maintained, while Policy 
CS13, seeks to protect and enhance the quantity, quality and accessibility of open space in 
accordance with an adequate, up-to-date and relevant evidence base. The 2016 Open 
Spaces Study provides that evidence and is clearly an up to date and relevant evidence 
base on which to assess the application proposals.

6.24 Emerging Policy DM 21 (Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Retention) of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation Part 2: Development 
Management Policies Document April 2018 sets out a number of criteria to be met when 
considering proposals for the change of use or redevelopment of existing open spaces, 
indoor sports facilities or playing pitches.

6.25 At a national level paragraph 96 of the NPPF requires planning policies to be based on 
robust and up-to-date assessments of the need for open space while paragraph 97 of the 
NPPF 2019 indicates that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless:

(a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
(b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or
(c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of 
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

6.26 The Open Spaces Study and the associated Standard Paper 2016, produced by Knight, 
Kavanagh & Page, highlighted that the open space at Whitehill Lane was classed as 
amenity greenspace. These spaces fulfil a multi-functional role that make a positive 
contribution to the area that they are located within, as well as enhancing the overall visual 
aesthetics for communities.

6.27 The Open Space Assessment states:

“Amenity greenspace should also be recognised for its multi-purpose function, offering 
opportunities for a variety of leisure and recreational activities. It can often accommodate 
informal recreational activity such as casual play and dog walking. Many sites in 
Gravesham offer a dual function and are amenity resources for residents as well as being 
visually pleasing. These attributes add to the quality, accessibility and visibility of amenity 
greenspace. Combined with the presence of ancillary facilities (e.g. benches, landscaping 

Page 80



and trees), it is therefore more likely that the better quality sites are more respected and 
valued by the local community.”

6.28 Although Whitehill Lane was categorised as good quality amenity open space but of poor 
value, the Council’s Open Space Standards Paper recommended that all open space 
should be protected as a starting point due to current deficiencies and the identification of 
additional future needs. It did not identify the Whitehill Lane site as being surplus to 
requirements.

6.29 The applicant’s submission to justify the loss of the open space is set out in the Design and 
Access Statement and in an open space analysis produced by their consultants LUC dated 
March 2019.  The former suggests that the land for the proposed car park is now private 
land and no longer accessible to the public. This does not affect its status as amenity 
greenspace, which does not need to be accessible to the public for it to provide visual 
amenity for local residents. It should be pointed out that neither the NPPF nor the Core 
Strategy refer to “public” open space. No distinction is drawn between the two. The 
glossary to the NPPF defines open space as all open space of public value. Open space 
can be valued by the public without public ownership.

6.30 The LUC report concludes that the loss of the open space will not result in the amount of 
amenity greenspace in the Wards of Whitehill and Singlewell falling below the standard set 
out in the Open Space Assessment and will not have any detrimental impact on local 
residents’ accessibility to amenity greenspace.

6.31 However accessibility is not a factor when the open space provides a visual amenity. 
Furthermore, the Council’s Open Space documents make no recommendations for the 
disposal of amenity greenspace in areas where the provision is above the standards set 
out. The importance that open spaces like the Whitehill Open Space provides in offering a 
visual and recreational amenity, as well as a break in the built form, can still be important 
notwithstanding the low value. 

6.32 There is a planning policy objection to the proposals on the basis that the proposed 
development would result in a net deficit of open space on the application site, contrary to 
policy CS13, which seeks to enhance the quantity of green space, policy CS19, which 
requires the provision of the appropriate levels of private and public amenity space, and 
paragraph 127 of the NPPF, which requires development to optimise the potential to 
accommodate an appropriate amount and mix of development, including green and other 
public space. 

6.33 The development would also be contrary to Policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) which 
indicates that all green spaces contribute to the green infrastructure network and that the 
network of green spaces will be protected, enhanced and maintained.  It is also contrary to 
emerging Policy DM 21 (Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Retention) of 
the Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation Part 2: Development 
Management Policies Document April 2018.

6.34 There are also objections to the loss of open space from the consultation responses 
received from both the Council’s Leisure Manager and Horticultural Services Manager.  
The Leisure Manager points out that open space sites of this type are still recognised as 
providing some visual amenity to their locality and it is important to note that the main role 
of certain sites is to simply act as a grassed area, providing breaks in the urban form.  The 
Leisure Manager considers that there is little evidence to suggest that this particular site at 
Whitehill Lane is surplus to requirements when set against the overall availability of green 
space within the area and that by locating a car park on part of the grassed site for 

Page 81



residential and commercial parking will not improve the primary purpose, or improve the 
quality or value of the open space, no matter whether it is privately or publicly owned.

6.35 Also having regard to the above it is not considered that any of the criteria in paragraph 96 
of the NPPF would be met to set aside the loss of open space in this case.

6.36 It is particularly pertinent to the assessment of this application that the application to 
provide a car park with 27 bays on part of the Whitehill Open Space was rejected by a 
Planning Inspector at a planning appeal as recently as 22 May 2019 with the Inspector 
concluding that the loss of the Appeal site as part of an amenity greenspace would have a 
negative impact on the quality and value of the overall greenspace and would reduce the 
supply of amenity greenspace within the area and the Borough as a whole and the 
Inspector gave little weight to the stated benefits that would result from the provision of the 
proposed car park and the availability of other green spaces in the locality.

6.37 Therefore the recommendation to the Board in respect of the car park on the open space is 
for refusal as being contrary to both local and national policy.

Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Locality and the appropriateness of the 
Design and Layout

6.38 Turning to the residential element of the scheme and its impact on the character and 
appearance of the area the proposal need to be considered in relation to the form and type 
of development in relation to the existing grain of development locally, the density and form 
of development in the local area as well as assessing its overall built form and intrinsic 
design.

6.39 Development on this site should meet the requirements of Policy CS14 (LPCS), where the 
Council expects new housing development to provide a range of dwelling types and sizes, 
taking into account the existing character of the area.  The area is within a mixed area with 
flats above the shops and with some flatted development nearby in Whitehill Road (Turner 
House) although the preponderance is for single family dwellings.  It is considered that the 
provision of a flatted scheme per se in this location would not be contrary to Policy CS14 
(LPCS), and as such would add to the overall housing stock and offer locally.

6.40 In respect of the density of the development Policy CS15 (LPCS) requires that all new 
housing will be developed at a density which is consistent with achieving good design and 
does not compromise the distinctive character of the area in which it is situated. Subject to 
this overriding consideration, new residential development within the urban area will be 
expected to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare. It is clear that whilst 
Policy CS15 (LPCS) seeks to achieve this minimum density, this should not be at the 
expense of compromising the character of the surrounding area.

6.41 Based on the applicant’s site area (which excludes the Tesco Express building but which is 
included within the red line site area) the density of the development would be 96 dwellings 
per hectare thus almost twice the target minimum density above.  This suggests perhaps 
an overdevelopment of the site not in character with the surrounding area but there are 
other issues that also need to be considered including the design, layout and provision of 
an appropriate level of amenity space.

6.42 Similar to the consideration of the issue of the impact on the character and appearance of 
the locality, the design and built form of the proposals need to be considered against the 
Council’s Core Strategy Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) that sets out 
detailed criteria.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new 

Page 82



development will be derived from a robust analysis of local context and character and will 
make a positive contribution to the street scene, the quality of the public realm and the 
character of the area. 

6.43 The NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality buildings and places is fundamental to 
what the planning and development process should achieve and add to the overall quality 
of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development (paragraphs 
124 and 127 of Part 12 - Achieving well designed places) 

6.44 Paragraph 127 of the NPPF also indicates that developments need to respond to local 
character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials or 
establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive and 
comfortable places to live.

6.45 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF advises that permission should be refused for development of 
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and 
quality of an area and the way it functions, taking into account any local design standards 
or style guides in plans or supplementary planning documents.

6.46 Design advice on the whole issue of the impact on the character and appearance of the 
locality and quality of the design and layout of the development has been considered in the 
context of the Design South East (DSE) Gravesham Design Surgery Review.  This 
approach would accord with paragraph 129 of the NPPF that advises that local planning 
authorities should ensure that they have access to, and make appropriate use of, tools and 
processes for assessing and improving the design of development. These include 
workshops to engage the local community, design advice and review arrangements, and 
assessment frameworks.

6.47 DSE had already provided comments on the residential scheme at the pre-application 
stage in May 2018 commenting that the scheme was unacceptable on a number of levels, 
namely that the proposed parking area on the existing green, the impact of a building of 
this bulk and mass on its immediate surroundings, and the loss of the servicing area for the 
supermarket were fundamental problems that they did not feel can be resolved.

6.48 The DSE assessment on the current planning application was made on 18th April 2019.  
DSE commented:

• We have seen a previous iteration of this scheme and expressed concern about the 
impact on neighbouring homes.  Some efforts have been made to mitigate this, but 
we are not convinced by them.

• The proposal is that car parking for the flats is accommodated in the land (currently 
enclosed with concrete bollards) owned by the applicant which forms part of the 
adjacent open space.  We support the Council’s view that this should remain as 
open space and public access should be restored.  The triangular space provides a 
‘village green’ focus for the neighbourhood and particularly for the shops and 
houses surrounding it. Its partial loss for a car park would undermine this quality. 

• The layby parking spaces opposite the shop should be sufficient to meet the 
parking needs of the shop. 

• The response to the privacy/overlooking problem; unusually shaped east-facing 
balconies which are ‘fenced’ where they face neighbouring properties is not the 
best solution.  More generous balconies, facing west to receive evening sun would 
be better. 

• The arrival into the communal garden is good, but the journey to the front door for 
the ground floor flats is poor.  

Page 83



• The constrained site means that some ground floor flats have an immediate view of 
a slope and fencing. 

• We must conclude that the quantity of flats proposed makes a quality design on this 
backland site difficult. Fewer flats (say 6-7) and one less storey, would make 
delivery of a quality scheme much easier.  A scheme of that size could 
accommodate all of its parking on site.

6.49 What is proposed in this scheme is a building of some significant height, bulk and massing 
that appears to be at odd with its surroundings.  Visually it will somewhat dwarf the existing 
Tesco Express building sitting in front of it.  It will be 3.5m higher than the ridge of the roof 
of the Tesco Express and over 6m higher than the principal height of the parade of shops 
in Whitehill Parade to the east.  The visual impact of the development is best shown in the 
visual illustration below.

             

6.50 There are a number of neighbour objections to the design and impact on the character of 
the area pointing out that the density of development is out of character for the area; that is 
overdevelopment; that the buildings are too high and unneighbourly; it is visually an 
eyesore and it will tower over the Tesco Express and look ridiculous

6.51 Having regard to this and the DSE it is therefore apparent that these proposals as they 
stand are not in compliance with the Council’s Core Strategy Policy CS19 (Development 
and Design Principles) that sets out detailed criteria against which the acceptability or 
otherwise of proposed development will be evaluated.  In particular it requires new 
development to be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive…and integrate 
well with the surrounding area. The bulk and massing of the proposed residential 
development and its overall design does not meet the design criteria in the Local Plan as it 
is not apparent as to how the design, layout and form of development has been derived 
from a robust analysis of local context and character or that it necessarily makes a positive 
contribution to the street scene.

6.52 At a national level the DSE comments would suggest that the development does not 
respond to the requirements of Paragraph 127 of the NPPF, namely the need to respond to 
local character and history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials or 
establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create attractive and 
comfortable places to live.  No evidence has been put forward in the applicants submitted 
Design Statement that the applicant has engaged the local community at the pre-
application stage or taken into account their views in the evolution of the design, contrary 
to the requirements of paragraph 128 of the NPPF.

Page 84



The impact on living conditions and amenity for the future occupants of the flats

6.53 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 
‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ and that ‘the design and layout 
of new residential development, including conversion, will accord with the adopted GBC 
Residential Layout Guidelines’.

6.54 The Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 2 Residential Layout Guidelines sets out 
the Council’s standards in relation to internal space standards and to private garden 
areas. The introduction of new nationally described housing technical standards on 1 
October 2015 means that the Borough Council now interpret Tables 1 and 3 of the 
Residential Layout Guidelines July 1996 in accordance with the new standards.

6.55 The national technical standards are prescribed standards, which set an overall unit 
area (which includes built in storage) and bedroom size and effectively supersede the 
room sizes set out in Council’s Residential Layout Guidelines and referred to in Core 
Strategy policy CS19, although it should be noted that the national technical standards 
are not Council adopted standards and the Council’s Residential Layout Guidelines for 
the time being and to some extent will still apply.

6.56 The National Technical Standards require bedroom sizes of 7.5m² for a single bedroom 
and 11.5m² for a double bedroom and minimum overall areas of 70m² for a 2 bedroom 
(4 person) unit and 86m² for a 3 bedroom (5 person) unit.

6.57 The proposed units would comprise internal areas of 71.4m²/76.8m² for the 2 bed units, 
4 person (Type A - 10 units) and 87.7m² for the 3 bed units, 5 person (Type B - 2 units).

6.58 The layout of the proposed flats would appear to reasonably generous and include 
storage space and thus meet the GBC Residential Layout Guidelines and the National 
Technical Housing Standards.

6.59 All of flats proposed could be occupied by families and significant weight is attached to 
the need to provide amenity space to meet the needs of future residents as required 
through LPCS Policy CS13. The NPPF recognises that access to high quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to 
the health and well-being of communities.  

6.60 Saved Policy LT6 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review requires proposals for new 
housing development to make provision for open space and play space appropriate to 
the scale of development and type of housing, having regard to the provision and 
proximity to existing open space in the locality. The explanatory text states that as a 
guide, open space should be provided in accordance with the National Playing Fields 
Association recommended minimum standard for outdoor play space. This has now 
been updated in “Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standard” 
published by Fields in Trust (FIT).

6.61 The Borough Council’s residential layout guidelines sets out a minimum of 10m² per 
self-contained unit with 2 or more bedrooms and with specific requirements as providing 
children’s play space, drying area, outside storage, sitting out and general use.

6.62 The proposed flats will include reasonable areas of private amenity space for the 4 
ground floor units although the sloping aspect of the site will mean that this will inhibit 
the full use of the amenity areas.  The 4 flats each on the first and second floors will 
each have balconies and there is also a playground area of 235m² on the east side of 
the development for communal use and a general amenity area of 160m² at the front of 

Page 85



the development.  Overall it is considered that the layout of the development provides 
sufficient amenity space for the future occupants of the development.

6.63 There might potentially be some impact on the future occupants of the flats arising from 
the relocation of the existing plant serving Tesco Express is located in the rear car park 
within a timber enclosure of approx. 4m x 4m which is proposed to be relocated to the 
Tesco’s flat roof top, set back in a position where it cannot be seen from ground level, or 
habitable windows.  However no objections have been received to this arrangement 
from the Council’s environmental health officers.  Acoustic screening could be used to 
attenuate the noise to the required level and this would have to be conditioned if the 
current proposals were to be positively supported.

6.64 Overall it is considered that the form and layout of development would provide 
acceptable living conditions for the future occupants of the development in conformity 
with Policy CS19 (LPCS) 2014 and Section 12 of the NPPF.

The impact of the development on local amenity

6.65 In considering any proposals for development it is important to ensure that it does not 
cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing residents or property such that it 
will materially harm their living conditions.  It is also important to assess the quality of any 
residential environments that are proposed as part of the scheme.  Policies seeking to 
protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living conditions are included in the Local 
Plan Core Strategy.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the 
amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of 
neighbouring properties and land.

6.66 The NPPF (paragraph 127) also assists and seeks to ensure developments will function 
well, do not undermine quality of life and create attractive and comfortable places to live, 
work and visit and seeks to “secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for 
all existing and future occupants of land and buildings”.

6.67 The application site does sit down by about 1.4m from the nearest affected dwellings in Ivy 
Close to the south whose gardens are therefore at an elevated level thus reducing to some 
extent the fact that a three storey building is being proposed in close proximity to two 
storey dwellings.  Nevertheless the distance between the facing windows is just 16.2m, 
thus significantly lower than the GBC Residential Layout Guidelines that require a 
separation of a minimum of 21m where facing windows of habitable rooms face each other 
(habitable rooms are defined as bedrooms and living rooms, but not bathrooms).  The 
proximity between the proposed development and the properties adjoining in Ivy Close is 
best illustrated in the images taken from the submitted floor plans and elevations as below.

Page 86



                  

            

6.68 In this scheme there are living rooms and bedroom windows in the rear elevation of the 
adjoining dwellings in Ivy Close and bedrooms and living rooms in the proposed block of 
flats facing due south.  In addition there is also a requirement for a minimum of 21m to be 
provided between the windows of habitable rooms and the private garden adjacent to the 
rear of a dwelling thus making the actual separation distance required as being 26m.

6.69 Some design changes have been introduced since the pre-application submission where 
impact on neighbouring property and overlooking and overshowing was identified by 
officers as a significant concern.  These include angled windows with opaque glazing and 
1.8m high timber screens to the window balconies.  These are shown in the images below 
taken from the applicants Design and Access Statement. 

Page 87



            

6.70 Nevertheless there is still likely to be some overlooking of adjoining properties and the fact 
that the balconies will be just 5m from the foot of the neighbouring gardens lead to the 
overall conclusion that the development will be particularly unneighbourly and result in 
material harm to the living conditions of neighbouring property  

6.71 In respect of overshadowing the illustration below shows compliance with the 25º rule as 
set out in the Council’s adopted residential layout guidelines although there would be some 
overshadowing of neighbours gardens 

          

6.72 The Board will note that there been a considerable number of neighbour responses and 
objections pointing to significant loss of light and overshadowing to the rear of properties in 
Ivy Close; loss of privacy and overlooking; and loss of privacy from balconies despite being 
angled, amongst other things.

Page 88



6.73 Overall it is considered that the proposed development by virtue of its siting, size, bulk, 
massing and design would create an overly dominant addition and unneighbourly form 
of development that would adversely affect the living conditions and privacy and 
amenity of the occupants of adjoining dwellings particularly those in Ivy Close. As such, 
it would be contrary to Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014), which amongst other criteria 
requires new development safeguard the amenity of neighbouring properties and to 
integrate well with the surrounding area.  It would also be contrary to paragraph 127 of 
the NPPF.

Parking and Highway Issues

6.74 The proposed development needs to be considered against Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy Policy CS11 which states that new development should mitigate their impact on 
the public highway and that transport assessments should be provided and implemented to 
ensure delivery of travel choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it 
states that sufficient car parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with 
adopted standards which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport 
accessibility to services and facilities. 

6.75 This stance is reflected in the NPPF (section 9) which indicates that all development that 
generates significant amounts of movement should be supported by a Transport Statement 
or Transport Assessment and development should only be prevented or refused on 
transport grounds where there is an unacceptable impact on highway safety or the residual 
cumulative impact of development is severe. In this instance the nature and scale of the 
development does not require a full transport statement or transport assessment but the 
application is nevertheless accompanied by a fairly comprehensive transport and servicing 
statement 

6.76 In respect of traffic generation the transport assessment indicates that the residential 
development is likely to generate only 8 trips during the AM peak and 7 trips during the 
PM peak hours. Therefore, the applicants suggest that the predicted development traffic 
would not have a significant impact on the existing roads and junctions, given the low 
levels of traffic generation. 

6.77 There are some neighbour objections from local residents to traffic generation and 
congestion and the impact on highway safety and some residents point to the area 
being congested already.

6.78 The proposed parking layout on the Whitehill open space is shown below.

Page 89



6.79 The development proposals have been considered and assessed in highway and 
parking terms by both Kent County Council Highways and Transportation and the GBC 
Highways Development Management Officer and notwithstanding the local resident 
concerns they do not raise objections to the principle of the development or of potential 
traffic congestion.  They do have very detailed comments and concerns relating to 
access visibility and the layout of the proposed car park which would need to be 
resolved if planning permission were to be granted or the scheme as submitted.  

6.80 In respect of the parking provision, as indicated earlier, this will include a total of 27 
parking spaces to be provided on part of the Whitehill open space and comprise 12 
allocated secured parking spaces for the residents of the flatted development, 10 
unallocated spaces for the Tesco Express and 5 spaces for the other shops. The 
parking spaces are minimum 2.5m x 5m deep.

6.81 In respect of the overall residential provision it is noted that one vehicle parking space 
per unit is proposed. The Council’s approach to parking requirements is in accordance 
with the adopted Kent Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG 4 published in 2003 and 

Page 90



adopted in 2006) and endorsed as supplementary guidance by GBC on 6 July 2009.  
These are set out as maximum standards although it should be noted that the 
government abolished national maximum parking standards in 2011 and the ministerial 
statement in March 2015 indicated that the imposition of maximum parking standards 
lead to blocked and congested streets and pavement parking and arbitrarily restricting 
new off-street parking spaces does not reduce car use.  The adopted standards 
therefore would normally seek to be met in full.

6.82 The residential (Class C3) parking standards are:

Car Parking
1 bedroom 1 space per dwelling
2 and 3 bedrooms 2 spaces per dwelling
Mixed Development of 1,2 & 3 
bedroom

Average of 1.5 spaces across development

4 or more bedrooms 3 spaces per dwelling
Sheltered Accommodation 1 space per resident warden + 1 space per 2 units
Notes: 1. Flats and Apartment Blocks consisting of 2 and 3 bedroom units will be regarded as 

Mixed Developments.
2. For 1-bedroom dwellings the parking will usually be provided as a communal space.  
For other size dwellings part or all of the parking can be provided on a communal basis.
3. The level of car parking provision includes any garages, provided as an integral part of 
the dwelling or within its curtilage, and/or driveways, provided within the curtilage, subject to 
the preferred sizes set out in Appendix B.
4. In Controlled Parking Zones the parking provision should result in no net loss of on-
street parking.

Generally car parking spaces should be 5m by 2.5m increasing to 2.7m where the 
spaces are at the end of on aisle or 2.9m next to walls etc. of buildings.

6.83 There are also neighbour objections relating to the level of car parking although there 
are no highway objections raised by Kent County Council Highways and Transportation 
or the GBC Highways Development Management Officer to the level of parking 
provision, albeit that the development falls below the standards above.

6.84 On site cycle parking will be provided to promote more sustainable transport options. 
These spaces will be situated in a secure, covered and weatherproof area within the 
development. Cycle parking (using a Josta Vertical system) will be provided at ground 
floor level for the new residential units adjacent to the refuse store at the front

6.85 There remain a number of detailed design issues relating to the parking layout, visibility 
and access that need to be resolved if the application were to be supported but subject 
to these matters there is no overall highway objection to the development and the 
development would not therefore be contrary to Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
CS11, the NPPF (section 9) or saved policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review.

Other Material Considerations

Ecology and Biodiversity

6.86 The application site falls within 6km of the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special 
Protection Area (SPA) classified in accordance with the European Birds Directive which 

Page 91



requires Member States to classify sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 
1 of the European Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European context, and 
also sites that form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It is also listed as a 
Wetland of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site).  Studies 
have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in areas that are busiest with 
recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found that additional dwellings were 
likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing disturbance to protected bird 
species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 
75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA 
boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that they 
affect the status and distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the stated 
conservation objectives of the European Sites.  

6.87 The Borough Council has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every planning 
application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 6km zone 
since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and Monitoring Strategy 
(SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £245.56 per dwelling).  This approach is approved by 
Natural England for all new residential developments.

6.88 For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats) which does not 
require any other contributions to be secured through a s106 legal agreement or unilateral 
undertaking the tariff has been secured through a contribution agreement.  The tariff has 
been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate Assessment (AA) under the Habitat 
Regulations and thus avoiding the need to progress into a full AA.

6.89 However a more recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling means that this 
approach is now no longer valid and although the mitigation measures (in the form of a 
tariff payment) will still need to be made the first stage will be a screening assessment as 
to whether the development either alone or in combination, is likely to have significant 
effects on a designated site without mitigation.  The CJEU sees a distinction between “the 
plan or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a 
plan or project on a European site”. This means that mitigation measures, which are 
intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be assessed within the framework of an AA and 
cannot be taken into account at the screening stage.  

6.90 A Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) has not been submitted or undertaken and 
therefore it is not possible to satisfactorily conclude that adequate measures could be put 
in place to mitigate the significant adverse effects of permitting the development on the 
designated site of the North Kent Marshes SPA/Ramsar.  At this stage the applicant has 
not indicated whether they are in agreement to the Strategic Access Mitigation and 
Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment as mitigation.

6.91 If planning permission were to be recommended for the scheme this issue would need to 
be resolved or otherwise the proposal would have to be considered as being contrary to 
Paragraphs 175 and 176 of the NPPF and Policy CS12 (LPCS).

6.92 No specific ecological assessment has been submitted by the applicants to evaluate the 
ecological importance of the existing grassed area (and formerly what was the public 
house garden when the building was in use as the Whitehill Tavern) and any survey of the 
vegetation or trees undertaken at the rear of the Tesco Express.   There are neighbour 
objections relating to the impact on the ecology at the ear of the Tesco Express although 
there are no significant trees on the site and the ecological value is likely to be low. 

Page 92



Drainage/Flood Risk

6.93 The application is supported by a Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Assessment that 
concludes that the development is at low risk of flooding and a sustainable solution for 
managing both the surface water runoff and foul effluent discharged from the proposed 
development at Whitehill Lane is available and that the proposal will meet the requirements 
of the NPPF and local planning policy.

6.94 There are no drainage objections to the proposals from Southern Water or KCC - 
Sustainable Drainage Engineer subject to conditions and informatives. 

Waste & Recycling

6.95 The proposals include provision for waste storage and recycling within the entrance area to 
the flatted development and which will include a residential bin store and a separate 
commercial bin store for the Tesco Express.  The refuse storage calculation is based on 
British Standard BS5906 ‘Waste Management in Buildings’.

6.96 The GBC Waste & Recycling Manager does not raise an objection to the refuse 
arrangements.  The refuse arrangements for the development comply with Policy CS19 
(LPCS).

6.97 Refuse storage provision and servicing has been assessed in the applicants submitted 
Transport and Servicing Assessment.  There is some existing crate storage within the 
existing Tesco Express service yard and it is unclear how this will be accommodated within 
the scheme.

Developer Contributions 

6.98 Dartford and Swanley Commissioning Group have requested a contribution of £10,368 
towards Oakfield Health Centre Practice Surgery.  This would have to be secured through 
an s106 legal agreement if the scheme is permitted. 

6.99 The quantum of development proposed is below the threshold at which contributions are 
sought from Kent County Council towards education and other social and community 
provision.

 

Financial Benefits

6.100 In terms of other financial benefits, it is noted that these will accrue to the area as and 
when permissions are granted. The Government wishes to ensure that the decision making 
process for planning applications is a transparent as possible, so that local communities 
are more aware of the financial benefits that development can bring to their area. In this 
instance the proposed new residential units would generate the New Homes Bonus and 
Council Tax receipts.

7. Conclusions and Balancing Exercise 

7.1 Planning permission was refused on 06 November 2018 under officer delegated powers
for an application (ref 20180867) submitted by the same applicants but just for the 
change of use of part of Whitehill Lane Open Space to a car park involving the 

Page 93



construction of 27 car parking spaces with vehicle turning area and with vehicular 
access from Whitehill Parade and including removal of the existing lay by parking.  It did 
not include any associated residential development as part of the application. 

7.2 The current planning application for both a 3 storey building for 12 flats and for ‘off-site’ 
car parking was submitted in early April 2019 prior to the outcome of a planning appeal 
that had been lodged by the applicants against the decision by the Borough Council to 
refuse planning permission for the proposed car park on the Whitehill Open space.  

7.3 That appeal against the refusal of the car parking on the open space was DISMISSED 
by the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) on 22 May 2019, the appointed Planning Inspector 
agreeing with the Borough Council that the proposed loss of designated amenity 
greenspace would have a materially harmful impact on the supply and provision of 
greenspace in the locality in conflict with local planning policies CS12 & CS13 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (CS), policy DM21 of the Emerging Development 
Management Policies Document April 2018 (DMP) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), that the proposal would unacceptably harm the character and 
appearance of the locality, contrary to policy and that the proposal would likely have an 
adverse impact of pedestrian highway safety and was not justified having regard to the 
accessibility of the locality.

7.4 Part of the current planning application is effectively for the same proposal being for a 
car park on the same area of the Whitehill open space that has been turned down on 
appeal albeit that it is now clear that the intention of the proposed car park is not just for 
the commercial uses at the shopping parade (Tesco Express and the other retail units) 
but also for future occupants of the second element of the development, namely the 
three storey building cloaking the rear of the Tesco Express for 12 new flats.  The fact 
that such a development has been rejected by PINS as an independent adjudicator just 
two months ago is a very material consideration in the assessment and determination of 
this current planning application.

7.5 There is therefore a clear planning policy objection to the loss of open space at this site 
and refusal is also supported by the Council’s Leisure Manager and Horticultural 
Services Manager. Although this part of the Whitehill open space is private land and 
apparently no longer accessible to the public this does not affect its status as amenity 
greenspace, which does not need to be accessible to the public for it to provide visual 
amenity for local residents.  It is not surplus to requirements and performs a function of 
providing a visual break to the urban form.

7.6 It is considered that the residential proposal is overdevelopment of the site out of 
character with the local area and will result in an over-dominant mass and built form 
contrary to local and national policy and notably policy CS19 of the Core Strategy and 
section 12 of the NPPF.

7.7 Although the applicants have included design features such as angled windows and 
screening to balconies the height of the development and the proximity to the rear 
gardens of existing dwellings in Ivy Close are such that the proposal will be an 
unneighbourly development and contrary to policy CS19 of the Core Strategy. 

7.8 In response to the publicity given to the application there have been a considerable 
number of neighbour objections from local residents principally from properties at the 
rear on the south side of the site in Ivy Close and which are clearly the most affected by 
the development.  The objections are to impact on local amenity, significant traffic 
generation and congestion and inadequacy of parking, impact on the character of the 

Page 94



area, the scale and design being inappropriate and to the loss of open space and 
ecology on the site.

7.9 There are also a significant number of letters of support for the development although it 
has to be recognised that these have been received from local residents within the 
Borough that are not directly affected by the development proposals and thus carry very 
limited weight.

7.10 Although the development would make a small contribution to the overall housing need 
for the Borough the positive aspects of the development in this case are clearly 
outweighed by the various negative aspects.  

7.11 It is therefore recommended to the Board that the application be REFUSED

______________________________________________________________________________

RECOMMENDATION 

REFUSED on the following grounds:

1. That part of the application site shown as proposed commercial and residential car parking is 
designated as amenity greenspace within the Borough Council's ‘Open Space Assessment', April 
2016.  Insufficient evidence has been submitted to justify the loss of the amenity greenspace and 
as such the proposal fails to comply with Policy CS13 (Green Space, Sport and Recreation) of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 which indicates that the Council will seek 
to make adequate provision for and protect and enhance the quantity, quality and accessibility of 
green space in accordance with an adequate up to date and relevant evidence base.  The 
development is also contrary to Core Strategy Policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) which indicates 
that all green spaces contribute to the green infrastructure network and that the network of green 
spaces will be protected, enhanced and maintained.  It is also contrary to emerging Policy DM 21 
(Open Space, Playing Pitches and Sports Facilities Retention) of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation Part 2: Development Management Policies Document April 
2018.  At a national planning policy level paragraph 97 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) 2019 indicates that existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless certain criteria are met.  It is not considered 
that any of the criteria in paragraph 97 of the NPPF 2019 would be met to set aside the loss of 
open space in this case.

2. It is considered that visually that part of the proposed development for commercial and 
residential car parking on the Whitehill amenity greenspace would cause material harm to the 
character and appearance of the locality resulting not just in the loss of the green space which 
clearly is a local amenity and asset to this part of the urban area but it would also add a greater 
urban appearance to the area with a significant increase in hard surfacing to the detriment of local 
amenity and contrary to policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy September 2014 which  requires new development to be visually 
attractive, fit for purpose and locally distinctive and conserve and enhance the character of the 
local built and natural environment and integrate well with the surrounding area.  

3. The proposal by virtue of its siting, height, bulk, massing and design would create an overly 
dominant development that would not relate well to the character of the street scene and would 
not integrate well with the surrounding local area. As such the proposed development would, if 
permitted, fail to maintain the prevailing character of the area contrary to the objectives of 

Page 95



Policies CS15 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and sections 11 
and 12 of the NPPF.

4. The proposed development by virtue of its siting, height, bulk, massing and design would 
create an overly dominant addition and unneighbourly form of development that would 
adversely affect the living conditions and privacy and amenity of the occupants of adjoining 
dwellings particularly those in Ivy Close. As such, it would be contrary to Policy CS19 
(Development and Design Principles) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014), which amongst other criteria requires new development safeguard the amenity of 
neighbouring properties and to integrate well with the surrounding area.  It would also be 
contrary to paragraph 127 of the NPPF that indicates that development should create places 
that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 
standard of amenity for existing and future users.

INFORMATIVES

1. DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS

For the avoidance of doubt the decision to refuse this application was taken in relation to the 
following plans and documents:

Planning Application Form, including certificates;
Design and Access Statement (ref SHE-0381 Rev 3 dated 20th March 2019);

Drawing No SHE-0381-1 Rev P1: Site Location Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-2 Rev P: Existing Site Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-4 Rev P: Existing North and West Elevations; 
Drawing No SHE-0381-10 Rev P1: Site Plan - Roof Level;
Drawing No SHE-0381-11 Rev P1: Proposed Ground Floor and Landscaping Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-12 Rev P1: Proposed Ground Floor Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-13 Rev P1: Upper Floors and Roof Plan;
Drawing No SHE-0381-14 Rev P1: Proposed North and East Elevations (including Colour 
Version);
Drawing No SHE-0381-15 Rev P: Proposed South and West Elevations (including Colour 
Version);
Drawing No SHE-0381-16 Rev P: Proposed North Elevation with Existing Context (including 
Colour Version);
Drawing No SHE-0381-17 Rev P1: Car Park Plan - Proposed;

Flood Risk and Sustainable Drainage Assessment by Herington Consulting dated March 2019; 
Noise Impact Assessment by Eden Green Environmental (Report EGE238 Rev C dated 
26.02.2019;

Analysis of Open Space Provision within the vicinity of Tesco Express prepared by LUC, March 
2019;
Phase 1 Environmental Report by Contaminated Land Solutions (Report ref: 1540-P1E-1, dated 
14 February 2018);
Whitehill Parade Lighting (ref 14391-1-A) by DW Windsor);
Transport and Servicing Statement by Eden Green Environmental (ref EGE-238 Rev B, dated 
11.03.2019 
Existing Plant Photographs;
Air Conditioning Product Information Sheets;

Page 96



 

2 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION TAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment 
and determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has 
worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance 
with the Development Plan for the area.

In this instance, the application is contrary to local and national planning policy and the planning 
objections could not be overcome by amendments to the scheme or through the imposition of 
acceptable and appropriate planning conditions. 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 8 May 2019 

by Elizabeth Lawrence BTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 22 May 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/K2230/W/19/3221819 

Whitehill Open Space, Whitehill Lane, Gravesend, Kent, DA12 5LS. 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mr Ravi Shetra against the decision of Gravesham Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref 20180867, dated 16 August 2018, was refused by notice dated 6 
November 2018. 

• The development proposed is described as: to provide a car parking with 27 bays in 
total, 25 as standard parking plus 2 for wheelchair users. 

 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary matters 

2. Since the planning application was refused the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2018 has been replaced by the National Planning Policy Framework 

2019 (Framework).  I consider that the Framework has not introduced any 

material changes which affect the consideration of this Appeal.  

3. The Council has been suggested that the proposed car park would be to serve a 
possible development within the existing car park to the rear of the Tesco store 

located along Whitehill Parade.  However, no such proposal is before me and 

the Appellant has stated that the proposed car park would benefit local 

businesses and would include two disabled parking spaces.  The Appeal has 
been dealt with on that basis.  

Main Issues 

4. The first main issue is the effect of the proposed loss of designated amenity 

greenspace on the supply and provision of open green space in the locality. The 

second main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and 

appearance of the locality.  The third main issue is the effect of the proposal on 
the local highway network and whether the proposal is justified having regard 

to the availability of parking within and the accessibility of the locality.  The 

fourth main issue is the effect of the proposal on the living conditions of local 

residents.   

Reasons 

Greenspace 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K2230/W/19/3221819 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The Appellant has explained that for many years the Council leased the Appeal 

site and maintained it as part of a larger area of open space, which included 

the adjoining land to the north.  There was a clause in the lease which allowed 
the owner of the land to recover possession of the land so that they could use 

it for a private car park or as open space only.  The Appellant owns the land 

and has recovered possession of it.  The Appeal site has been separated off 

from the remainder of the open space to the north and is no longer accessible 
by the public.  It now comprises a small area of privately owned greenspace.  

6. Together, policies CS12 and CS13 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 

2014 (CS), seek to create, protect and enhance an adequate and 

multifunctional linked network of green spaces, in accordance with an 

adequate, up to date and relevant evidence base.  The supporting text to these 
policies advises that all green spaces contribute towards the Borough’s green 

infrastructure network and that all developments will be expected to protect 

and enhance landscape features as part of Gravesham’s green infrastructure 
network.   

7. The Appeal site is designated as part of the Whitehill Lane amenity greenspace 

in the Council’s Open Space Assessment 2016 (OSA) and Open Space 

Standards Paper 2016 (OSSP).  The OSA describes amenity greenspace as 

opportunities for informal activities close to home or work or enhancement of 
the appearance of residential or other areas.  Both reports note that amenity 

greenspace makes a valuable contribution to visual aesthetics for communities 

and neither of the reports distinguish between publicly and privately owned 

land.   

8. The OSSP states that within the urban areas within the Borough there is an  
identified shortage of amenity greenspace.  Whitehill Lane greenspace is 

categorised as being of high quality, albeit of low value.  The report explains 

that amenity greenspaces have a slightly higher proportion of low value 

provision.  This reflects the lack of ancillary features, leading to a lack of 
recreational use in comparison to other sites.  It also includes a number of the 

smaller sized sites, although the value they provide in terms of visual 

recreational amenity as well as a break in the built form can still be important.  

9. The greenspace adjoining the Appeal site can readily be said to provide 

opportunities for informal activities close to homes and work, together with the 
enhancement of the appearance of the surrounding residential areas.  The open 

green is suitable for walking, ball games and other informal activities and at 

the same time the open greenspace provides an attractive focal point within an 
established residential area, adding to the quality and appearance of the areas.  

Since its separation from the adjoining openspace the Appeal site no longer 

provides opportunities for informal activities.   However, it continues to 
comprise part of the open and undeveloped greenspace between Whitehill 

Parade and Whitehill Lane, which provides an open and attractive undeveloped 

focal point in the locality.   

10. Policy DM21 of the Gravesham Local Plan Regulation 18 Stage 1 Consultation 

Part 2: Development Management Policy 2018 (Emerging DMP), states that the 
change of use or redevelopment of existing open spaces will only be allowed 

where the loss will be mitigated by equivalent provision elsewhere; the 

development is for an alternative sports/recreational use; or the current use 

will be retained and enhanced through the provision of limited enabling 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K2230/W/19/3221819 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

development.  As the Emerging DMP is a Stage 1 consultation document I give 

only a modest amount of weight to policy DM21 of the Emerging DMP in 

relation to this Appeal.  

11. Similarly, paragraph 97 of the Framework states that existing open space 

should not be built on unless it has been shown to be surplus to requirements; 
it would be replaced elsewhere; or it is to be redeveloped for recreational or 

sports provision.  

12. The proposal would result in the loss of the eastern part of the Whitehill Lane 

greenspace.  Whilst this area is currently fenced off and not accessible to the 

public, it nonetheless comprises part of the overall Whitehill Lane greenspace 
and contributes to the size and supply of green space in the immediate and 

wider area.   

13. The use of the Appeal site for a car park would not protect or enhance the 

greenspace comprised in the Appeal site, or the adjoining greenspace, even 

with the introduction of tree planting.  At the same time the proposal would not 
meet any of the criteria set out in policy DM21 of the Emerging DMP or 

paragraph 97 of the Framework.   

14. The Appellant has stated that the proposed parking would benefit local 

businesses and residents.  The commercial units along the parade are modest 

in size and benefit from forecourt parking to the front of them.  In addition, the 
highway along this stretch of Whitehill Parade is wide and on-street parking is 

unrestricted along Whitehill Parade and Whitehill Lane.  The local Tesco store 

benefits from its own car park and the parade is within easy walking and 

cycling distance of a large residential catchment.  

15. At the time of the Appeal site visit there were a significant number of on-street 
and off-street parking spaces available.  This included vacant on-street parking 

spaces along all sections of Whitehall Parade, Whitehill Lane and on-site spaces 

within the forecourt area to the front of the commercial units.  Overall, the 

level of on-street and off-street parking appears to be ample to meet the needs 
of local businesses and residents.  In coming to this view, I acknowledge that 

my visit was only a snapshot in time.  However, little evidence has been 

provided to me that would indicate that sufficient spaces are not available to 
meet the needs of the existing commercial units and local residents. 

16. Whilst it is acknowledged that there are other amenity greenspaces in the area 

that are categorised as being of high quality and value, the proposal would 

result in a material reduction in the size of the greenspace and would have an 

urbanising impact on it.  Also, although there are other larger greenspaces in 
the locality, as indicated in the OSA and the CS, open spaces vary in size and 

purpose and collectively they contribute towards the Borough’s green 

infrastructure network as a whole.   

17. The loss of the Appeal site as part of an amenity greenspace would have a 

negative impact on the quality and value of the overall greenspace and would 
reduce the supply of amenity greenspace within the area and the Borough as a 

whole.     

18. For the reasons set out above I give little weight to the stated benefits that 

would result from the provision of the proposed car park and the availability of 

other green spaces in the locality.  Any such benefits would be materially 

Page 101

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K2230/W/19/3221819 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

outweighed by the harm that would be caused due to the loss of part of an 

existing greenspace.   

19. The Appellant has referred to the redevelopment of a former depot site for 

housing.  From the limited evidence submitted it appears that the site was 

located in a residential area which included areas of private and public 
greenspace and that the site itself was occupied by a large building and 

included extensive areas of hard surfacing and parking.  It was redeveloped for 

housing arranged around areas of private and communal greenspace.  As such 
this site is not comparable to the Appeal site.  

20. It is acknowledged that planning permission was granted for a parking layby to 

serve the Tesco store development, which encroaches slightly into the Appeal 

site.  Not only was the size of the incursion very small, the development was 

approved in 2010, before the publication of the Framework, the CS, the 
emerging DMP, the OSA and the OSSP.  As such the way that this and other 

sites have been dealt with by the Council do not set a precedent for the 

proposal, which needs to be assessed on its individual merits, in light of the 

prevailing planning policies and having regard to all other matters.  

21. Finally, as stated by the Council, should the site become an eyesore through 

lack of maintenance, the Council has the powers to ensure that the land is 
maintained in a condition that is not injurious to local amenity.  

22. I conclude on the first main issue that the proposed loss of designated amenity 

greenspace would have a materially harmful impact on the supply and 

provision of greenspace in the locality.  It would directly conflict with policies 

CS12 & CS13 of the CS, policy DM21 of the Emerging DMP and the Framework.   

Character and appearance 

23. Whitehill Lane greenspace occupies a prominent and open position between 

Whitehill Lane and Whitehill Parade. Due to the topography of the area there 
are open views over the whole of the greenspace, which provides an open 

green setting to the surrounding homes and the parade of shops.  It forms a 

focal point within the street scene and makes a valuable contribution to the 
spacious and suburban character and appearance of the locality.  

24. Currently the Appeal site is blocked off from the remainder of the greenspace.  

Notwithstanding the utilitarian appearance of the low concrete barriers around 

the site, visually the land remains open and affords open views into and out of 

the greenspace.  At the same time, visually it appears as a continuation of the 
adjoining greenspace. 

25. Policy CS19 of the CS requires new development to be visually attractive and 

to conserve and enhance the character of the local built and natural 

environment.  New development should help provide a mix of compatible uses 

which are well connected to local services and facilities and which encourage 
sustainable travel, enhance green grid links and healthier lifestyles.  In 

addition, car parking should be well related to the development it serves. These 

objectives are consistent with the Framework.  

26. If the proposed parking was accessible to users of the commercial businesses 

along the parade it would be well related to the development it serves.  
However, as indicated above little evidence has been submitted to demonstrate 

a need for additional car parking in the immediate area.  Little evidence has 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K2230/W/19/3221819 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

been submitted to demonstrate that the proposal would benefit any local 

businesses.  At the same time, to provide excessive or unnecessary car parking 

would run counter to encouraging sustainable travel. 

27. The proposed car park would occupy almost all of the Appeal site.  It would be 

hard surfaced and presumably enclosed by railings, fencing, bollards, or similar 
for safety reasons.  The proposed planting around some of the edges of the car 

park would do little to screen its hard, urban and utilitarian appearance.  When 

occupied the vehicles would add to the utilitarian appearance of the site and 
would block views towards the adjoining greenspace.  As a result, the proposed 

car park would be visually unattractive and would have an urbanising impact 

on the adjoining green space, the frontage to the commercial units and the 

street scene as a whole.  It would materially detract from the character and 
appearance of the local environment.     

28. I conclude on the second main issue that the proposal would unacceptably 

harm the character and appearance of the locality, contrary to policy CS19 of 

the CS. 

Highways and parking 

29. Amongst other things policy CS11 of the CS seeks the provision of sufficient 

parking in accordance with the adopted parking standards and improvements 

to walking and cycling facilities.  The Kent and Medway Structure Plan 
Supplementary Planning Guidance – Kent Vehicle Parking Standards 2006 

(SPG4) sets out maximum parking standards for new developments.   The 

Framework states that applications for development should give priority first to 

pedestrian and cycle movements and address the needs of people with 
disabilities.   

30. As stated above, the existing on-street and off-street parking spaces in the 

locality appear to meet the likely needs of local businesses.  Little evidence has 

been submitted to demonstrate a need for additional parking facilities in the 

locality and no local businesses which would like or require additional parking 
have been identified. Without such information it is not possible to assess 

whether the proposal would meet the likely needs of any local businesses.   

31. The proposed car park would have the potential to concentrate and increase 

vehicle movements at the end of Whitehill Parade.  This would have the 

potential to result in congestion during busy periods in an area that is devoid of 
pavements.  In relation to the proposed parking layout insufficient space is 

provided for vehicles reversing into or out of the proposed car parking spaces 

numbered 1 and 18.   These factors would make the immediate area less 
attractive and safe for pedestrians.   

32. Accordingly, whilst I consider that any potential impact on highway safety 

would not be significant, on the basis of the information submitted, I find that 

the proposal would likely have an adverse impact on pedestrian safety and 

would fail to encourage sustainable travel or improve walking and cycling 
facilities.  Whilst the provision of two disabled parkjng spaces weighs in favour 

of the proposal, they would fail to outweigh the harm resulting from the 

potential harm to pedestrian highway safety and the failure to encourage 
sustainable travel or improve walking and cycling.  

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/K2230/W/19/3221819 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

33. As set out in paragraphs 14 and 15 of this statement, it has not been 

demonstrated that, having regard to the availability of the parking in the 

locality and the accessibility of the site that the proposed development is 
justified.  This weighs against the proposal having regard to its impact on 

pedestrian highway safety, the supply of greenspace in the Borough and the 

character and appearance of the area.  

34. Finally, Matters relating to lighting, fencing, security, signage and surface 

water drainage are all matters that could be adequately dealt with by condition.    

35. I conclude on the third main issue that the proposal would likely have an 

adverse impact of pedestrian highway safety and is not justified having regard 
to the accessibility of the locality.  The scheme would be contrary to policies 

CS11 & CS19 of the CS and the SPD4. 

Living conditions 

36. Concern has been expressed that the use of the proposed car park would result 

in noise and disturbance for local residents.  The Appellant has confirmed that  

the proposed car park is to serve the existing businesses and the public.  As 

such it would be unlikely to attract a material increase in vehicular movements 
in the area.  At the same time the car park would be separated from nearby 

houses by Whitehill Lane and Whitehill Parade.   

37. As a result of these factors I consider that it is unlikely that the use of the car 

park, as proposed, would result in a level of noise and disturbance that would 

materially harm the living conditions of any local residents.  

38. I conclude on the fourth main issue that the proposal would not have a 

materially harmful impact on the living conditions of local residents.  
Accordingly, it would comply with policy CS19 of the CS, which amongst other 

things, seeks to safeguard the living conditions of residents and avoid adverse 

environmental impacts from pollution.  

Conclusion 

39. Whilst I have found in favour of the Appellant on the fourth main issue, the 

conclusions on the first three main issues amount to compelling reasons for 
dismissing this Appeal, which the imposition of conditions would not 

satisfactorily address.  

 

Elizabeth Lawrence 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


20190252
Land rear of Tesco Express Whitehill Lane
and Whitehill open space, DA12 5LS

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



SUMMARY REPORT

Application Ref: 20190451

Site Address: 74 Parrock Street Gravesend Kent DA12 1HF

Application 
Description: Change of Use to Sui Generis House in Multiple Occupation HMO.  

Applicant: Mr Robert Schulz

Agent: Mr Kingsley Hughes, Designscape Consultancy Limited

Ward: Central

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 3 July 2019 (Extension of time agreed until 26 July 2019

Publicity expiry date: 14 June 2019

Decision Level: Planning Regulatory Board - 24 July 2019 - 

Reason for referral:

At the request of Cllr Steve Thompson who considers that:
 The number of HMOs on Parrock Street and surrounding streets 

is over saturation
 There is insufficient on-street parking for current residents.
 The accumulation of refuse on the stretch of Parrock Street - due 

in part to the lack of refuse storage space in the HMOs - No 74 
appears to have no such storage space either.

 There is a lack of space for the storage of bicycles.

Recommendation: PERMISSION  
_______________________________________________________________________________________________

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations

The application site comprises a four storey dwelling, which is located on the west side of 
Parrock Street to the south of its junction with Homemead Close.  This area lies within the 
northern most part of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area. 

The proposal is for the change of use of an existing single family dwelling into housing in 
multiple occupation (HMO) for 8 people. The conversion provides 8 single bedrooms with 
dedicated shower facilities for each room and a shared kitchen/diner.  The rear garden provides 
space for two vehicles to park, a bin store and cycle storage, plus amenity space for future 
occupiers. 

Limited external alterations are proposed to the exterior of the building, but a front boundary 
wall, piers and railings will be reinstated along the site frontage.  The rear garden area will be 
resurfaced in accordance with details to be submitted via a planning condition. 

The application site lies on a busy arterial route into the town centre where most properties 
have already been converted into flats and maisonettes.  Given the high levels of flatted 

Page 107 Agenda Item 5c



development, this is considered to be an appropriate location for conversion in an accessible 
and sustainable location.  The size and internal arrangement of the building would qualify as 
being appropriate for conversion pursuant to criteria set out in saved policy H5 of the 
Gravesham local Plan First Review and the emerging Development Management Policy DM29. 

The internal space provided accords with the national and local space standards and will not 
adversely impact on the amenities of future occupiers or the occupants of neighbouring 
properties, in line with the objectives of Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) and 
saved policy H5.

The proposal makes provision for two onsite car parking spaces and cycle storage provision for 
8 bicycles (one for each unit).  This level of provision is supported by the Highway Engineer, 
given the nature of the accommodation and type of tenant likely to occupy it; the proximity of 
the site to public transport options and services and facilities and the flexibility that Core 
Strategy policy Cs11 (Transport) allows in applying parking standards in such sustainable 
locations.  

No major alterations are proposed to the external appearance of the main building facades, 
however the front boundary wall, piers and railings will be reinstated and the area to the rear of 
the property will be resurfaced which provides a positive enhancement to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area in accordance with the objectives of Core Strategy policy 
CS20 (Heritage and the Historic Environment).  Appropriately design storage areas for waste 
and bicycles will be secured within the rear garden.  

Mitigation measures, in the form of a signed SAMMS Agreement form and financial contribution 
have been provided to address any potential adverse impacts on the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes Ramras Site and Special Protection Area through additional recreational activity in 
accordance with Core Strategy policy CS12 (Green Infrastructure) and the comments received 
from Natural England.   

It is therefore recommended to the Board that the application be PERMITTED
____________________________________________________________________________

MAIN REPORT

1 Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 The application site lies in the urban area where Core Strategy policy CS02 gives 
support for new development.  The site lies comprises a 5 bedroom (8 rooms) three 
storey terraced property with a semi basement located on the west side of Parrock 
Street to the south of Home Mead Close.  This area lies within the Windmill Hill 
Conservation Area. 

1.2 The dwelling is set back from the pavement and would originally have had an enclosed 
frontage.  The frontage area is currently open and provides steps up to a raised ground 
floor and a separate access to the semi basement. The property has a part single/part 
two storey original rear extension which provides a kitchen at ground floor level, with a 
bathroom over. There is a further single storey addition which is accessed from the rear 
garden only.  The rear garden is used partially for recreation and partially for vehicular 
parking.  There is vehicular access to the site via a service road onto Home Mead 
Close. The building is currently occupied as a single family dwelling and is poorly 
maintained.  

1.3 The neighbouring buildings are largely three storey terraced properties with semi 
basements.  The majority of properties within this locality are converted to flats and 

Page 108



maisonettes, with the exception of no’s 83a and 84 Parrock Street which are 
longstanding houses in multiple occupation (HMO’s) with 8 and 14 bedsit units 
respectively.  Also No 79 Parrock Street (Culver House) is a hotel/guest house offering 
short term accommodation rather than permanent accommodation and as such falls 
outside the definition of an HMO.

2 Planning History

2.1 The site has been subject to two pre application enquiries this year for the conversion of 
the premises into a six person and an eight person House in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO).  No other planning applications relate to this property.

3 Proposal

3.1 This proposal seeks to convert the existing dwelling into an HMO for 8 people.  It 
provides 8 single rooms, 7 of which have ensuite facilities and the 8th having a separate 
shower room.  A shared kitchen/dining room is proposed at ground floor level in the 
existing rear extensions.  A bin store and secure cycle storage is proposed in the rear 
garden alongside vehicular parking for two cars. There are two trees within the rear 
garden which will be retained. 

3.2 The property will be managed by a letting agent who specialises in houses in multiple 
occupation.

3.3 The following plans and documents were submitted with the application:
 Application Form (7 May 2019)
 Site Location Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/75 - Existing Block Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/76 – Existing Site Layout Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/77 – Existing Plans (Floor Plans) (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/78 Rev A - Revised Existing Elevations (10 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/100 – Proposed Block Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/101 Rev B - Revised Proposed Site Layout Plan (9 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 0394/102 Rev B - Revised Proposed Plans (9 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 0394/103 Rev C – Revised Proposed Elevations (10 July 2019)
 Emails from the agent dated 8 July and 11 July 2019
 Design and Access Statement 

4 Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014):
 CS01 – Sustainable Development
 CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development
 CS11 – Transport
 CS12 - Green Infrastructures 
 CS14 – Housing Type and Size
 CS18 – Climate Change
 CS19  - Development & Design Principles

Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (November 1994):
 H5 - Increasing the Housing Stock by the Conversion of Existing Buildings
 TC3 - Development affecting Conservation Areas
 P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards

Page 109



Other material considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)
 Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
 Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
 Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
 Section 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
 Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Supplementary Planning Guidance
 SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996)
 SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
 Nationally Described Space Standards 
 Guidance on HMO Amenity Standards 

5 Consultations and Publicity Responses

5.1 Consultations – internal 

GBC Regulatory Services 
No comments provided

GBC -Highway Development Management Officer
This is an edge of centre development where both KCC and Gravesham Borough 
Council have maximum parking standards for residential properties, therefore the 
existing car parking provision is deemed adequate. However as this will be a property in 
multiple occupation, ideally each bedroom should be provided with a secure and 
weather proof bicycle storage space.

The following table is extracted from SPG4 for residential dwellings;

 

Therefore to be acceptable, adequate cycle parking should be provided which would be 
7 spaces. I do not believe it is appropriate to allow any discount for the existing family 
dwelling as the occupants may all wish to have some form of personal mobility be it car, 
bicycle or even motorcycle and they will no longer be acting as a family unit where the 
ability to share is more likely to occur.

Page 110



Given the Government’s intention to cease the manufacture of fossil fuelled vehicles, 
the applicant may wish to consider providing vehicle electric charging points at the car 
parking spaces.

GBC - Private Housing 
The applicant must be satisfied that no Category 1 hazards exist as defined by the 
Housing Act 2004, Housing Health and Safety Rating system (HHSRS).  Information on 
the Housing Act 2004 and HHSRS can be found at www.gov.uk

The proposals will constitute a house in multiple occupation (HMO) and one which will 
require licensing. Further information and an online application can be found at 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/houses-in-multiple-occupation/overview 

Compliance with the following guidance document must also be met: ‘Guidance to HMO 
Amenity Standards’, which can be found on the website.

GBC - Conservation Architect
The main issues in respect of the conservation area relate to the two surviving sash 
windows at the front, top floor and the front boundary brick piers, wall and railings. 
These should be retained and refurbished.  The box frames appeared sound, although 
the opening sashes could be replaced with new timber and double glazed sealed units. 
Information to this effect needs to be included in the application. There are local 
companies that can carry this out.

The boundary wall, brick piers and railings to the front have been removed and need to 
be re-instated.  We pointed out a surviving wall railings opposite at 92/93 which should 
be matched. The brick piers should match those next door at 72/73 Parrock Street.

Other items include:
 Trees in the rear garden need to be included in the plans, showing if they are to 

be removed.
 The rear wall and a set of gates need to be included in the submissions.
 The removal of chimney stacks needs further information.
 The kitchen window arrangement needs to be revised.
 Furniture layout (including storage) needs to be included on the plans.
 The ensuites need to be handled so that the next door ensuite is as far away as 

possible from the bed in the adjacent room.  This will also allow wardrobe space 
where ensuite doors and handed.

 Satellite dishes should not be installed on the front façade.
 No services on the front façade (gas pipes, vents, etc)

GBC -Waste Management 
I have reviewed this planning application and have the following comments on refuse 
collection arrangements.

The plans do not show a bin storage area for this HMO so before I can comment fully I 
require to know where refuse and recycling bins will be stored between collections. 

Revised plans were submitted showing a bin store in the rear garden and the Waste 
and Recycling Manger has made the following updated comments: 

I have reviewed the amended planning application and have the following comments on 
refuse collection arrangements.

Page 111

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/licensing/houses-in-multiple-occupation/overview


I can confirm that I am happy with the refuse/recycling storage area being located at the 
rear of the property with access gained via the rear access way in Home Mead Close.

The property is an 8 bedroom HMO so the property requires space for a minimum of 2 x 
240ltr bins for each material type (refuse and recycling).  To allow for food waste there 
needs to be space for 3 x 23ltr food caddies

I have detailed below the measurements of each type of bin.

Capacity 240ltr 
Recycling 
Bin

23ltr Food 
Caddy

Length 585mm 380mm
Width 740mm 290mm
Height 1100mm 405mm

5.2 Consultations – External 

Natural England 

DESIGNATED SITES [EUROPEAN] – NO OBJECTION SUBJECT TO SECURING 
APPROPRIATE MITIGATION 

This advice should be taken as Natural England’s formal representation on appropriate 
assessment given under regulation 63(3) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended). You are entitled to have regard to this representation. 

With regard to European Sites, Natural England does not object to the granting of this 
permission subject to the advice given below. 

Natural England advises that the specific measures previously identified and analysed 
by your Authority to prevent harmful effects on coastal European Sites from increased 
recreational pressure should be applied to this proposed development at appropriate 
assessment. 

Your authority has measures in place to manage these potential impacts through the 
agreed strategic solution which we consider to be ecologically sound. Natural England is 
of the view that if these measures, including contributions to them, are implemented, 
they will be effective and reliable in preventing harmful effects on the European Site(s) 
for the duration of the proposed development. 

Providing that the appropriate assessment concludes that these measures must be 
secured as planning conditions or obligations by your authority to ensure their strict 
implementation for the full duration of the development, and providing that there are no 
other adverse impacts identified by your authority’s appropriate assessment, Natural 
England is satisfied that this appropriate assessment can ascertain that there will be no 
adverse effect on the integrity of the European Site in view of its conservation 
objectives.

If your authority’s appropriate assessment has identified any other adverse impacts from 
the proposed development in addition to those that may be caused by increased 
recreational pressure and which have not been addressed by your Authority, you must 
consult Natural England for further advice on this appropriate assessment. Permission 
should not be granted until such time as Natural England has been able to consider 
these additional impacts and respond.

Page 112



5.3 Publicity 

Nine surrounding properties were consulted by direct mail and a site notice was 
displayed near the site and published in the local newspaper, as development affecting 
the character or appearance of a conservation area.  The public consultation expired on 
14 June 2019 and no representations have been received. 

6 Planning Manager (Development Management) Comments 

6.1 The key planning issues in determining this application are:

 Whether the property is suitable for conversion 
 Residential amenity of future occupants and occupants of neighbouring 

properties
 Parking 
 Impact on the Windmill Hill conservation area

Other material considerations include:

 Waste Management 
 Biodiversity 

Suitability for Conversion

6.2 Adopted Policy CS14 (Housing Type and Size) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(LPCS) provides protection for existing housing stock by seeking to prevent the conversion 
of family sized units to smaller properties.  In line with the NPPF, it also stipulates that new 
housing development is expected to provide a range of dwelling types and sizes taking into 
account the existing character of the area and evidence of local need to create sustainable 
and balanced communities.  

6.3 Policy CS14 is supported by saved policy H5 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
which seeks to accommodate the growing numbers of smaller households and provide low 
cost accommodation, while taking into consideration the character and amenity of existing 
housing areas where single family occupancy is the norm.  

6.4 Policy H5 (i) provides that buildings shall be in an appropriate area for conversion to flats, 
maisonettes, bedsitters and multiple occupancy.  It also notes that unless there are special 
or overriding circumstances, conversions will not normally be permitted in an area 
comprised for the most part of single-family dwellings. 

6.5 Policy H5 (ii) requires that the building shall be of such a size and arrangement as to be 
generally unsuitable for single-family occupation.  A larger house under this policy is 
considered to be in excess of two storeys in height and have more than 6 habitable rooms.

6.6 The emerging policy on residential intensification (DM29), while in its early stages, is based 
on up to date evidence of housing need and as such is a relevant indication in this case.  
This seeks to safeguard the loss of family sized housing.  Family sized housing is defined 
as a dwelling with up to 4 bedrooms or a maximum gross internal floor area of 118m².  

6.7 The application building is located in close proximity to the town centre, in an area where 

Page 113



most properties have already been converted into flats and maisonettes.  Parrock Street 
itself is a very busy, arterial route into the town centre which carries large volumes of traffic.  
While the existing dwellings along this stretch of road are set back from the highway, this is 
not a particularly attractive or suitable environment for family accommodation.  As such, 
with such a high level of flatted development, this is considered to be an appropriate area 
for conversion, which is in an accessible and sustainable location.  The size and internal 
arrangement of the building would qualify as being an appropriate size for conversion given 
it is in excess of two storeys in height and more than 6 habitable rooms.  It is also exceeds 
the definition of family sized housing” set out in the emerging policy DM29.  As such it is 
considered that the building would lend itself to conversion into smaller units in line with 
saved policy H5, and policy CS14 (Housing Type and Size).

6.8 While this proposal will result in the loss of a single family dwelling, the building will still 
remain in a Class C use, which includes all forms of residential use such as hotels, 
residential institutions dwellings and houses in multiple occupation.  It is relevant that the 
building could change to a house in multiple occupation for not more than 6 residents 
without requiring planning permission.  This proposal is making provision for two additional 
residents above this and will add to variety of housing type available to residents in the 
Borough. 

Residential amenity 

6.9 Having established that the site is located in an appropriate area for conversion, the key is 
ensuring a satisfactory living environment can be achieved for future occupants.  Core 
Strategy policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) seeks to ensure that the design 
and layout of new development accords with the adopted Residential Layout Guidelines.  It 
also seeks to ensure that new development is fit for purpose and located, designed and 
constructed to safeguard the residential amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of 
existing and future occupants.  

6.10 The amenity of future occupants are also safeguarded in Policy H5 (iv) which requires that 
proposals for the conversion of existing dwellings to have regard to the adopted Council’s 
Residential Layout Guidelines.  

Internal living space
6.11 In relation to the internal living space, the Residential Layout Guidelines have been 

replaced by the nationally described space standards, which set out minimum internal 
areas for new dwellings based on the level of occupancy, bedroom size and number of 
storeys.  These relate more readily to flat conversions rather than HMO’s.  The Council has 
its own adopted guidance on HMO amenity standards, which include minimum room sizes.  
For a one person unit there should be a minimum floorspace of 6.5m² and a two person 
unit should have a minimum floorspace of 10m².  The kitchen/diner should be a minimum 
of 27m².

6.12 The proposed conversion will provide 8 rooms of the following sizes (excluding 
ensuite/bathrooms), plus a kitchen/diner 

Bedroom 1 – 17.9 m²
Bedroom 2 – 10 m²
Bedroom 3 – 10.5 m²
Bedroom 4 – 10 m²
Bedroom 5 – 11.5 m²
Bedroom 6 – 13 m²
Bedroom 7 – 11 m2
Bedroom 8 – 12.5

Page 114



6.13 All the bedrooms are single occupancy and the applicant has provided floor layouts to 
demonstrate that each room could accommodate storage space (wardrobe/chest of 
drawers) and a desk.  All internal bedrooms would meet the requirements of the Council’s 
adopted HMO amenity standards, the national space standards and those set out in 
Residential Layout Guidelines for a single bedroom.  The kitchen/diner would meet the 
minimum floorspace standard set out in the Residential Layout Guidelines but falls 
marginally below the minimum requirement in the Council’s adopted HMO amenity 
standards but there is some flexibility in respect of shared living space and this would not 
be an issue in terms of a licence, which is likely to be approved in this case. 

External amenity space
6.14 In terms of external space, the existing garden has an area of 84 m², measuring between 

11m and 20m in depth.  There will be no changes to the garden area.  Part of it will be 
used for car parking, waste storage and cycle storage.  The remaining area will provide a 
shared amenity space for the future occupants.  

Neighbouring amenity
6.15 The neighbouring properties are both converted into flats.  There are no changes proposed 

to the exterior of the building in terms of extensions or alterations, such as new window 
openings, that would impact on the neighbouring occupants in terms of overshadowing or 
overlooking and loss of privacy.  

6.16 The rear garden will be used to park two vehicles.  This area is currently used for vehicular 
parking and this proposal will not increase the vehicular activity within this area, and 
therefore there will be no material increase in noise/disturbance to neighbouring occupants.

6.17 Overall it is considered that the proposed conversion will provide a satisfactory standard of 
accommodation in line with national and local space standards and will not adversely 
impact on the amenities of future occupiers or the occupants of neighbouring properties.  
The proposal therefore meets the objectives, and the standards set out in the national 
prescribed space standards, the Residential Layout Guidelines and the Guidance on HMO 
amenity standards. .

Parking 

6.18 Core Strategy policy CS11(Transport) and saved policy P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
First Review requires new development to provide sufficient parking in accordance with the 
adopted parking standards taking account of the availability of alternative means of 
transport and accessibility to services and facilities.  

6.19 HMO accommodation is generally low cost and attracts young people, people working in 
an area temporarily, or older people with no alternative form of accommodation.  As a 
result many tenants of HMO rooms are not in a position to own cars.  Given the 
accessibility of this site to public transport and town centre services and facilities, there are 
alternative means for occupants to access employment and other services without the 
need for a car.  Adopted policy encourages the use of alternative means to the private car 
and offers flexibility in the application of the parking standards in accessible locations such 
as this.  It should also be noted that the parking standards are a maximum rather than 
minimum standard.  

6.20 On this basis, the Highway Officer considers that the provision of two off street parking 
spaces is adequate to serve this development but requires the provision of secure, 
weatherproof cycle storage for each unit.  The applicant has agreed to provide this within 
the rear garden area and the appearance and location of the storage area can be secured 

Page 115



via an appropriately worded condition. 

6.21 As such, given the sustainability of the site’s location it is considered that the proposed 
parking and cycle arrangements would accord with the objectives of policy CS11 
(Transport) subject to an appropriate condition to secure the delivery of secure cycle 
storage 

Impact on the character and appearance of the Windmill Hill conservation area.

6.22 As the site lies within a conservation area, Section 16 of the NPPF is also relevant. This 
sets out requirements relating to conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
Paragraph 192 is of particular relevance and states that in determining applications, local 
planning authorities should take account of:

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness.

6.23 Policy CS20 of the Council’s Core Strategy and saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan First Review 1994 are also relevant. Policy CS20 of the Core Strategy places a high 
priority on the preservation, protection and enhancement of the Council’s heritage and 
historic environment. Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994 requires 
that development within or affecting conservation areas will be carefully judged for its 
impact and will be expected to make a positive contribution to the conservation area.

6.24 The Conservation Area Appraisal highlights the key characteristics of this part of the 
conservation area as:

 Urban character;
 Cohesive qualities of two or three storey buildings, dating from the 19th century;
 Two important listed buildings: no. 29 and nos. 30-31 Clarence Place;
 Buildings predominantly arranged as pairs of villas or short terraces, and set 

back from the pavement behind front gardens;
 Shallow pitched slate roofs on many of the houses;
 Roofs have similar ridge and eaves height, but there is variety in form, with some 

hipped, gabled and mansard roofs;
 Decorative ironwork on balconies and area railings.

6.25 Negative features/issues are:
 Some unsympathetic modern infill at no. 36 Clarence Place, with garages and a 

forecourt of hardstanding;
 Loss of boundary walls and front garden areas to create off-road vehicle parking 

areas;
 Vacant building at no. 16 Clarence Place;
 Some poorly maintained buildings on Parrock Street;

6.26 The existing building is poorly maintained and has lost much of its character through the 
loss of traditional windows and front door, removal of front boundary wall, railings and 
piers, loss of railings to the front door, and use of the rear garden as a parking area.  This 
has had an impact on the character and appearance of the conservation area. 

Page 116



6.27 No major alterations are proposed to external appearance of the main building facades 
with the exception of the insertion of vents and outlets which will be restricted to the rear 
façade.  This proposal however offers the opportunity to address the poor internal state of 
the building and reinstate the front boundary wall, piers and railings which are a key 
characteristic feature of the conservation area and therefore is a positive enhancement.  It 
is unfortunate that the reinstatement of timber sash windows cannot also be secured as the 
current windows are inappropriate and out of keeping with the character and appearance of 
the building. The applicant has however agreed to retain and refurbish the existing sash 
windows at the third floor level and insert a more appropriately designed timber front door.  
A condition is proposed to ensure that the detailing of these works is appropriate.

6.28 The rear garden is currently used for parking vehicles and while this proposal will not alter 
the predominant use of this area, it does provide the opportunity to ensure that this area is 
appropriately treated, incorporating the retention of the existing two trees, and 
appropriately designed cycle and waste storage facilities.  

6.29 Overall, in view of the refurbishment works to the interior of the building, the reinstatement 
works proposed to the site frontage and the improvements to the appearance of the rear 
garden, it is considered that the proposal will make a positive contribution to the character 
and appearance of the area and therefore will accord with the objectives of Core Strategy 
policy CS20 (Heritage and the Historic Environment) 

Other Material Planning Considerations 

Waste Management 

6.30 Waste management appears to be an issue along this stretch of Parrock Street with many 
flatted properties opting to store waste in bins either within the site frontage (as there is no 
rear to front access)or, where there is insufficient space, on the public highway.  The 
remaining flats still use black sacks which are also stored in the site frontage.  Where 
sacks are left outside for long periods they are vulnerable and split open, resulting in waste 
spreading out into the highway.  

6.31 This council’s policy in respect of waste management, as set out on the website, is to 
consider whether a property is suitable for a wheelie bin.  If bins cannot be stored within 
the property, then occupants should continue to use black sacks.  Flatted properties should 
continue to use the black sacks.

6.32 Most of the properties along Parrock Street were converted prior to the use of wheelie bins 
and as such provision for bin storage at the front of the property was not a consideration.  
However many converted properties, despite the advice on the website, appear to have 
moved away from black sacks and adopted wheelie bins, even though there is insufficient 
space within the property boundary to store them.  

6.33 The provision of suitable arrangements for waste storage is a condition of issuing an HMO 
licence.  In recognition of this and the potential for waste to be an issue if located at the 
front of the property, with the agreement of the Waste and Recycling Manager, waste will 
be stored in a bin store within the rear garden and collected from the rear of the property in 
Home Mead Close each week, thus reducing the need to store any waste within the front 
garden.

Ecology and Biodiversity - Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Site and Special Protection Area

6.34 The application site is located in the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Buffer Zone. 
The Ramsar site is of international biodiversity importance, particularly for birds. Recent 

Page 117



evidence suggests that there has been a decline in bird populations in the internationally 
significant Special Protection Areas (SPA) and Ramsar sites that make up the North Kent 
Marshes. There is currently insufficient evidence to adequately assess the cause of this 
decline although interim findings indicate that recreational activity causes disturbance to 
birds and that more development will lead to an increase in disturbance. In the meantime, a 
precautionary approach to development will be applied. It will be imperative that developers 
address and mitigate any detrimental impacts on biodiversity.

6.35 In this instance, the proposed development would result in the creation of 3 additional 
bedrooms and as such, additional recreational activity would result. Therefore, it is 
considered that there would be an adverse impact to the Thames Estuary and Marshes 
Ramsar Site and Special Protection Area, which should be mitigated in line with 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS12.  In such cases the Borough Council 
has adopted a tariff that is payable for each additional bedroom created within an HMO 
within 6km of the SPA/Ramsar site.  In this case 3 additional bedrooms are being created

6.36 The applicant has submitted a signed SAMMS Agreement form and payment towards the 
provision of appropriate mitigation measures to stem further declines in the bird population 
within this area.  As such the proposal accords with Core Strategy policy CS12 (Green 
Infrastructure) which affords internationally important areas such as Ramsar sites and 
SPA’s the highest protection and addresses the comments raised by Natural England.

7 Conclusion

7.1 In summary there is no objection to the conversion of this property into a HMO.  Most of the 
properties in this area have already been converted to flats indicating that such 
development is appropriate within this area and the building is of such a size and 
arrangement that it would lend itself to subdivision into smaller units. 

7.2 The proposed accommodation itself accords with the nationally described space standards, 
the Residential Layout Guidelines and the Council’s Guidance on HMO Amenity Standards 
and as such would provide appropriate standard of living accommodation for future 
occupiers 

7.3 Given the nature of the accommodation proposed, it is unlikely that many tenants would 
own a car.  The site is well related to public transport and services and facilities, as such 
some flexibility in the level of onsite parking provision is considered acceptable and within 
the scope of the adopted policy. 

7.4 The proposal will not harm the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
offers a positive benefit by reinstating the front boundary wall, piers and railings, which are 
key characteristic features of this part of the conservation area.

7.5 Mitigation measures, in the form of a signed SAMMS Agreement form and financial 
contribution have been provided to address any potential adverse impacts on the Thames 
Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Site and Special Protection Area through additional 
recreational activity.   

Page 118



______________________________________________________________________________

Recommendation

The recommendation is to grant Planning Permission subject to the following conditions and 
reasons

Time Limit

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans and documents:

 Application Form (7 May 2019)
 Site Location Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/75 - Existing Block Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/76 – Existing Site Layout Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/77 – Existing Plans (Floor Plans) (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/78 Rev A - Revised Existing Elevations (10 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/100 – Proposed Block Plan (7 May 2019)
 Drawing No: 394/101 Rev B - Revised Proposed Site Layout Plan (9 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 0394/102 Rev B - Revised Proposed Plans (9 July 2019)
 Drawing No: 0394/103 Rev C – Revised Proposed Elevations (10 July 2019)
 Emails from the agent dated 8 July and 11 July 2019
 Design and Access Statement (7 May 2019)

and pursuant to any conditions contained herein after and there shall be no deviation 
therefrom, save with the prior consent of the Local Planning Authority having first been 
obtained.

Reason: For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

Prior to first use of the building  

3 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority of a secure, weather proof cycle store and its 
location within the rear garden, which provides sufficient space for 8 bicycles to be parked. 
The approved cycle store shall be implemented in full prior to the first use of the building as 
a house in multiple occupation and the structure shall thereafter be maintained and kept 
available for the parking of bicycles while the building remains in use as a house in multiple 
occupation. 

Reason: To provide for alternative modes of sustainable transport in line Core Strategy 
policy CS11 (Transport) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and the 
adopted Vehicle Parking Standards (SPG4). 

Page 119



4 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, details shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority of the location and appearance of the refuse and 
recycling storage area to serve the development and the waste management 
arrangements associated with the proposed use.  The submitted details shall ensure 
adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste.  The 
approved bin store and waste management arrangements shall be implemented in full prior 
to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and shall thereafter be 
maintained while the building remains in use as a house in multiple occupation.

Reason: In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area, to 
preserve the residential and visual amenities of the locality in accordance with policy CS19 
(Development and Design Principles) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014)

5 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, a scheme of hard and soft landscaping shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall 
include full plans and specifications for all hard and soft landscaping works within the site 
frontage and rear garden, including any new walls or fences and the means of 
safeguarding the trees within the rear garden during any resurfacing works. 

The approved scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the first use of the building as a 
house in multiple occupation.

Reason: To protect the visual amenity and character of the area and ensure an 
satisfactory environment for future occupants in accordance with policy CS19 
(Development and Design Principles) and CS20 (Heritage and the Historic Environment) of 
the Gravesham local Plan Core Strategy, 2014

6 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, the two parking spaces shall be laid out in 
accordance with the details approved pursuant to condition 5 and thereafter kept available 
for vehicular parking in connection with the use of the building as a house in multiple 
occupation,

Reason: To ensure an adequate and satisfactory level of parking provision, in accordance 
with policy CS11 (Transport) of the Gravesham local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved 
policy P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). 

7 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation, a scheme for the 
rebuilding of the front boundary wall including railings and piers, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include drawings to 
a scale of 1:20 and 1:5 of the proposed wall, railings and piers. The development shall be 
carried out in full in accordance with the approved details prior to the first use of the 
building as a house in multiple occupation. 

Reason: In order to ensure special regard is paid to protecting the character and 
appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area pursuant to Policy CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved policy TC3 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review 1994.

8 Prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation, full joinery details in 
the form of half or full size cross sectional drawings of the replacement third floor front box 
framed vertical sliding sash windows and new four panelled front door (which shall be of 

Page 120



timber construction only), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority The works shall be carried out in full in accordance with the approved 
details prior to the first use of the building as a house in multiple occupation.

Reason: No such details have been submitted and in order to ensure special regard is 
paid to protecting the character and appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area 
pursuant to Policy CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved 
policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994).

Other 

9 No post boxes, meter boxes, vents or flues or other service outlets or piping shall be 
attached to or inserted into the front elevation of the building at any time.

Reason:  In order to ensure special regard is paid to protecting the character and 
appearance of the Windmill Hill Conservation Area pursuant to Policy CS20 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014) and saved policy TC3 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan First Review (1994).

INFORMATIVES 

1 Statement of Positive and Proactive Approach to Decision-Making

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and 
creative way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to 
secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and 
environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development 
Plan for the area.

2 Deviation from the approved plans 

It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as 
a ‘material’ change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any 
change is proposed, applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning 
Authority [as proceeding without the necessary permissions could nullify this 
permission].

3 Works of Construction

Hours of work of construction site plant, equipment and machinery, should be restricted 
to not earlier than 7.00 a.m. and not later than 6.00 p.m. weekdays and Saturday 
working should be restricted to not earlier than 8.00a.m. and not later than 1.00 p.m.  
No work shall be carried out on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 

i.  Suitable sound attenuation shall be used at all times in respect of all plant, 
machinery and equipment in operation on site in order to aid prevention of noise 
nuisance.  Compliance with BS 5228: Part 1: 1984 and subsequent amendments 
regarding the use of equipment on site will be required in appropriate cases.

ii.  A suitable method of control shall be used in order to aid prevention of dust 
nuisance arising from work activities on site.

Page 121



iii.  Burning of waste materials shall not be carried out on site.  Such materials are to be 
stored in a suitable receptacle, as far from residential accommodation as reasonably 
practicable, pending disposal off site.

iv.  Adequate arrangements shall be made to remove all waste material from the site on 
a regular basis and to dispose of it at a suitably licensed waste disposal site.

4 Building Regulations and Party Wall Act 

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any 
private rights which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, 
including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

Page 122



20190451
74 Parock Street, Gravesend, DA12 1HF

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationary Office
© Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Gravesham Borough Council Licence No.1000191666

0 20 4010 Meters
¯

Planning and Regeneration Services
www.gravesham.gov.uk    Tel. 01474 56 44 22 1:1,250

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20190503 - Amenity Space, St Patrick's Gardens, Gravesend DA12 4AN - report herewith
	20190503 - Appendix 1
	20190503 - Site Plan

	5b 20190252 - Land behind Tesco Express, Whitehill Parade, Whitehill Lane, Gravesend DA12 5LS - report herewith
	20190252 - Appendix 1 - Whitehill Open Space - car park
	20190252 - Site Plan - Land Behind Tesco Express White Hill Lane

	5c 20190451 - 74 Parrock Street, Gravesend DA12 1HF - report herewith
	20190451 - Site Plan 74 Parrock Street


